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IMPEACHMENT INQUIRY
TItURSDAY, JULY 11, 1974
House OF

C0~r3~TIWE~ ON THE JUDIC~±RY,
Washington, D.~.
The committee m~, pu~uant ~ notice, at 9:45 ~m., ~ r~m 2141
Raybu~ Hou~ O~ee Buildi~, Hen. P~r W. R~ino, Jr. (chairman) pr~iding.
PreenS: Representativ~ R~ino (pr~iding), ~nohue, Br~,
Ka~enmeier, Edwards, H~ga~, Conye~, Eilberg, Waldie, Flowe~,
~a~, SaP~nes, ~Sei~rli~, ~nivlson, D~nan, Ran~], J~an,
Tho~ton, Hol~man, Owens, Mez~ns~, Hu~h~son, M~lo~, S~th~
Sandm~ Rai]sback, Wig, s, Dennis, ~sh, Mayne. Hogan, Butlor,
(~ohen, ~tt, Froehlich, M~rh~d, Maraziti and ~t~.
Im~hmen~ Inqui~ ~aff p~s~nt: Jo~ D~r, sp~ia] ~1;
A]’bert E. Joker, Jr., ~no~ty counsel ; Samuel Ga~son III, deputy
mino~ty ~unsel; and Evan Davis, counsel; Richard Gill, co--el;
Ga~ Sut~n, co~l; Be~ard Nussbaum~ counsel.
Commit~ s~ff print: Jerome ’M. ~i~an, ~neral counsel;
Garner J..Cline, a~ia~ ~neml counsel~ Alan A. Parker, co~l;
Daniel L. Cohen, coun~l; William P. Dixon, ~unse]; Arden B.
~chell, ~un~l; Franklin .G. Polk, ass~iate ~1; Thom~ E.
H~ney, associa~ co,sol; Michael W. Blommer, a~ocia~ co,sol,
Also present: James D. St~ Clair, s~cial co~l to the Pr~iden~;
John A. Me,hill, a~is~n~ special ~un~l; and Mal~]m J. Howard,
~sismnt sp~ia] co~l.
~e ~A~. ~O pho~aphe~ will plea~ cl~r th~ r~m.
Will the Clerk ple~ ask the witn~ to come in~ the r~m.
Mr. ~n, will you pl~ stand.
Mr. D~n, you h~ve the ~ght ~ ~main silent and not to provide
~.ny t~timony or info~ation which may ~nd ~ inc~m~ate you.
I~ut, if you ~o ~ti~, an~hing you ~y here may be u~d ~in~ you
~n any other le~ pr~ee~g. ~ou have the ~ght, however, ~
with an at~mey prior ~ anwer~g any question or question, as
,’oun~l may ~mpany you for the purp~ of advising you of your
~’on~itution.al ~ghts.
You have b~n prodded, I unde~tand, with a ~py of the ~1~
~:he Ho~ ~d the roles of the co~tt~.
Mr. S~. We have.
~r. ~. Corr,.
The C~A~. Would you kindly ~and and rai~ your right h~d.
Do you solemnly sw~r that the testimony you am a~ut to
before this commit~ will be the t~th, the w~ole t~h and not~g
but the t~th, ~ help you G~ ~
Mr. D~. I do, ~ help me God.
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Mr. DEA~. That would be in 1971.
Mr. DEAR. The re-election committee was established in late 19711
Mr. DF~N. That’s my r~collection; yes.
Mr. Do~m. I see. So, you began to devote some part of your
and attention to campaign activities, thinking about them,
part of 19717
Mr. DF~r. That is correct. My office did work with regard to
new electiou l~w that was then in the Congress, how it affected
Presidential campaign. We were concerned in following ~hat, a~
had numerous conversations with the people over at the ] ~e-Elec _
Committee as they were going over on problems they were confronte ~d
with in the election law area.
Mr. DEAR. Did you continue to devote some of your time to
problems of the election campaign problems up to and through
of 1972 .~
Mr. DEA~. Yes; I did.
Mr. Do~m. Prior to -Mr. D~s..And I would say after that dute also.
Mr. Do~R. Prior to June of 1972, did you know Gordon Liddyf
Mr. DF~A~. Would you repeat the question, please?
Mr. Do~m. Did you know Gordon Liddy ?
Mr. D~A~. Yes; I did.
Mr. Do~m When~. Prior to June of 19727
Mr. D~AN. Yes; I did.
Mr. DOAa. When did you first come to know him ?
Mr. DEAlV. The circumstances under which I fi~t came to
Mr. IAddy was when Mr. Magruder was seeking somebody to
over to the Re-Election Commltte e to serve as .general counsel,
function of the general counsel’s office was gmng to be_to d~l
the problem of demonstrations ,and the type of political inteili
we lust discussed. I ,had been asked that, by Mr. Magruder, that
man who worked for me, Mr. Fielding, be assigned to come
I told Mr. MagTuder that that was not possible, and he
me to help him find somebody else because they were
need of somebody, time was pressing on. I then went to--I was
ing about Mr. David Young~ who I had come to know about in
bet of 1971, and we had a trip together, and I had talked to
and he seemed like a bright, capable guy, and was a good
and would be able to go over and do it.
I talked to Mr. Krogh about Mr. Young’s go.ing over, and he
that that wasn’t feasible~ that Mr. Young was involved in a
fication study that was being conducted, and suggested that Mr.
who had pretty well wound up his function, but was still on
Kro~h’s stuff, mi.~ht be the man that could be of assistance. And
would approaeh Mr. Lidd.v about it. life did.
I had a meeting with Mr. Lidd.v and with Mr. Kro~h. and
Liddy was interested, and we then went on to discuss it
he went on to discuss it with Mr. Ehflichman, and then when
was aol~roved I took Mr. Liddy over to meet--in
meet Mr. Mitchell.
Mr. Mitchell thou.~.ht it was a ,~ood idea. but thought tha~ he ou
to meet Mr. Magruder, and then in December I took Mr. Liddy

to meet Mr. Magruder, and Mr/Magruder. was anxious to have him,
so he was hired very shortly thereafter.
Mr. Doxa. At that time did you know anything about the work
that Mr. Liddy had performed as ~ member of the plumbers operation,
at the time in November and December of 1971.
Mr. DsAN. I knew he had been in the plumbers operation. I didn’t
know what he had done for the plumbers operation, and. didn’t know
what the plumbers operation had done other than in the broadest
terms they Were working in the leaks area, and they were working on a
decl assification project.
Mr. DoAP.. Prior to June of 1972 did you know a man named. E.
Howard Hunt ~
Mr. D~.A~. I think I-had met Mr. Hunt on one occasion in Mr.
Colson’s office. I had seen him there. He used to sit on the sofa outside
Mr. Colsou’s reception area, and finally one time I asked Mr. Colson
who he was. And he said, well,.he is a man who we have brought on
as a consultant. He is a former CIA agent, and I had just a casual
introduction, and that was the only time I ever recall meeting Mr.
Hunt.
Mr. DoAm Can you fix the time of that meeting
Mr. D~. No; I can’t put a specific date on that now.
Mr. DoAm Now, do you recall learning about the Watergate break-in
following its occurrence on June 17, 1972
Mr. DF~. Yes; I do.
l~Ir. DoAm When did you first learn about it
Mr. DF~AN. I ]earned about it when I had returned from a trip to
the Far East. I landed in San Francisco. I was planning--I was
tired from a rather lengthy flight. I had flown directly from Manila
through Tokyo, and on in.to San Francisco, and I guess I had been on
a plane 20 hours or so, and I was tired.
I called my office to check in.
Mr. Do~a~. Oan you fix the date of that time
Mr. D~,s. Yes; I arrived in San Francisco on *he 18th. There were
mveral datelines crossed there and.I have had to think about a minute
as to which day I left.
Mr. DoA~. How long a trip had this been
l~fr. D~. It had ~een a brief trio. I had been gone about 7 days.
And when I arrived in San Francisc~ I called Mr. Fielding *o tell him
I was going to spend a couple of days in San Francisco before returning to the office so he shouldn’t anticipate my return. He told me that
he thought I should return. He wasn’t terribly explicit, and I asked
him--I was trying .to persuade him that I saw no reason why I
should return.
And he told me that well, John, there are some things that I will
tell you when you get back, but you should get back here.
Well~ knowing Mr. Fielding, and the fact that I trusted his judgment, whatever it was, I thought I ought to get back, so I got on the
next plane I could find east, and flew back in, and arrived late that
night on the east c~ast here in Washington.
Mr. DoAm Late that night would be .Sunday the 18th ~.
Mr. DEAX¢. That is correct.
Mr. DOA~. ~ow, did you receive an assignment from one of your
superiors in the WMte House with respect to the Watergate break-in
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Mr. I)~. Yes; I did. ’
Mr. Do~,m Who gave you that assignment
Mr. DEAN. Well, it was on Monday morning, the 19th, when I
to Mr. Ehrlichman. And he called me to tell me what had occurred:
And.Mr. DOAm What did he say
Mr. DF~A~. I was able to tell him at that time that I had talked to:
Mr. Caulfield and Mr. Magruder, and he told me that he was most’
interested in finding out if Mr. Colson had any involvement in thig
thing, and asked me to call Mr. Colson and see if I could determine if~
he did.
Mr. DOAm Would you identify for the committee Mr. Caulfield and
your relationship with him while you worked at the White House
Mr. DF~. Mr. Caulfield was assigned to my staff shortly after
came over in July of 1970. He did not exactly fit into the type of work
the counsel’s office was doing. His office really wasn’t in our suite, of
offices. He was initially way down the hall and around the corner from
us, and he began telling me some of the things he was doing for Mr.,
Ehrlichman in connection with investigations of various individual~,
and ~he fact ~hat he h~l h~l ~ man, who he only described .to me by the
name of Tony, who worked for him. And I r~lly didn’t at that time
know in any great detail exactly what Mr. Caulfield did other than the
fact that he was supposed to be on my payroll.
Mr. B~rrL~R. Excuse me, Counsel. Did he place the date when talking
about Mr. Caulfield~.
Mr. DEA~. July of 1970 or shortly thereafter he was assigned to my
staff.
Mr. DoAm I am not sure, did that answer your question, Congress,
man Butler ?
Mr. B~rrL~m Yes.
Mr. DoAm Did Mr. Ehrlichman give you any further assignment
with respect to the Watergate break-in
Mr. I)F~N. Yes; based on what I told him about my conversations
with Mr. Liddy, he suggested I speak with Mr: Liddy.
Mr. DEAR. You had u conversation with Mr. Liddy
Mr. DF~. Yes; I did.
Mr. DEAR. When did you have ~hat conversation
Mr. D~A~. On June 17~ or, excuse me, on June 19.
Mr. DoA~. What was that conversation
l~r. ]D~AN. Well, I aslmd him ~o come over ~o my office, ~nd
the time he arrived I was on my way around the corner to the
and I said, well, Gordon, why don’t we just take a walk, which we
And we went out, and out of the building, and walked down
Corcoran Gallery, and ~t that time I asked him what had
and how it had happened, and he gave me, as I testified "
before the Senate, what had occurred.
Mr. DoA~. And did you report that to Mr, Ehrlichman
Mr. DEAN. Yes; I did.
Mr. DoA~. And what .assignment following that report, what assign.
ment did Mr. Ehrlichman give to you
Mr. D~AN. Well, the next thing I recall by way of assignment
that he wanted me to ,be in his office later that afternoon when
Colson came over.

Mr. Dora. I don’t want to l~urport to go through your entire Senate
Watergate testimony. I am trying to inquire with respect to if either
directly or implicitl~y there evolved over within a few days after the
Watergate a genera~assignment that you were given with respect to
the Watergate break-in ?
Mr. DF~N. Not to my recollection; no. It was just very ad hoc,
something would come up and he would ask me to do something
Mr. DoAa. And did this continue for a period of time ?
-"
Mr. DF~. I would say it contin.ued virtually during the whole
time.
Mr. DoAa. And when you say the whole time---]Ylr. D~A~. From June 19 until April 30, 1973.
Mr. Dona. And did you then receive your directions from Mr. Ehrlichman with respect to the specific assignments you were to carry
out with respect to the matters relating to the Watergate ?
Mr. D_F~. ~. In some instances; yes. In some instances I reported
back to him things I was discovering, or being agked to do by Mr,
Mitchell, some things that were my own ideas as-to how to dealwith
problems, and that was the way the relationship evolved.
Mr. Do~_~. Did you have any conversation with M~. Haldeman with
respect to the work that you were doing in connection with the Watergate~
Mr. D~.~. Yes, I did.
l~r. Do~. Were those conversations~were you reporting to Mr.
Haldeman frequently, or irregularly.~
Mr. DF~A~. At first ~t was frequently, then it became irregular.
Mr. DoAm For how long was it at first ? Was that a matter of days
or weeks?
Mr. D~. The first couple of weeks.
Mr. DoA~. And you mentioned Mr. Mitchell. What was your relationship with Mr. Mitchell during this period ?
Mr. DF~AN. Well, I met with Mr. Mitc[mll, as I recall the first time
was on the night or evening of the 19th, and possibly again on the
20th at Mr. Mitchell s apartment. And there Mr. !Yl~tchell wanted an
update, and then we began to discuss various aspects of it~ and he
would request that I report certain situations and problems, as I testified to, to Mr. Ehrlichman and Mr. Haldeman.
Mr. Do~. Now, when you made your reports to Mr. Ehrlicb_man,
did you make them orally or in writing ~
M~. D~.A~. Orally.:
Mr. Do~m Now when you made your reports
Mr, DEA~. Well, with one exception. Very earlS on I did draft a
memo. It was on a very minute matter of the sigmng of a letter that
had been sent into the White House by Mr. Larry O’Brien, and I
needed, of course, Mr. Ehrlichman and Mr. Haldemai~’s approval, so
I sent the memo to both of them, but I decided about ~h~t time that
would not bethe sort of thing to reduce to memoranda.
Mr. DOA~. And when Mr. Ehrlichman would give you specific instructions, were those in writing or orally ~.
Mr. D~A~. They were orally.
Mr. DOA~. And what was the practice with respect to instruction received from Mr. Haldeman or repor[s by you to Mr. Haldeman ?
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Mr. DEAN. I would say with rare exception they were all oral.
Mr. DOAm Did you ever~ prior to September 15, 1972, report to the
President directly about the things that you were doing with respect
to the Watergate matter ?
Mr. D~AN. NO ; I did not.
Mr. DoAm Did you ever receive an assignment to conduct an investigation for President l~ixon with respect to the Watergate break:
in, prior to September 15th ~.
Mr. D~AN. No, I did not.
Mr. DOA~. Did you receive an assignment to conduct an investiga:
tion from any of your--either of your superiors, Mr. Haldeman or Mr.
Ehrlichman, prior to September 15,1972
Mr. D~.A~. Only to the limited extent that they would ask me~ for ex,
ample, what did Mr. Colson know about this. They would ask me
questions, what did Mr. -- what was Mr. Magruder’s liability, what
did I think about Mr. Magruder’s staying at the re-electiton c-ommittee, what did I think about Mr. Mitchell staying at the re-election
committee. Those were not investigations as such, but what information I had bean able to pick up in my dealings with them. ¯
Mr. DOA~. Well, did you conduct any independent investigation following the Watergate break-in .~
Mr. D~A~. On]y--excuse me.
[Short pause.]
Mr. DF~W. To answer the question, the only investigation I recall
very clearly being instructed to conduct was that with regard to Mr.
Segretti, and the relationship of Mr. Strachan and Mr. Chapin to
Mr. Segretti, and that was in November of 1972. The types of instructions. . gIot while. I was goin. g hither and
yon were not to obtain invee~
t~gatlve type of lnformat~on, but to know how to deal with a situation.
Mr. DoAP. Did you have any instructions to seek to obtain investigative information that had been obtained or secured by others such
as the FBI ?
Mr. DE~. Yes, I did.
Mr. I)oA~. Could you tell the committee about that
Mr. D~A~. Well, there was a continuing interest by all involved as
to how far and what the FBI investigation was doing.
Mr. DOA~. Now, you said all involved. Could you be more soecific
Mr. Ds~N. Yes, sir. Mr. Mitchell and Mr. Mardian~ Mr. ttaldeman~
Mr. Ehrlichman, and there the request for the FBI information came
principally from Mr. Mitchell and Mr. Mardian as to what was the
scope and nature of their investigation. I discussed that with Mr.
Ehrlichman, and he agreed it was a good idea if I could get the investigative material~ I should get i~
When I first talked to the Attorney General about it, he didn’t thir~
it was a good idea. There was an idea that they would summarize it,
and they could send a letter containing that summary., which was
done. The letter was not considered satisfactory after Mr. ttaldeman
and Mr. Ehrlichman and Mr. Mitchell and Mr. Mardian read it, and
they were more interested in the raw data.
And that’s when I went back and asked Mr. Gray for the raw data.
Mr. DOA~. And did you receive raw data from Mr. Gray?
Mr. DF~N. Yes. Not complete, but I .did receive some.

liar. DoAa. The raw data, what do you mean, interviews$
Mr. DEAlt. Interviews, and interoffice information, 802’s as well as
instructions to the different regional offices re~arding the investigation.
~r. DoA~. Did you receive this on a regular or periodic basis following the break-in ?
Mr. I)F~. It was on a very periodic basis. .
Mr. DoAm I have asked you about Mr. Liddy and Mr. Hunt, and I
would like to know when, if you learned of more details about Mr.
Liddy and Mr. Hunt’s prior activities while working at the White
House.~
Mr. Dra~. Well, it was principally Mr. Liddv’s orior activities
that I first learned about, anc~ that i would say was’after Mr. Caulfie!d
had left my staff. He was at the Re~lection Committee, and he told
me of Mr. Liddy’s involvement in the break-in and Dr. Ellsberg’s
psychiatrist’s office.
Mr. Doom. And about when was that ~
Mr. Dr~. I would say April or May of 1972.
Mr. Doaa. So that you knew prior to June 17 that Mr. Liddy had
engaged in this activity while a member of the White House staff ?
Mr. DEA~. Yes, I did.
Mr. DOAm Did you know any other details with respect to Mr.
Liddy’s activity ~
Mr. Dn~. P~ior to June .~
Mr. DOAI~. Yes.
Mr. DmA~. No, I did not..
Mr. DOA~. Did you discuss that with
Mr. DFaN. Well now, that is~I did know of some of his work in
the Treasury Department, and, you are working with improper
activities .~
Mr. DOA~. I am talking about covert, illegal activities.
Mr. D~. No. That was the one I was aware of.
Mr. DOAm Did you discuss that with Mr. Ehrlichman after June 17 ?
Mr. DF~. Yes, I did.
Mr. DOAP, When did you discuss it with him ?’
Mr. DF~. On June 19.
Mr. I)oAm And what did he say to you about it ?
Mr. D~. Well, the exchange was that we .were both aware of the
fact that this had occurred, and we recognized this as one of the problems we were going to be confronted with in any investigation.
Mr. DoAP~ Did you discuss that with Mr. Haldeman ?
Mr. D~AX. I cannot recall if Mr. Haldeman was present at that meeting. He wasn’t present on that day, I know, but I can’t recall if he was
present in a subsequent meeting when it came up or not, and I would be
speculating to say.
Mr. D.~mLSON. ]~Ir. Chairman, a point ef clarification- In response
to a question I believe Mr. Dean said that this was o~ the 19th. I assume that means June 19,1972, is that correct ~
Mr. D~A~. Yes, sir.
l~Ir. DOAm Did you, Mr. Dean, have a meeting with President Nixon
on September 15,1972 ?
Mr. DF~. Yes, I did.
Mr. DoA~. You are aware of ~he fact that there was a recording made
of that meeting?

.Mr. DEAn. I was not aware at the time.
]~Ir. HoAm ~ffo, no, not at the time, but you are aware now

.Mr. DF~. Yes.
.Mr. Doam And so it is not my purpose to question you about the meet-.
ing in any detail at all, but I would like toknow, I would like to know
if you would briefly indicate what was the amount of your contact with
President Nixon prior to September 15, 1972, personal and direct conta~t?
¯
Mr. DF~. Well, I bel;ieve we had tha~ in an earlier question, and to
repeat, I had never spoken to him about the Watergate prior to that
time. I had been in the office prior to that time, but never any discusSions on this subject m~ttar.
Mr. DoAP~ Well~ had you had other discussions with him about othei~
’
legal problems prior to that time .~
Mr. DF~. Yea
Mr. HOAR. And were these frequent or regular or irregular
Mr. DEA~. Irre_~ular.
Mr. HOAR. And~now many discussions would you say you had had
Mr. DE~. Well, I never have been able to look at the entire log
of my meetings w~th him, but th~ one that sticks in my mind is the
meeting at which he signed his testamentary docmnents.
Mr. DoAP. Well: I am seeking to have you give the committee some
indication during the time that you were at the White House, just
prior to September 15, if you could ~ve th9 committee an idea of
whether you saw the President, reported to the President, and about
how often ?
Mr. DF~A~. Well, it was extremely infrequent. The first time he called
me shortly after I had assumed the post was, I don~t recall how shortly
after, but it was not long after, and he called me and asked me a ques,
tion. He said that one of the girls, referring to one of his daughters~ was
in the office, and had asked him a question about Presidential succession, and he asked me if I could answer the question he had on it.
reached back for my copy of the Constitution which I had gotten from
this committee, and it wasn’t there, and I told him I would have to call
him back. And so I dug out a copy of the Constitution, and read it~ having worked on it while I was here, and answered his question. That
was the only other meeting that I can recall other than the meeting
when he signed his festamentary papers.
There may have been one or two other occasions. I was in the office~
but there were certainly no discussions with him. The signing of his tax
returns and things like that, I would merely take somebody in, stand
there, and then depart the office.
Mr. HoAx. Now, how was the meeting on September 15 ~rranged~
Mr. DgA~. My secretary informed me that the President wanted me
to come to the Oval Office.
Mr. Do~. Had you had any prior contact or had you received any
instructions from Mr. I-Ialdeman orior to that meeting with respect t~
assignments in connection with the Internal Revenue Service?
Mr. DE~. Prior to September 15
Mr. DOAm Yes.
Mr. DEA~. Not directly from Mr. Haldeman. I was in San C]emente.
Mr.:Higby stopped me and said, are you working with Murray Chot-

iner, and I said I don’t know what you are talking about. He said well~
you haven’t talked to Ehrlichman about it yet, and I said, no, I have
not. He said~ well, I understand that you are supposed to work with
~Iurray Chotiner. I said oh, and he sal’d yes, Mr. ~hotiner was drawing some lists, and that you were going to take care of it with the IRS.
I subsequently got ahold of Mr. Chotiner and Mr. Ehrlichman and
found out what it was about.
Mr. DoA~. And what was it about
Mr. DF~. That ’Mr. Chotiner was collecting.the names of all of the
principal contributors in the McGovern campaign~ ~nd that he would
draw a list~ selecting certain groups of names, and that I would in turn
ask Mr. Walters to have Internal Revenue Service audits conducted
on these people.
Mr. DoAm Did you meet with Mr. Walters about that
Mr. Dsa~. Yes, I did.
Mr. DoA~. And when was that meeting
Mr. DF~. In September, I would say mid-September of 197"2. The
date September 13 sticks in.my mind, but I cannot be positive of that
date.
"Mr. DoAm What was the purpose of that meeting
"Mr. HF~. I had then received the Chotiner list, and my assignment
was to ask "Mr. Walters if it was possible to have audits conducted on
all or any of these people.
Mr. DoA~. Did you discuss your assignment with respect to the IRS
with the President during your meeting on September 15
"Mr. DF~. I am not sure how directly or specifically it came up,
but there was a, indeed, a rather extended discussion with the President on the use of XRS. He made some rather specific comments to
me, which in turn resulted in me going back to Mr. Walters a_ga.in.
"Mr. DoA~. When you say the use of XRS, what are you talking
about ?
Mr. HF~. Well, as I recall the conversation, we were talking about
the problems of having IRS conduct audits, and I told him ~hat we
hadn’t been very successful at this because Mr. Walters had told me
that he just didn’t want to do it. I did not--I did not push him. As far
as I was concerned I was off the hook. I had done what I had been
asked, and I related this tothe President.
And he said something to the effect, well, if Shultz thinks he’s been
ut over there to be some sort of candy ass, he is mistaken, and if you
ave got any problems, you just come tell me, and I will get it straightened out.
Mr. DOAm Now, there has been testimony before the Committee with
respect to a $350,000 cash fund under Mr. Haldeman’s control at the
Whi~e House. Were you aware of that fund
Mr. DF~. Yes, I was.
Mr. DoAm And when were you first aware of that fund
Mr. DEAn. After June 19. I was aware of the fact there was going
to be a fund there because Mr. Strachan had come to me and asked me
if I could suggest anybody that could take out a safety deposit box.
I told him I didn’t l~ave "an.~bod.v in mind, and he said well, never
mind. And the next time I heard about it was after the 19th.
.Mr. DOAm When you say after the 19th, can you fix the time a little
more specifically ?

~
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Mr. I)F~N. 1~O, I can’t. It waS in connection with Mr. Sloan
debriefed by people at the Re-election Committee. Mr. Stans
to him, Mr. Mard]an talked to him, and there was just
edge that Mr. Sloan had distributed sometime before April 7
$350,000. Mr. Strachan also told me the same thing.
l~r. DoAm I have never understood what was meant by
What d_o you mean by that ?
Mr. DzA~. Well, I can tell you--I am-~’how I am using the
now.

Mr. DoAa. How do you use the term ~
Mr. DEA~. Well, when the Special Prosecutor--after I
me that they wanted me to be debriefed, and that was an
questioning and answering .as to all of my knowledge of various
that I had been involved in.
Mr. DO~,R. Well, when you used it with respect to Mr. Sloan,
do you talk about ?
Mr. DEAN. Well, they were asking Mr. Sloan, you know. what
knew of various aspec~ of the handling of money while he W ~s T~
urer ~t ~he Re-election Committee or at the Finance C~mmi~f~es
t~he Re~le~tion.
Mr. DoAm Specifically were they ,asking him about what he
~bout cash money ? Is that ri~h~ ?
Mr. DEAN. I believe that’s~orre~.
Mr. DOA~. Who was doing ~hat questioning, just for ~he record,
the record is clear ~
Mr. DF~N. I believe i~ was princil~lly Mr. Stans and Mr.
Mr. DOA~. Now, d~d any of that money ever come into
sion~ any of.that $350,000 ?
Mr. DSA~. Yes~ it did.
Mr. DO~R. And will you tell the committee the circumstunces
Mr. DEAN. YeS. Mr. Strachan and Mr. Dick Howard came to
office on the 19th or the 20th or 21st. I am not exactly sure which
it waS, and told me that they had $15~00, 15,2, and they were
it ~o me for safekeeping. They said i~ was part of a l.arger
~ome of which had been expended for some cmmpaign ads. I
know why ~hey brought it to me, and I ~old {hem ~hat I would
it in my safe, and marked it on an envelope and ~ld thum I would’
i~ ~n .my saf~ and be prepared to accoun~ for it, as ~hat’s
remain, and this w~s a safe in my o~ce.
.
Mr. DoAm And did you keep &hut money in your safe in
Mr. D~.AN. Yes, sir. Well, yes and no. I kept it there, but I
I ~etified before ~he Senate, ut one time in Octe~r ~ok some
out and made personal use of it.
]~[r. DOA~. A~d did you replenish tha~ money ~
¯ Mr. DF~N. Yes, I did.
Mr. I)oAm Now, with respect to the larger fund, did you
amount of ~hat ~md ~
Mr. DF~N. Yes, I did.
Mr. DOAP~ Wh, a~ was the umount ?
Mr. D~AN. Well, ~he total fund was 350 less {he 22, less the 22
had been given .to Mr. Colson.
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Mr. DEAR. So that ~he~ was $350,000 and $22,000 was withdrawn,
$6,800 was spent for advertising,-and then $15,200 came back to you
for safekesping ~
Mr. D~AN. Tl~t’s correct.
Mr. DOAm Brought ~o you by l~Ir. Stracha~ and a Mr. Howard ~
Mr. DF~N. That is correcCa
Mr. DoAP~ l~ow, su_bsequent to that time did you have any d~us.sions about ~he. u~ of_ the remaining $328,000 for the purpose of making payments ~o ~ne Water~a~e defendants ~
Mr. I)~m Yes, I did. -"
Mr. DOA~. And w~th whom did you have ~hose discussions?
Mr. DF~N. Well, when the assignment was given to Mr. Kalmba~h
to raise such~ funds, .there was an interest ’by Mr. Kalmbach in raising
money anywhere and everywhere he eoutd find it. He was very reluctant to go out to contributors and get money, and was looking for any
and all available moneys. It was decided at that time that we would
just say nothing about what was at the White House and, in fact,
would try our best not to let any of that money get involved in this
enterprise.
Mr. DoAm You knew then that there were payments being made to
the defendants .~
Mr. DF~N. Yes,
Mr. DoAP. Did you authorize those payments .~
Mr. DF~N. No, I did not.
¯ Mr. DoAm And to continue then, would you develop the further discttssion that you had with respect to the use of the $350,000 ~.
Mr. DEAN. Well, there was concern at the White House that if Mr.
Sloan were to testify that this money was at the White House, the
White House, in a rather heated political climate, would ~ accused of
having a slush fund.
Mr. DoAR. Let me interrupt you a moment. You say there was cont~rn at the White House. Concern by who ?
Mr. DzA~. Those that knew the fund was there, Mr. Ha’ldeman and
! principally were the ones that discussed this.
Mr. DOAI~. I See.
Mr. DXAN. And Mr. Mitchell expressed some opinions on this also.
Mr. DoAP~ All right. Go ahead. Please proceed.
Mr. DF~AN. I was very acutely aware of tho fact that Mr. Kalmbach
was in need of money, and we were :doing our .best not to let any of the
money we had be uSed. I was also aware of the fact that I had $15#00
ia my possession, and was very reluctant to have money I had directly
haudled, mySelf for my own self protection be used for what I kne~
was an m~proper purpose So, I had--I had talked about thin
Stans. We had a problem with a campaign violation for th~ltuhsy:~
1968, which I didn’t discuss with him, and told him that we had to
,,me way replenish the fund, and get it out of the White House. We
0dked about this on numerous occasions. Finally in November, late
November of 19~2, Mr. :Stans informed me that he, that he had funds
,.vailable, and if they were wanted we ought to get over there very.
qu.ickly and.get them. I do not recall specifically that he was saying thdt
ttlll~.,t~sh~iUlmde.be done immediately. I don’t--it’s just not in my memory
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[owever, I know that it was so fast I couldn’t find Mr. Strachan,.
: called Mr. Fielding in my office and said can you go,.over and
~ package from Mr. Stans. I told Mr. Stans th~ t
)ver. I said, to Mr. Stans, I said Mr. Fielding won’t know what he
ver there to collect, but he will just get it back to Strachan. Stans
i all right, and Fielding came back, and he was quite outra
fact that here Mr. Stans was counting out money in front of
d I just said well, Fred, don’t worry about that, that’s nothing
elves you. I said just get it to Strachan as quickly as you can.
Yell, the demands about this time were also increasing for money,
! I think that was one of the problems why Mr. Stans wanted to:the money out of his own possession.
~rithin oh, a week at the most after, just a matter of days, actually..~:
er Mr. Fielding had picked up the money, and it had been brought
~r, the demands reached to such a crescendo that something had
be done, and I received a call from Mr. Mitchell who said that we
, going to have to use some of the money you have got in the
iO,O00.
~ir. DoAm Can you fix the time of that .~
"
t~Ir. DzAx¢. Yes, that was--well, the delivery came on November 28~
i as I recall, we had discussed both before that day.--you have got
understand there are two levels of conversation going on here, one
Lt Mr. Stans is not privy to, and another one that involves Mr.
Rue and Mr. Mitchell, and my conversations with Mr. Haldeman.
i Mr. Ehrlichman.
Well, the crescendo was reached, and I was asked by Mr. Mitchell
go to Mr. Haldeman and ask can we borrow some of that money,
d we will replenish it again as soon as we get some more. So, I went
Haldeman and I said I frankly, Bob, don’t have any--I don’t like
I don’t have any better solution, but here is wha~ we are being
~edto do.
And he said, he said well, with the understanding we are going to
; it back, give them the money. So, I instructed Mr. Stra~han to
|iver to Mr. LaRue, and work out the arrangements for the delivery.
th Mr. LaRue of I believe it was either $40,000 or $70,000. I am,
t sure on this da_v which it was.
Mr. DEAR. And ~hat was early in December
Mr. DF~. That is correct.
~Ir. DEAR. You have testified that the demands for money
~reasing. ~Vhat information came to your attention about that
)m whom did it come ?
Mr. DF~. I was hearing it from the lawyers at the
~mmittee and.-l~r. DOAI~. Identify them please.
Mr. Dz~. ]Vir. O’Brien and Mr. Parkinson, and I was then
the fact from ML Colson that he had received a telephone
om Mr. Hunt on the week of November 13 of 1972. He, in
¯ l transcribed that conversation on an IBM dictabelt. He called
~wn to his office and he played the dictabelt and he said that
ts going to have it transcribed. And I said well, I am not
,u ought to transcribe that, Chuck, why don’t you just let me
Andhe was quite happy, he said, "I was going to send you

transcript" is what he said, and I said, "No, I think you should just
give me the dictabelt."
And I went down and recorded on a cassette recorder from my
dictating machine a copy of this conversation. It was quite evident
what was happening, and this just fit in with what I was being told
by the lawyers, and this was a very clear demand from Mr. Hunt
that now that the election was over he was expecting to be taken
care of.
Mr. DoA~. What, if anything, did you do with the recording you
made of that conversation ~
Mr. D~A~. Well, Mr. Haldeman and Mr. Ehrlichman were at (]amp
David at the time working on the reorganization plana My office
really hadn’t been involved in that~ which was being kept quite secret
at that time. So, I called (~amp David and I spoke to Mr. Hullin~ I
believe is the one I spoke to, and told him that I thought that I ought
to see Bob and John. He then arranged a meeting whereby I could
come and see them, and I drov~ up on the morning of the 15th of
November to Caml~ David with another member of the staff, and my
sole purpose in going to see them was to make sure that they were
aware of what was happening.
There were a couple of collateral matters dealing with Mr. Chapin
that came up at that meeting:, but we went back into the President’s
office in that lodge up there~ and T played the tape recording for them.
Mr. DoAm And what instructions did you receive following the
playing of that tape recording~
Mr. DF~. They told me I should--I told them that,~
~lYJ[r. Do~m What did you say and what did they say ?
Mr. DEA~. I said I am going to see Mitchell this afternoon, and
they said that you should take this problem to John Mitchell.
Mr. DoA~. And did you take that
Mr. D~A~. There was one thin~ on the tape that was particularly, I
assume, of concern to Mr. M:itchell. As I recall, Mr. Hunt had said that
Mitchell had perjured himself.
l~Ir. Do~m. And did you take ~hat up to New York and play it for
Mr. Mitchell ?
Mr. D~A!¢. Yes, I did.
Mr. Do~a~. What was Mr. Mitchell’s---what was the conversation
with Mr. Mitchell after you played the tape ~
Mr. DF~. When the reference on the tape to the perjury came up,
,, and
he said "Oh, I wonder what in the hell Hunt is talking about
he gave me--I recall no instructions or said nothing. He did nothing
at that time.
Mr. Do~x. And following that then, you have related you had discussions with Mr. Haldeman with respect to the $350,000 ?
Mr. D~Au. That is correct.
Mr. DoAm Now, you have testified about a transfer of either $40,000
or $70,000 in December by Mr. Strachan to Mr. L~Ruo. What happened to the balance of that money, if you know ?
Mr. DF~I¢. Well, there were su~sequent demands for the money and
when-Mr.

Do~x. How were they communicated ?
Mr. D~A~. From Mr. O’Brien. I was trying to think. I don’t think

Mr. Parkinson was involved in those discussions at that time. From
]Ylr. O’Brien, that there was still further need for more funds, tha~
¯ their needs had not been satisfied, and that so~nething was
have to be done. These were repeated. I would talk to Mr.
about it, and tell him that the actual language we used, which I
to recall, is that they wanted another bite out of the apple. We
talked about the fact that they had not made the fund whole and had
not replenished it, and we were very unhappy about that as they wer~
promising us they would make that fund whole again, simultaneously
they are telling us they need more money from it.
At one point again the demands reached a crescendo where something
had to be done, and I had togo back to Mr. Haldeman again.
Mr. DEAR. At what point.~÷.~ Can you fix the time of that.
]YIr. DEA~. I cannot. I am sorry.
l~r. Do~. By months ?
:
~¢Ir. DF~. I guess, yes~ I would say that’s fair~ but I just don’t
recall.
~Ir. Don. 1~o~ I mean in a particular month ? Can you fix it in a
paxticular month ?
Mr. D~. I would say it was in January.
i~r. DOAm Please proceed.
Mr. DEA~. The call came in again from Mr. Mitchell saying, you
know~ we need something and I said well, you know~ you were supposed
to replenish this and the like~ and I wasn’t one to argue with Mr.
Mitchell. And so I finally went to Mr. Haldeman and again said they
want another bite out of the apple. We have talked about sending the
whole thing back, maybe it should be sent back now and Mr. Haldeman
said send the whole damn thing back over there, and get a receipt for
it.
Mr. DEAR. And what did you do with those instructions?
]~fr. DF~. I told Mr. Strachan that he should take the entire remainder back and ~t a receipt from them for it.
]Ylr. SF, m~.Pmr~G, feint of clarification~ Mr. Chairman. Mr. Dean said
a receipt from them.
l~Ir. D~A~. That was Mr. La Rue principally.
lV~r. Do~R. Acting in whose behalf ?
]~/[r. DF~N. Wel]~ I really don’t know. I guess--a receipt from Mr.
La Rue to the fact that they--the committee or somebody had received
$350,000.
Mr. DOAm I see.
¯ Ir. WALO~S. Mr. Chairman ?
The CH~n~L~. Mr. Waldie.
~¢Ir. W~LDra What is the date of this conversation ?
The CHAn~. Are you unable to state the date of the conversation
Mr. D~A~. I cannot tell you the precise date other than the fact that
I put it in January.
l~r. DOA~. Now, you have testified to the fact that you became awar~
of a man named Howard Hunt and we have had a considerable amount
of testimony with respect to Mr. Hunt’s safe at the White House. You
were aware of his safe ?
]Yfr.Mr" D~.~.Do~. Ii waS~don,t es.y I was--Ito was told that he had a safe, yes.
want ask you all of it~ to develop all of your

knowledge with respect to the contents and the disposition of the materials in that safe, but I will ask you ~vhether or not you did deliver
to the FBI certain materials in the safe to FBI agents ?
Mr. DF~. That is correct.
Mr. Dora. And I will ask you wh&her or not you delivered other of
the materials, other materials of the safe to the aeting director~ Mr.
. I)~. That is correct.
Mr. DEAR. NOW, at whose instructions were you operating when you
didthat~
Mr, DF~. Well~ they had asked for them, and they had asked for
the material in Mr. Hunt:s safe so I was delivering them to the FBI
at their request. But~ what I was doing when I delivered the m~terials
to Mr. Gray was trying to provide an excuse for those atthe White
House to be able to say that everything that was in Mr. Hunt’s safe
had been sent to the FBI.
Mr. DoA~. Well, did you do that on your own devices with the materials, or did you get instruction from any of your superiors ?
Mr. I)~. I did that on my own decision. Well, I talked to Mr.
Ehrlichman about the fact of what was in the safe and he was very
happy with what was in the safe and had given me instructions regarding the larg~ suitcase that had had m~terial~ to deep six it~ and suggested shredding the documents that were embarrassing~ and at that
time I was still a reluctant lady~ and was very doubtful as to whether
this was the best course or not. And I thought there were real possibilities that a lot of people would not be able to testify that there had,
indeed, or that nothing had turnedup in Mr. Hun~’s s~fe.
Mr. Dora. So didyou discuss that further with Mr. Ehrlichman~
Mr. D~. Yes, I did discuss that with Mr, Ehrlichman.
Mr. DEAR. And what was the nature of those discussions: that discussion .~
Mr. DF~. Well, after I reported to him what was in the safe and
~he fact that people would be able to say that that safe was not empty~
that I conceded the idea~ after my instructions from him, that I could
turn some of this material over and handle the rest of it directly with
Mr. Gray.
l~[r. Dora. And did he---Mr. Sa~A~. Mr. Chairman~ could we have a date established when
this happened ?
The CH~ra~. Can you establish the date on which this occurred
Mr. SA~D~. The emptying of the safe.
Mr. Do~R. The opening of the safe~ yes: That was the night of the
19th.
Mr. S~n~. l~inteenth of what ?
Mr. DF~. June.
Mr. S~D~A~. What year ~
Mr. DF~. 1972.
Mr. S~ND~. Thank you.
Mr. D~. l didn’t know it was going to be open that quickly and~
Congre~man~ in fact Mr. Kurli had instructions from Mr, Ehrlichman, who was pre~nt with us when we discussed the opening of the
safe. He told him how it would be done and the like and I didn’t know

237
they were going to do it quite that quickly. I had gone to Mr. Mitchell’s~
andthat s when ho ~lled Mr. Fielding, who ]~ad no
h .a~.’t told him to expect it, that I was supposed to receive
ter~al, and_ then Mr. Fielding went up with Mr. Kurli to witness the
opening of the safe and take custody of the contents.
The CHA~An. Counsel, will you please proceed.
¯
Mr. DoAm Well, did you deliver all of the materials that had com~
frem the safe either to .the special agents of the FBI or to Mr. Gray
Mr. DF~An. Well, when Mr. Ehrliehman--Mr. Ehrlichman was there
when he passed the envelopes. At that time I thought we had delivered everything, and rested comfortable in my mind that we had de,
livered everything, and I was, if asked, I would be able to say that
everything had been delivered to the FBI.
Mr. DoAm Had everything in fact, been delivered to the FBI ?
Mr. DEAN. No, I had not. It was subsequent to that that I learned
that we had not
Mr. DOAm And will you explain how you learned that ?
Mr. DEA~. Well~ the prosecutors then handling the case asked Mr.
Kurli, Mr. Fielding, and myself to come down and explain the chain
of the handling of this evidence. During the course of that conver-~
sationMr. DEAR. Can you fix the time of that ?
Mr. DEA~. Yes, that was in December of 1972, just pretrial. Durin@
the course of that conversation, Mr. Silbert asked me, he said
Hunt has a motion, and they deal with two Hermes notebooks and
file folder and at that time neither Kurli nor Fielding who had done.
most of the packing of the material into my safe nor I were even awar~
of what a Hermes notebook was~ As the discussion went on I decided
I had to then get Mr. Petersen aside because I figured if there is material missing it is because it is in the envelopes or handled, or handed
to Mr. Gray, so I told, I pulled Mr. Petersen aside and we went out o~
the room and I said, "Henry, I have got to ~ell you this If I am called
to the stand I am going to have to tell you the way the the evidence wa~
handled is that not all of it really went to the agents as such but some’
of it was.given to Pat Gray." And that’s where I would surmise the"
Hermes notebooks would be. And he was quite startled to hear this
and with that broke off the conference rather quickly and I was never
called again subsequently. Mr..Silbert was the one who asked me. He
said well, during this discussion before I had had with Petersen,
said would you:please go back and recheck. ~¥e explained where the
materials were all kept. He said would you recheck that safe to see if
there’s anything left in there.
Mr. DoAm Did you do that ?
’
Mr. DEA~. Yes, I did. I subsequently went back, and that’s when
discovered the fact that amongst just some loose files that were in th6
bo~ma of my safe there were the materials stuck, .t~here were the two
Hermes notebooks and the popup folder which had been either inadvertently or some way placed fn these accordian folders that
opened at the top. I subsequently had talked to Mr.
had
that he had told me to hang tight on the fact that
been turned over to h4m, ~nd ’I sa4d, well, ~h,a~’s the problem, und
said well, I destroyed these documents.

Well, my feeling being~feeling quite pregnant by that time---I had
no hesitation to just take and shred the documents and to destroy the
popup notebook, which I did.
Mr. DOA~. What is a Hermes notebook ~
Mr. DZAn. It Js a ve~T thin cazxlboard-bound, paper~backed, ’white
open-leafed notebook that has just blank pages, I gather made by
the Hermes Co.
Mr. Owens. Counselor, are we still in December of 1972
Mr. DEAn. No, this is January when I went through my safe, of
1973.
The CHAm~A~. Did you want to clarify something
Mr. DEAn. No, sir.
Mr. DOAm Would you let me ask you this, did you begin to have
more frequent contact, or begin to have contact on a regular basis
with the-President beginning in late February 1973
Mr. DF~n. Yes, I did.
Mr. DOA~. And how did that come about ?
~r. DF~. Well, excus~ me.
[Short pausec_]
¯"
l~[r. DEAn. Counsel notes that I think it is quite appropriate that
I bring out the ~f~ct that I did not testify regarding the Hermes notebooks before the Senate when I was testifying there. There wer~ several things that were not in my conscience_at the time I testified there
that have subsequently come out that involve my own actions and my
own behavior. They were just not in my conscience but as soon as the
matter did arise again and was brought to my attention~ the first time
was during the summer when Mr. Hunt was filing a motion, and I was
talking to counsel, and I said I ’have got .to talk to you about that
before anything goes further. And I came back shortl$ und they expedited the time they wanted me to plead. I pleaded m
t’he very early things I did as soon as we go~ ..to that in my diseu~ion
with the special prosecutor was to tell them indeed what had happened
to the Hermes notebook regarding my destruction of it.
l~fr. DoAm All right, Mr. Dean, I would like to ,ask you about if in
th~ latter part of February. 1973, .you began to have fr~luent meetings
with the President of the United States ~
Mr. D~An. Yes, I did.
Mr. DAnmLSO~. Point of clarification. Would that be 1972 or~
Mr. DEAn. 1978.
Mr. DEAR. 1973, February 1973. And how did this meeting come
about ?
Mr. DzAn. Well, I don’t really know for certain. I had had some
discussions with Mr. Ehrlichman following the La :Costa meeting on
Fe.bruary 10 and I thought that if I were ever called to testify. I was
going to have a lot of problem invoking executive privileg~ ’because
I didn’t really feel, while we had issued statements on executive privilege, that they would cover anything other than conversations with the
President.
l~Ir. DEAR. And had you prior had you between September 15 and
the latter part of February had any conversations with the President .~
~Ir. DZA~. Not on this subject no.
Mr. DoAP~ And following La Costa meeting, can you tell me whether

or not you b~gan to have direct meetings with the President of the
Mr. DzA~. Yes, I did. "
Mr. DOA~. And did you, at that time, do you have a recollection
by day what the President and you talked about between the latter
part of February and March 21
Mr. DF~. Yes; I do. I might pause and just say that when. I construc~d my, drafted my Senate testim0.n~., that I had no notes from
any of my meetings with any of these. I did not keep a diary_. I wasn’t
able to get any information from the White House as to specific times.
I made some efforts, but I was refused the information. When it was
in about A.pril 15 and I could get some informal, but not confirmed
times generally for a few of the meetings, and the way--the only way
I could do it was from just cold memory. I had a partially complete
newspaper clipping file and I merely went through the newspapers
and I tried to remember which days I had met with the President, what
we had discussed, and to reconstruct it from memory as best as I could
recall it.
Mr. Do~m. I want to be clear. Did you not keep any contemporaneous
memorandum of the conversations that you had with the President
Mr. DF~. No, sir, I did not. I specifically had a conversation with
¯ Ir. Moore once on that~ He asked me why I didn’t and I said I just
didn’t think it would be appropriate because I don’t think some of the
things we were talking about should be made a record of.
Mr. DoA~. Now, did you on or about or at the middle of March or
sh~r~ly ~er the middle of March have a eonve~s~tign with Mr.
O’Brien about a demand by Mr. Hunt
Mr. DzAx¢. Yes, I did.
Mr. DoAa. Can you fix ~he time and place of that conversation
Mr. DF~. Yes, I can.
Mr. DoA~. When was it ~
Mr. DEA~. That was on the afternoon of March 19,1973.
Mr. DoA~. Where did the conversation take place
Mr. DFA~. It oecurred in my office in the Executive Office Building.
Mr. DoA~. Had Mr. O’Brien called for an appointment prior to the
meeting ?
Mr. DEA~q. Yes, he had because we had to clear him to come into the
office. He didn’t possess a White House pass.
Mr. EDwAmm. Mr. Chairman~ point of clarification.
The Cmmu~A~. Mr. Edwards.
Mr. EI~WAmm. Mr. I)oar, did Mr. Dean answer the question about
what the President and Mr. Dean talked about in the meeting from
February to March 21 ~
Mr. DoA~. No, not yet.
The CHAIe~A~. Wehaven’t gotten to that.
Mr.. DoA~. Let me just finish if I can the conversation with Mr,
O’Brien on the 19th.
Could you tell--Mr. DZA~. Well, yes. Mr. O’Brien told me he had tried to see me
over the weekend and the reason that stuck in my mind is because I
was certainly available over the weekend and had in fact been in the
office over the weekend, had met with the President on St. Patrick’s

Day so I didn’t really understand why he had had such a problem
getting ahold of me over the weekend.
And then he told me that he had had a meeting the preceding Friday
with Howard Hunt. He said that he had met with him over in Mr.
Bittman’s office, said that Hunt had had a message that he wanted to
pass to me, and I said to Mr. O’Brien then, I said "well, why me?"
and Mr. O’Brien then said "well, I asked Hunt the same question
and he said well, you just pass this along to Dean."
And the message w~s that he had tenet his financial affairs in order
before he was sentenced and that he wanted by Tuesday or Wednesda3~
I think it was to have his re~4uest handled and he wanted $7g,000
for living expenses and $50,000 for ’his attorneys’ fees and that if
he didn’t get thes~ he was going to have some seamy things to say
about what he had done for John Ehrlichman while he was at the
White House~ and he would have to reconsider his options if he didn’t
get it.
Mr. Do~. And what was your response to this .~
Mr. DZA~. Well, I was frankly rather shocked.
Mr. DoA~. What was your response ~
Mr. DZA~. Well, I told him that I--I said~O’Brien and I had
talked about the demands of people before~I said Paul~ I said, I am
out of the money business. You are just going to have to go some~wher~
else to take care of this problem. I am not going to have anything to
do with it. I am out of the business. I said maybe it’s time to just end
this all. It’s gotten to the point where I don’t think we can live with
it. You and I are a couple of conduits and we are going to get ourselves
in a whole hell of a lot of trouble if we keep passing this x~nformation
hack and forth. This is obstruction of justice and I don’t like it.
And it was sor~ of a commiserating hand holding situatior~ where
neither of us were happy with the situation and I was probably less
happy than he was.
Mr. DOA~. Now, prior to the meeting on the 19th with Mr. O’Brien,
you have testified to the fact that he had had a number of meetings
with the President of the United States between the latter part of
February and the 19th of March.
What, if any information~ to the best of your recollection, did you
give to the President during that time and if you can be as specific
and precise as pebble, bearing in mind that you don~ have notes, it
would be helpful. I am sure you realize that the committee has a
recorded conve~on for the 28th of February and for the 13th of
March but there were a number of other meetings, I think one on the
27th of February and several between the first of March and the 13th
of March and another on the 17th of March.
Mr. DF~. Are you specifically referring to with regard to money?
~Ir. DoA~. With regard to the Watergate defendant~, the alleged~
the thing that--the obstruction of Justice thing and you acting as a
conduit.
Mr. I)Fa~r. Well, I recallMr. D~.mcm. Mr. Chairman, may we have the witness, insofar as he
can, break ~hese conversa*ions d~wn t~ ~he different specific dates ~a£
are involved .~ Thank you.
Mr. Dr~. Well, as I testified before the Senate, my mind is not a
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tape recorder and I had to repeat that on several occasions, that was
long before we knew of the tapes even, that I feel I am capable of re,
calling impressions and gists of conversations.
l have always had a great deal of difficulty with recalling speeific~
words said, who said what and what reactions were. Obviously the
recorded transcripts serve as a great recollection of some of ~he things
that occurred. Some of them, frankly, I would have never remembered
had I not read the transcripts. So, let’s take first of all the group of
meetings that occurred on the 27bh, 28th, and the 1st of March.
n~oticed ~n reading the ¢ranscril~ts ~nd I noticed .~n rereading my
~enate testimony and I recall in preparing my testimony these
meetings happened very quickly and very closely together, it was the
after.noon of the 27th, it was the morning of the 28th, and then the
morning of the ls~. There was .a great deal of overl~p
matter, and s~bstance of .~hese conversations. I think i.t
that some of the things that I have put on one day may
on an~th.er d~y. But, with regard to my Sen~~ testi.mony
prepared to stand on every recollection I had in there as having
occurred in those ~hree meetings within .that time fr@ms. I m~y h~ve
slid from one day to the next day.
My mind is just not that precise that it can put every, separate
morning from an afternoon. But, as I said I have done the best I can.
Now, I can think of specific examples, in reading the transcript of
the 28th, that show exactly what I have done. If the cormnit~ee would
like me to point out these now I would be happy to.
Mr. DOAm I think first if you could just summarize the subjects you
discussed on those three meetings, the 27th, the 28t’h, and the 1st.
Mr. DEA~. Right.
Mr. D~Is. Mr. Chairman, I do not want to obstruct the witness at
all but I think it is very important that he specify as much as he reasonably can what he said when instead of getting into questions that
call for general topics over a period.
T think he ought to be held down ~ust as strictly as he can do it.
I understand his problem, but I object to this broad general type of
questioning.
This is too important.
The CH~n~zA~. Well, I think the witness is attempting .to do this as
best he can from his recollection. He has stated that his mind is at,
temptingto be as precise as it possibly can without having to refer .to
the recordings and the transcripts that are before us. And I think tha~
more than that we cannot expe~t the witness to do.
You may proceed.
Mr. Dm~vis. Mr. Chairman, what I really object to, with all due
respect, is counsel’s question. I understand the witness’ problem, but,
Mr. ])oar, instead of trying to get what he can he was about ,to tell us
for instance, about February 28 and he has asked him a broad question
to tell us the general topics you discussed within ~his time frame and
I don’t think counsel should do that.
The C~I~A~. Well, the member will have an opportunity when he
.interro.~ates the witness if he feels that the line of questioning is:
Imprecise.
Mr. Doar~ please proceed.

Mr. DOAR. Well, Mr. Dean, I have no objection to your answering
Mr. Dennis’ specific question about the 28th, and all I am asking for is
your best recollection and with as much precision as you can about
ebruary 27th, Februa .ry "28th, and March 1st. Not the entire period
tween February 27th "~nd the 19th of March at this time. Do you
understand that question ~
Mr. DF~A~. Yes, I do.
Let me say, on the 28th was the meeting~
Mr. DOAR. Let me ask you just for the’record so the members understand you are refreshing the recollection from your Senate testimony ?
Mr. D~A~. That is correct.
Mr. ]:)OAR. ~ld could you just for the benefit of the members indicate
the page of the Senate and the volume of the Senate testimony ~.
Mr. DF~N. 991, 3, book 3.
Mr. Do~P~ All right~ Mr. Dean.
Mr. D~. Well, as I indicated when I testified before the Senate,
this was the first meeting when the President told me that I was to
directly report to him on Watergate matters, and that he told me that
this was a__m_at~er which was consuming too much of Mr. Haldeman’s
and Mr. Erlichman’s attention and that he would like me to report
directly to him.
PIe~ ~l.so n__o~_ t~_ me that ~hey were principals. Now, I ~have subsequently ~estified that on the 28th I told him that I thought I also was
a .~rincipal~ . and proceeded .to explain__ to him why I thought I ~vas a
principal. For some reason I thought a day had elapsed. I am inclined
to believe on reading the 28th that this probably occurred right at the
time he told me this, that I told him that I too .thought that I had a
problem with obstruction of justice, and we had a very brief conversation about it.

~e

r.e~t~ told
lly agree
with me,_and
didn’t
want
to pursue
the Atmat¯. PIe~,did~n’.t
er. -~ne l~resment
me ~bout
his meeting
.with
Baker
and the
t_orney General and requested that I follow up with the Attoruey
General.
I noted from reading the transcript of the 28th that it was quite
e~ident _that not only on the 28~h as reported, l~d I talked to him
a’~out Mr. Sullivan but .that had come up on the 27th as ~vell, end
that’s the way I recall it, having refreshed my recollection wi.th the
transcripts, that we did talk about the Sullivan matters. In ~act, I
had placed on March 1 testimony to the effect that I informed him that
I had a meeting several days prior with Mr. Sullivan, who had been
at the FBI for many years, and Mr. Sullivan alluded to the fact the
_FBI had ~been used for political purposes in past administrations and
I cited .a few examples he had given me. I had placed that on March 1.
It is quite evident that happened on the 28th in the transcript.
But I also believe it occurred on March 27, that there was allusion
i~..We talked about .the_leak. The transcript of the 28th recalls to me
a~ ~t was on the 27th that we talked a~bout Mr. Mark Felt and we
talked about how .the leak of the news and then wiretaps had come out
and he had asked me, we had had questions on that. I had originally
placed that on the 28th.
Mr. BOTL~.m Excuse me. Mr. Chairman, we are talking ~bout the
2~th and 28th of February are .we not ?
Mr. D~Ax. Yes, sir. Yes, sir.

[~
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-’Mr. BUTLER. I think you mentioned Marcha second ago.
Mr. DF~. March 1, alluded to that.
Mr. BUTLER. We are still talking about the 27th and 28th of Febru~.ry and the 1st day of March
~Ir. DF~. Yes, that’s right.
Mr. BUTLF~ Thank you.
Mr. DF~. Another example of how I have apparently mingled
overlapping meetings is my reference on March 1 to the fact that he
had told the Attorney General to read the chapter in the book of "Six
Crises." Well, I had remembered that very vividly and that obviously
happened, according to the transcript of the 28th, on the 28th. So that’s
~he type of thing that I am alludingto ~here the overlap of the subject
matter resulted in my not being able to separate every specific thing
that had happened on three meetings that were held very close together.
Mr. DEAR. NOW, what I would hk- e you to do~ as specific as you can,
is to indicate the matters that you talked about, brought up with the
President with respect to the Watergate problem.
Mr. D~A~. At the end of the meeting on the 27th, as I was leaving
~he ofce, one of the things after I was---][ was not sure at that time that
the coverup could continue and I thought that I ought to convey that
to the President. And I did. And he gave me what I would have to
interpret as sort of a pep talk. I recall that he told me that, you
lmow, this had been the only issue they had had, and it had been
handled well, and he had a lot of confidence that I could handle it,
and he gave me. you know, just sor~ of you have got to fight and hang
in type of gesture and this was when we were on our fee£ and :[ was
leaving the office. "
¯
That was one of the things that he had accomplished in turning me
arotmd, and if I was to have any pessimism I wasn’t going to show
it to him. We discussed how the reporting would go on and that
should keep in touch with him and resolve problems relating to the
Watergate with him.
Mr. Do~R. And did you have further meetings then during the first
week in March ~
Mr. DsA~. I believe the next one was the 6th.
Mr. Do~m And what’s your recollection of that meeting
~tsearMr. D~. Well, I have a very brief recollection of it, and I have
ched my mind and I have~ tried to do one thing and that is not
force my m~mory, feeling that’s the best way to have a faulty memory
is to force it.
So, I just have to say that I really don’t know much more than what
I discussed, that there was a general discussion about the status of the
Gray hearings and a reminder that I was to continue to report to him
about the Watergate mattera
Mr. Do~m And when did you meet next with the President?
Mr. I)F~. The 7th.
¯
Mr. Dean. And do you have a recollection now of your conversation
with him on that date?
Mr. DF~. Well, I can add nothing more than what I said in the
Senate.
Mr. DeeP. Wall, could you just summariz~ that for the committee
so they have it in mind ?

Mr. D~.~. Well~ there was discussion about Gray’s performance
before the committee, and the fac~ that Gray had made comments
regarding my sitting in on the investigations with the FBI. And I do
recall the reference the President made to Gray’s attitude when he
made the reference that "well, that’s jolly well." I have never heard
the President use that before and that sort of stuck in my mind. And
we were~then there was further discussion about the Attorney General cutting off Gray from further Wa~rgat~ reports or the FBI
files to the Senate Judiciary Committee during the Gray h~arings.
I-Ie was unhappy about that.
Mr. DO~R. And did you me~t with the President again on the 8th
of March ~
Mr. I)~. Yes, I did.
Mr. R~. Mr. Chairman ?
The Cm~R~. Mr. Rangel ?
Mr. l~o~ Mr. Chairman, it was my understanding that the witness was indicating that there was some new rrmterial as related to
March 7 and he was requested to give a summary. Did the summary
include the new material ~
The C~R~. No; I don’t believe that that was the question.
Mr. Do~P. Do you have a recollection of what took place at the
March 8 meeting ?
Mr. D~s. Well, again it was, as I recall, pretty much discussion
of the Gray hearings and that’s all I can recall.
Mr. Do~. Looking back at the logs that were furnished us by
the White I-Iouse, my attention has been called that on March 1 you
had three.meetings with the President, two in the morning and one
in the afternoon. Do you have a recollection now of any of the specifics
about any of these three meetings, or can you differentiate between
what took place at one as contrasted to one of the other two ~
Mr. D~. Now, I would not wa~t to---as I sa~., I didn’t have the
logs at the time I prepared this and I would find ~t--I would think it
unwis~ to sit here and try to, while I am testif-ying~ to force my
memory. This isn’t exactly the best circumstances to try to recall what
happened when.
Mr. Do~P. Now, according to the logs furnished us by the White
House you had a conversation by telephone with the President when
he was at Camp David on March 10. Do you have a recollection of that
conversation ~
Mr. D~s. It was my impression that was the call where we talked
about the executive privilege statement and getting it out but what
else transpired in that conversation I cannot recall.
Mr. DeeP, Then you had a conversation with the President for 1
hour and 18 minutes on March13, is that right ~
Mr. I)m~. I will tak~ your word for whatever the logs say, yes.
Mr. Do~R. And you have looked at thetranscript of that conversation ?
Mr. D~. Yes; I have.
Mr. DEAR. ~ow, on the 14th of, when was the next conversation
that you remember you had with the President following the 14th ~
Or following the 13th, excuse me.
Mr. D~s. Well, my recollection is of the 14th.

Jr. DOA~ Did you have a recollection of the subject matters that
~ discussed and what was said ? ¯
~r. DEA~. Primarily dealing with the forthcoming press conrace and discussion of executive privilege, and the making Dean a
~ case in the courts and executive privilege because there would be
re than executive privilege, there ~ould be attorney-client privilege
[ the like.
~r. DoAm And where was Dean going to testify ?
~r. D~-A~. Before the Senate Judiciary Committee.
~r. DOAR. In connection with what matter ~
~r. DEA~. Mr. Gray’s hearings.
cir. DOA~. And did you meet again with the President on the folTing day~.
Cir. DEA~. Yes; I did.
cir. DOAm What date was that .~
cir. DEA~. The 15th.
~r. DoAm And what do you recall about that conversation~
cir. DF~. ][ recall that was after his press conference. The Presnt was in a very relaxed mood.
[ remember he was saying his surprise at the fact that he had had a
her historic announcement to make regarding the opening up of
ison offices in China and then he was--he expressed some annoyance
~he fact that the first question the press asked him was whether Dean
s going to testify or not after he made this announcement. And
~n we went on from there to have what I would call really just rather
.ull session. He and Mr. Moore talked about the handling of the
~. I remember now that I--that that was the first time that Mr.
rare said that he had really~ had you know, had found out who this
ang Congressman from California was, was during this period of
le.

"Material unrelated to testimony of witness deleted.]
~[r. DoAm Do you have a recollection of the conversation with the
esident on the 16th of March .~
Hr. DE~. Just the reference to the fact that there, was some follow
on matters that had arisen during the press conference.
~Ir. Do~. Now, you met again with the President on the 17th of
~rch. Do you have a recollection a~bout that conversation ?
~r. Dsa~. Well, my recollection was that that was St. Patrick’s Day,
d it was a--I have never been able to remember much about that
;eting but also had the subsequent feeling that an awful lot more
~ discussed at that meeting than I am able to remember, just a
bber rambling open discussion about a lot of things, and I would be
~rely opining what they were if I wereto testify to them. So, I didn’t
sn include them in my Senate testimony. I had great difficulty re~mbering whether that might not have .been-the day where there was
~cussion of mone.v. I have also had the very firm impression that the
ct that what I called the million dollar conversation occurring on the
th might not have occurred at another time, or some discussion of
mey had arisen, just my recollection is very clear that that wasn~
~ first time it came up and I just can’t get that impression out of my
ad.
But, I can’t put it on any other day.

Mr. DOAm You mean ..that wasn’t the first time it came up ~ What do
you mean by that ~
Mr. D~A~. Well, as the transcripts would indicate, the first time
it came up was on the FIst, that is I was mistaken in ~utting it on
the 13th, but I still sit here today with the impression that th~re was
some other discussion before the Fist of this general subject.
lVlr. DoAP~ Now, you met with the President again on March 19.
Do you have a recollection of that meeting ?
,M~.~. D_~A~. Yes. That was the meeting where we discussed drafting
a le~er that would be sent to the Judiciary Committee in which we
would try to answer but not answer some of the questions.
Mr. DOA~. Can you recall whether that meeting was before or after
the meeting you had with Mr. O’Brien ?
Mr. DF~. I am sure it was before. I didn’t meet with Mr. O~Brien
until late on the afternoon of the 20th or the 19th so that--well,
excuse me. That would have been afar I had had that meeting on the
19th withMr. O~Brien.
Mr. Do~. I see. And didyou meetwith~Mr. Moore was with you
at that time ?
Mr. DF~. That is correct.
Mr. DOAm Now, after you got the call from 1Yfr. O’Brien, can you
tell the committee in your own words just exactly with whom you
communicated about the information ihat Mr. O’Brien had given
to you, and if you could, take it sequentially and try as best you can
to fix the time and the date.
Mr. DF~. Well, after I received the information on the 19th from
Mr. O’Brien, it was late in the afternoon. I recall that. I was going
to go over to a reception that was being held at Blair House for Mr.
Colson. Having received this information, I didn’t feel like going
over and seeing Mr. Colson.
I might also add that Mr. O’Brien told me at the time that he re~
ported this that he had in fact, or that Mr. Colson had received the
same message through his attorney, Mr. Shapiro, so that Colson was
aware of Hunt’s demands. When Mr. Colson went out of the White
House it was supposed to be one of Mr. Colson’s assignments to hold
Mr. Hunt’s hand and to take care of his problems. OrBrien was aware
of this.
Mr. Doom When you say it was supposed to be one of Mr. Colson’s
assignments~-Mr. D~A~. It was an assignment he didn’t want.
Mr. DoAm Well, I know. But who gave him the assignment, if
you know ?
Mr. Ds~. I believe it was Mr. Ehrlichman.
Mr. Do~. Well, is this of personal knowledge or just something
l~Ir. Ehrlichman told you or something Mr. Colson told you ?
Mr. DF~. Mr. Colson told me he didn’t want to do it and I assum~
that Mr. Ehrlichman had mentioned it to him and that’s all I know.
Mr. Do~. Is that what Mr. Colson told you .~
Mr. I)~A~. Thkt’s right. But anyway I was supposed to go to the
reception and I was not inclined to go to it at all. I remember Mr.
Fielding went to it. We were going to go over together, and I did not
~o. I was rattled, I recall that I had more than one Cutty Sark that
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night trying to think about the problem, and did nothing with it that
~Ir. DOAm Then what did you do the next day.
Mr. DmAN. The next day I tried to arrange to see Mr. Ehrl~chman be-~
cause I thought I ought to get this message to him, because he was the.
one who was the subject of Mr. Hunt’s demand. I recall some difficulty
arranging a meetin~ with him. He said he had a busy schedule but
worked me in in mi~lafternoon. I was bothered enough by it and dis~
tressed enough by it that I told Mr. Moore about it.
Mr. DOAm Let me ask you first did you report this to Mr. Ehrlich-~
man in that afternoon meeting~
Mr. D~A~. Well~ I was going sequentially.
Mr. DOA~. Excuse me.
Mr. DFa~. I haven’t gotten there yet.
Mr. DoAm All right.
Mr. D~A~. I think as I~recall, I discussed it with Mr. Moore before.
I discussed it with Mr. Ehrlichman. This came in the context of try~
ing to draft this letter, I said well, you know, we are answering questions that don’t answer anything. We .have got~ .more hPa~ObwlaesmSre~vd
more problems. And then I finally let it out to nnn wn
bothering me.
Mr. SF~Pmn~. Mr. Chairman, point of clarification. Mr. Dean.
referred to this letter without---Mr. DF~AN. I’m sorry. I. testified to a letter. That’s the letter that
I was drafting ~or the Senate Judiciary Committ~ regar .ding ,my.
appearance or the questions that had come up regarding my mvmvemerit in various phases of the Watergate investigation.
I believe that’s an exhibit that I submitted to the Senate connnit ,t~e,
so I assume it is in the possession of this committee also.
When I got to see Ehrlichman~
Mr. Doom Wait a minute. Before you do that, you said "I told
Moore what was bothering me,~ and I think the members of .the com~
mittee would be interested in the substance of that conversatmn.
Mr. DSAN. Well, what was bothering me was the fact that her~
was Hunt now making direct demands on the White House that
escalating,, they were threate. Mr. Moore is the one who put the
blackmail on it, and when he told me that’s nothing but.blackmail!]
said, I told. him I agree it is, and he was--I respected his
I think he’s you know, a fine man, and_I was r.e~ 1.1y~,I ~bo, un .c~,d. an ~
lot of things off of him and I wanted to gev his ~ee~ ~or mlS~ an~
thought it was a very bad situation. I told--I might also add, he
a re~rence to me and he said "well, is he talking about the
thingS." And I said yeah, and I said "well, ho~ do you know
And he said "well, I just got that off the grapevine." So~ I recall
very clearly and I was surprised that he knew about that
I have never talked to him about it.
When I got in to see Ehrlichman it was a rather
told me he was going down to see the President, and I said
is the latest from Hunt, and repeated to him what Hunt had said
how I had received the message.
Mr. DoAm Could you fix the time that you saw Mr.
Mr. D~AN. Midafternoon.

Mr. DOAI~. Of what day ~.
Mr. DEAN. Of the 20th.

Mr. DoAm Of March ?
Mr. D~. That is correck
Mr. DoAm All right. And ~ll you ~ntinue pl~e~ Mr. D~n~
Mr. D~. I ~ld--when I ~ld Mr. Ehrlichman I was surpris~ at
his r~tion~ which w~ no, he had no reaction. He said "H~ph~
I wonder what he~s talking a~ut."
hd I thought~ well~ if it do~n~t bother him~ you ~ow~ I di~t
~ow one~ whether he already ~ew that from somebody or what. In
my dealin~ with Ehrlic~an he was always~ the b~ way I can dew,be it~ is played it cl~ ~ the ch~t with me.
We walk~ to~ther out of his offi~, and it is my very cl~r r~ll~tion that Mr. Haldeman w~ there also and we walked, all of us
walk~ down the stalin to~ther b~nse I remem~r the di~u~ion~
we were also tal~ng ~out the fact that ~hell had ~lled ~ ~11
me a~ut his expermn~ ~fom ~e Veseo grand ju~ in the southem district and had said that Ehrlichman’s name had come up and
I thought I ought ~ re~rt that m Ehrlic~an’s also, which I did. And
Erlichman said~ also ~ we went down the ~aim~ he says "I am surpri~ they haven’t called me yet, I have had some d~lin~ with
V~" and r~i~ ~me of them.
~d I said may~ you will be ~, and he said maybe I will.
~d that was on the way do~. He was goin.g downs~im ~ the
Pr~ident~s offi~.
~r. B~m Mr. Chai~an, exc~ me. One clarification for a
moment.
The C~I~. Mr. Butler.
Mr. B~. Could you clari~ exactly when Mr. Haldeman joined
this di~u~ion ~ W~ he pr~ent when you delivered the news to
EhrSc~an or when did he join your ~oup ~
Mr. D~N. I~m sor~ I just do not ~ow. I do not ~ow. ~d the
thing ~hat has triggered whether I~m right or wrong is when I read
the tra~cript of the 21st and as I r~ll mad~g that~ he kept ~ying
when we ~t ~ Hunt’s demands~ "r~lly~ r~lly’~ and the more
r~d that I think he had misin~rpr~d what I had said~ and he
~hought I w~ tal~ng about Mc~rdplay~g hardball~ but I ~n’t
~ ~ain~ in which c~ there is ~me ~oubt on whether~ whether my
r~ll~tion is ~rr~t but th~ h~ been my mcoll~tion~ and I ~n
only ~11 them the way I s~ them.
~. B~. May I ask one qu~tion more ~
The C~~. Mr. Butler.
Mr. B~m ~mn Mr. Ehrlig~an made the statement along the
lin~ of wonder wha~ he was ~lk~ a~ut~ was Mr. Haldeman p~nt
at that time or not ~. Do you. have any ~o~tion one way or the other ~.
Mr. D~N. Pm ~r~ I ]u~ can’t ~11 you.
Mr. B~. But there is a p~ibiiity he ~uld have ~n there
Mr. D~. That is ~r~a
Mr. B~ OK. Thank you.
Mr. DoAm All right~ Mr. Dea.n~ you were walking down the stalin
with Mr. Ehrli~an and Mr. Halde~n.
~r. D~. And that’s where I depa~ed and went b~k ~ my offi~
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and was in my office and Mr. Krogh came in. And Mr. Krogh cam0
by. He said to cheer me up that I had been taking a lot of
heat, and then he began to tell me that he hadn’t had a p
since he had been over at his job at the Department of Transt
And ’he said that this whole matter had just been haunting
that he talked to his wife about it, and you know, it was one of
things that he just didn’t know how much longer ’he could really
with and he would like to get it. all cleared up and the like and
whole matter.
I am referring to his involvement in the break-in in Dr.
office and the perjury he had committed, he felt he had
during one of his grand jury appearances.
~,,, he and I, belng close friends, began to commiserate, and I would
say Bud, well I am not sure this thing is going to hold together an~i

longsr."

And I told him about Hunt’s demands and the fact that I
that the President was being ill advised by his senior advisers,
this thing had reached a point where it had--it was now going
affect the President pretty seriously if we didn’t do somethin~ vbout
And I told him also about the fact that, you know, all it Wbuld talni
is one good investigator to run into those files that were down
Department of Justice with the pictures of Liddy standing in
of Dr. Fielding’s office and they were under the whole Ellsberg
br~k-in.
Well, Krough watch-he said I am glad I came by but he said
tainly ’hadn’t expected to talk about these things, and maybe it is
to get these things talked about.
So, after he del~rted I then did what Mr. Ehrlichman had
to do during the meeting with him and that was he asked me if
would talk to John Mitchell about it. And I hadn’t.
So, I called Mitchell who had left his office for the day and I
him at home. And it sounded, when I called, that somebody else
picked up the phone. And I had been told by LaRue, I believe it
the first time when someone told me about it, that if you call him
home be very careful because Mrs. Mitchell picks up the phone
she listens in.
So, I had a very guarded eon~rersation’with him and I told
that there had been demands made by Hunt on Ehrlichman,
what had been going on in the past, and conveyed the message
he was aware of it, and that I had been asked by Ehrlichman to
this on, and then I raised the question of whether there was
any available funds to take care of it. And using some language tc
effect, well, is the Greek bearing gifts, because we had
about Mr. Tom Pappas coming down and being able to take
some of the fund problems, that we were out of money, that
needed more money and that pretty well takes me through the
the 20th until I get home.
Mr. Con~. Mr. Chairman, could I just inquire about the
of conversations ?
I am not sure that I missed this myself but following
sation with Richard Moore, did you meet with the President,
Moore, on March 20 about 1:42 to 2:31 p.m. ?

M_r. _ _D~.A~. That’s entirely possibla I don~ recall.
was holding--I was very reluctant to talk to the President about these..
things in front of Mr. Moore, and if it did, nothing of this nature
came up that I recall on the 20th.
I thfnk I recall some rather vivid conversations with the President
on the 20th that had to do with what was going on in the southern
distriot, and the President’s opinions on what was going on in the
southern district.
Mr. Ceramc. Thank you.
Mr. DoAm What was Mr. Mitchell’s reply to this conversation
Mr. D~. He said he would call me back.
"
Mr. Do~. I see.
Mr. Dm~. He obviously didn’t want to talk, given the fact that he
was home, and he was--I think had had a hard day, from my earlier
conversation with him, before the grand jury up in the Southern
district and he was lePt--it was left tl~t he would call me back.
Mr. Do~m And then did you go home, you say that evening
Mr. D~. That is correct.
"
Mr. Doam Then what did you do then ~
Mr. I~. Well, I had virtually no "more than walked in the door
~md the President was on the t~lephone.
Mr. Dora. And what did the President s~y to you’and what did you
say to him ?
"Mr. Dz~,-. Well, we had what I think is known at the White House
~m a stroking call, was the first call, it was very light, very easy, verv
rambling, just a general chatter back and forth.
And at one point I told him, I said I have met ,w,.ith Ehrlichman
that day b~fore he had come down to the President s office that day
a.nd I thought that the President and I should talk in the morning so
that before: the President did anything, the substance of the conversation before, you know, he should have the same information that
think I have, so he understands the implications of everything and
has the broadest picture.
Now, I was guarded in this call and I was trying to tell the Presi~!en~that being in -re_y_ own _mind that Ehrlichman ’h:ad already raised
r, ae hunt matter with him~ that he should not do anything until he sees
t, he picture, and that was what I was, you know, and the fact that this
thing had all kinds of problems on the sides of it, so that’s what I tried
to convey to him, and he said well I would--he said~well~ I said I
would like to take a little time to prepare fcr this.
And he said I would like to see you tomorrow morning at 10 o’clock,
will that be all right ?
.A.nd I, said, yes, th.a.t would b_e all right. I really didn’t have any
option, because I really wanted to sit down and think everything
next morning.
Mr. DoAm Did you t~lk to anyone else that evening about this
sub]ect~
Mr. ]2~. I don’t recall.
Mr. Do~R. Now, did .~ou~ll~.you ~ell us if .you had a call or a con~°ersation wit.h Mr. La Rue about the subject of ~r. Hunt’s demand
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Mr. I)~A~. Yea You mean on this day ~
Mr. DEAR. Well, no. Either--whenever you had it.
Mr. DF~W; Well~ I have never been sure whether I had a call with
LaRue or not~ but It what I remember in my dealing with LaRue was
Mr. LaRue came into m~ office.
.
Now~ that may have ~een prompted by a telephone call but he came
to my office. But I don’t recall. I do recall his coming in~ sitting across
¯ frommy desk and sayin~ are you going to do anything about the money
demand. And I said no, i am not~ I am out of the money business~ Fred,.
and I am not going to have any part of it.
And he said what should I do and I said well~ I think you ought to
talk to John Mitchell.
Mr. DEAR. Can you tell me whether or not that conversation was before or afar the ~ime you or y~ur meeting w~th the President ~t 10
o’clock on the 21st ?
Mr. DEA~. My best recollection is it preceded that meeting of the
21st.
. Mr. DEAR. And was it before or after your conversation with John
Mitchell on the 20th ~
Mr. D~A~. I can~ really fix a time certain on that.
Mr. DOAS. But~
Mr. I)F~N. YOU mean the telephone call or the personal meeting
Mr. DOAm The personal meeting.
Mr. D~A~. It could very well~ and I have thought about this and
thought about this. It could have been the morning of the 21st before
I went in. The only thing I recall getting in the office late, and well~
my normal time of arrival with rare exception ~vas between about 9:15
and 9:30.
I had a 10 o’clock meeting scheduled with the President and theonly
call I remember very well was I called Mr. Haldeman before I wen~
in to see the President because I had, one, never asked about a meetinl~
with-the President before, he h~d always called me in~ and I had
been responding at his will.
~.
¯.
Here I had asked for one~ and I thought, knowing the way the
channels operated~ that I shouldn’t do this without telling Mr. I~ald~
man, who cleared everybody wh~ went in to see the President.
¯
I told Mr. Haldeman I thought there were things I should tell the
President and I shoal d lay some bf these facts out to him.
Haldeman agreed.
¯ -~r. DOAR. Now, did you go in, you did have a meetin~ with the
President on the P.lst ?
Mr. DsA.w. That is correct.
Mr..DeAR. And Mr. Haldeman was present during that meeting ?
Mr. DzA~. The latter part~ yes.
Mr. Do.~m Can you tell me whether or not you recall whether
Haldeman took notes during that meeting ?
Mr. DZA~. I recall he had his pad. It was open at one point andI
recall that he did make some notes during the meeting, yes.
Mr. DOAR. Now~
Mr. DEA~W. I have got to say this. you know, whether he had doodles.
on his pad or writes on his ~a~l, all Iknow-is he had his ~ad out and hi~
pencil in hand. I have got to sav that with Mr. Ehrlichman I used~,
to think he took Copious notes of everything that was ever said unti|i

finally one day I walked around to see what he wasdoing~ and he makes
fantastic, ver~artistic doodles.
Mr. DoAm ~ollowing, you had two meetings with the President on
March 21, one in the morning and one in the afternoon ? "
Mr. D~A~. That is correct.
Mr. DEAR. And did you learn or when did you learn that a payment
of $75~000 or any kind of a payment had been made to Mr. Hunt
Mr. D~.A~. Well~ I don’t know the amount. It was on the morning of
the 22d when it was very early in the meeting that Mr. Mitchell~ Mr.
Haldeman~ Mr. F~hrlichman and myself attended.
We were, the four of us were seated in Mr. Haldeman’s office in
front of the fireplace. There are four easy chairs that face each other.
Mr. Ehr]ichman and Mr. Mitchell were across from each other~ in the
chairs closest to the fireplace. Mr. Haldeman and I were across from
each other.
ttaldeman and Ehrlichman being on the same side, Mitchell and myself being on a side. I was cat, y-corner from Ehrlichman and
man was catty-corner from Mitchell.
_ Ehrlichman said very early on in the conversation ~woll, what
about Mr. Hunt’s problem .~" He was looking ~o me and I with s~rt
of a g~ture said "well, ask the man who knows", sort of thing and
that was referring to Mr. Mitchell.
And Mr. Mitchell merely said "well~ I don~t think that’s a problem
any more."
.
And everybody dropped it, and that was the extent of it.
Mr. I)oAm I neglected to ask you whether or not you had any meetings or conversations with Mr. Ehr]ichman and Mr. Haldeman or
both of them between the morning meeting and the afternoon meeting
with the President ?
Mr. DF~. On the 21st ?
Mr. DoAm On the 21s~ ?
~r. D~. Yes, I did.
Mr. Do~m Could you fix the time and place and the duration of
that meeting ?
Mr. DF~. Well, I would fix it abou~ starting sometime midafternoon until we went in to see the President, when we all went over
together to see the President.
Mr. DOAP~ What was the subject of that meeting ?
Mr. D~.Ax. Well, the principal subject was that it seemed that the
best tactics to deal ~ith the entire matter would be to get Mr. Mitchell
a step forward because if they got Mr. Mitchell and somebody~h~
would account for himself~ that that would solve everybody’s problem
for ~ June 17. In other words, they would have a big fish, as the
word that was used around the White House that would satisfy
everybody, ’and then everybody else could :not be concerned about their
~tivities for the coverup.
This was one, this was one of several strategies but it was the most

,ought
aling.
when do n on the morning of the
I was going to see the most thrilling confrontation that I had

ever witnessed between ttaldeman and Ehrlichman and Mitchell, but
it never happened.
Mr. DoA~. Now, were you requested to prepare a written report by
the President either on March 21 or March 22 ?
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Mr.~ X)~. Well, there was countless di_’sc.ussion o~ my prep_a_rin.g .a
report:’ I was always very reluctant to do it. I tried to frankly bob
and weave regarding a report because the report that was describe~
to me was one I didn’t ever know how to write.
He told me at one time you say this, this, this~ this~ and the President
would also describe it as well, you can say he did such and such_arid
he didn’t and so on and so forth and he said I don’t want everything
specific but~ I want general, and I just didn~,t have any idea what was
being requested~ how it would be written and frankly didn’t want my
name on it. I had made an earlier effort to do it when it had fir~
come up and I thought that was a satisfactory solution where I would
take and prepare interrogatories or depositions of everybody, and if
everybody else wanted to lie about t_he_ir degr~_ _of invol.v.em.ent_,
and I would just write a summary of that, and that would satisfy t e
situation.
And as I testified in the Senate, when my name was put out in front
back in August 1972~ about the Dean report, I got a little.bit gun shy
from :that time on because here it was I was the man who said
them was nobody presently involved or employed in the White House
or the udministml;ion ~ had any knowledge of the W~tergate.
Now, I have never known whether that was an artfully phrased
word that was meant ~o be literally wh~t I believe Jt to be, an’d believe
it to be that no one did, indeed, know that anybody was going to
break into the DNC on the June 17th, I don’t thi~k anybody did other
than those that were directly involved; or whether it was really
intended .to be given the broad brush that the presslater gave it, for:.
getting the niceties of the literal meaning of it.
Mr. DoAm Well, had you, prior to August 29, prepared a so-called’
Dean .report ?
Had you prepared u report for the President or any, anyone else
in the White House ?
Mr. DEA~. NO, I had not.
Mr. Dora. Had you been instructed by Haldeman to prepare such
a report ?
Mr. D~. No, I had not.
Mr. Do^a. Had" you been instructed by, Mr. Ehrlichman
prepare----Mr. Dm~. No, I had not, and if anything I was told my job wasn’t
to investigate, and it was after the Dean report was issued ~hey said
well~ well~ just say that you were investigating this thing.
Mr. D~rELSO~. Mr. Chdirm~; point of clar, ific~tiou. The gentleman has just testified at~r ~!he Dean report ~as ~ssued. I gather after~
he means after the alleged~
Mr. DEA~. Alleged Dean report, .and the statement was made vii
August 29.
’
Mr. D~wn~so.w. But there was no such report ?
Mr. Dr~. There was no such report.
Mr. DoAm Now. did you go to Camp David on the 22d or 23d .~
Mr. Dr~. Well, as ~he t~anscrip~s reveal, there was discussion
on the 22d. I did go onthe 23d.
I was a capt.iv~ of the press at my home on the 22d, and didn’t
to move, d4dn’t want ~o ge out in front of the cameras .and they

the whole house staked out. with five or six camera crews, and I was
waiting until either they thought I wasn’t coming out: or I wasn’t
there and I conducted business from my house phone and learned of
such things as the letter that was released in court that morning and
talked to O~Brien about it, and talked to Ehrlichman about it and the
like. And finally I received a call from the President and he said
wel_l: your prediction was right and tm said I think what you ought
to do now is to go up to Gamp David and just relax and unwind and
get your thoughts together.
lie said that’s where I can do my best thinking, and analyze this
whole thing.
He did not ask me in that call to write a report.
Mr. Do~. Wlmn you got up to Camp David, did y~u ~mpt to prepare a report ~
Dr. DF~. Wel]~ as we ~ entering the ca’b~n~ my wife was with me,
as we were entering the cabin that I was staying in the phone was
ri.n~ng, and the operator said it was the President on the line. Well, I
p~cked i~ up a.nd it wasn’~ the President~ it was Bab Haldeman~ and
Haldeman sa~d to me, he said "John, while you are up there, why
don’t you start drafting a report ?"
And I said is it for internal use or external use and he said "well,
we will decide that later."
f oggiest
So, I began,
report,
I h~ve
n~ ~he
notion,being
what instructed
they have to
in ~rrite
mind, aand
I toldand
them
the only
way
][ could find out is if I started writing~ so I was instructed at that time
by Haldeman to write a report.
Mr. DoA~. And did you attempt to write a report ~.
Mr. DE~. I ’began making notes. I began trying to think of how
to construct a report, again collecting my thoughts, trying to recall
ad I known I was going to write a report I would have spent an
afternoon in my office collecting what documents I could.
I would have asked others for information so I could draw things
together. I didn’t have any of that so I called down and asked Mr.
Fielding in my office to ge~ any documents that he thought might
relevant and helpful for me to prepare such a report.
And then I requested my secretary to come up on Monday to do any
typing that I might have if I was able to do anything I t~ought was
what they wanted..
Mr. DOA~. And did you ?
Mr. D~A~. I think that document, my notes and the like, are on
exhibit.. They are all over the Jot. You know, sometimes I am trying
to lay it out the way it really is and other times I am trying to write
it in a way that protects people. I didn’t know what I was supposed to
do and I was trying to fi~ure out what I was supposed to do.
Mr. DoAm Well, was it an accurate report or are there inaccurate
notes ~
Mr. DEAN. Some are accurate, some are inaccurate.
Mr. DoA~. Now, moving, Mr. Dean, to the 15th of April 19T3,
will ask you whether or not you had a meeting with the President
on that day ?
Mr. D~.A~. Yes, I did.
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Mr. DoAm And prior thereto, had you retained counsel
Mr. D~A~. Yes, I had..
Mr. DEAR. When did you retain independent co~msel
Mr. D~A~. I first retained counsel on I believe the 25th of the month
of April, of March, excuse me, and then I began talking with counsel
about the fact that I would like to talk with somebody who has
experience in criminal law so that he could sit down and assess what
not only my problem is but everybody’s problem is in this and figure
out, because that’s something that I could never do.
I was not a criminal lawyer. I had a general knowledge of criminal
statutes, but no specific knowledge of all of the whys and wherefores
and hews of criminal prosecution and the like.
So, I began talking to him about that. And that’s when he suggested
we meet with Mr. Shaffer when I got back.
Mr. DoAm And did you meet with and retain Mr. Shaffer
Mr. D~A~. Yes, I did.
Mr. DoAm And subsequent to that, and prior to April 15, did you
or your attorney have conferences with the U.S. attorneys about the
Watergate matter?
Mr. DEA~. Yes. Wheh I retained Mr. Schaffer I said, by that time
said that I would like to tell whatever I know about my" involvement
in this thing to the then prosecutors and he said well, let’s hear it all.
And I spent 5 hours on one day and then he said I want to think about
it more. We met again.
That was on a Friday afternoon, the 29th, 30th, and then the next
Monday.
lYfr. SAZ~D~A~. Of April ~
Mr. D~.A~. That’s March. And then the next Monday we talked
again and he said, I want to go down and talk to the prosecutors
about it and explore it.
Mr. HU~6ATE. Pardon me, counsel. He said he suggested you get
Mr. Shaffer. Who is he?
Mr. I)~~. Pardon ~
Mr. Hv~A~. As I understood you, you said he suggested you contact Mr. Shaffer. who was that?
Mr. DF~Z~. That was my prior counsel who was Mr. Hogan at that
time.
Mr. Hogan staved in the case until he realized he had to drop out
because of a conflict because he had represented Mr. Colson in anothe~
matter.
lYfr. Hu~E. Thank you.
Mr. Doaa. All right now, did you, subsequent to those conferences
with Mr. Shaffer, prior to the 15th of April, have conversations with
the U.S. attorneys~.
Mr. DEA~. Mr. Shaffer has corrected ’me on the fact that we not
only had a c-onference on that Friday afternoon, but we met on Satur~day and Sunda~ and then again on Monday apparently as well. I had
an awful lot of information that took time to sort out and begin to
explain it to him.
Yes, to answer your (nmstion, ~ did have myself then I believe th~
first meeting on the 8th.
Mr. Do~m Eighth of April.

Mr. DEAI~. April.
Mr. DeAn. And did you have subsequent meetings between then
and the 15th ?
Mr. DF~r. Yes.
Mr. DOAm And how many?
Mr. DEAlt. EXCUSe me. Could you repeat the question .~
The CHAIR1V£AI~T. Mr. Doar,
Mr. DeArs. Mr. Dean, directing your attention to the 15th day of
April, 1973, I will ask you whether or not you had a meeting with the
President on that day?
Mr. D~.A~r. Yes, that is correct.
Mr. DEAR. And did you testi~T about that meeting when you testi.
fled before the Senate-Select C~mmittee?
Mr. DE~. Yes, I did.
Mr. W~LD~. May I interrupt just a moment~.
The C~a~A~-. Mr. Waldie.
Mr. WA~m-~. There was a question pending before we broke on the
number of me~tings the witness had had wiCh .the President after April
8 and before April 15.
Mr. DEAR. YOU mean with the U.S. attorneys?
Mr. WALDO. I’m sorry, yes.
Mr. SH~FF~. Thank you. I ~vas going to make a correction.
Mr. DO~R. Well, we will go back and pick up that answer:
Mr. D~.~z~. Would you repeat the q, uestion ~hen ?
Mr. DoAm ~res, between the 8th and the 15th did you have one
or more meetings with members of the U.S. attorneys office?
Mr. D~. I am not sure as to the number of meetings. There were
certainly two meetings that I am familiar with, but how many occurred I don’t know:
Mr. DeAn. I see.
Mr. D~A~. Our records are not complete on it. The U.S. attorney
would ~robably have the best evidence on that.
Mr. Do~m ~rou then met with the President on the 15th, and as I
said~
Mr. DEAN. Correct.
Mr. ]-)OAR. And as ][ said, you have testified about that meeting
before the Senate Select Committee?
Mr. DEA~. That is correct.
Mr. DEAR. And briefly, could you ~ust summarize the disoussion
that you had with the President on the evening of the 15th?
Mr. DF..,~r. Well, I told the President I had gone to the prosecutors.
I thought, I thought I should, and that I didn’t consider this an act of
disloyalty, rather it was my effort to step forward and account for my.~lf and I thought it was time to do it. He then proceeded to ask ~ne
a number of questions; and I had the reaction at that time and I still
do that they were very. leading questions, that he was trying to put on
.the record, and I didn’t mind if he wanted to put them on ~he record,
m which lm was trying to recount certain facts. He asked me, for example---Well, he asked me also had I discussed any of my meetings with the
President with the proSecutors or with my ]~wver and I said no, I had
not, that we considered those matters privile~d and there was an attorney-client privilege, and thev had not been discussed.
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~r. Z)OAR. What did the President say to you at that time?
~fr. DzA~. He told me that I should not discuss any of those meet,¢s, that he considered them privileg~ and/or national security mat~
~, t~nd that I should stav out of those and I agreexi that I would.
Fie then proceeded to ~k me a number of questions about appar:ly information that had been given him by-We also talked about Henry Petersen, whether Henry Petersen was
,,ood man and all of that sort of thing and I agreed that he was and
is was in reference to a note I had sent in earlier, I assume, that I
)ught that Petersen would be of great assistance to him.
Fie raised when I had talked to him about these facts, and I was
ry confused by the question. I didn’t know exactly which meeting he
~s talking about, but he clarified it, saving abou~ the cancer on the
esidency, and I said that that was tl~e---[ wasn’t sure of the precise dat% but it was the Wednesday before
~ Friday they were sentenced. I remembered that. And then he said
~ I, asked if I had told him at that time about the fact that after the
o meetings in the Attorney General’s office in January and February
197~, did I come back to report these meetings to Haldeman, and
.d him yes, I had. And he said, well, Petersen is quite concerned about
~t: that Haldeman didn’t turn them over: and there was some disss~on about that.
He also, as I testified in the Senate, at one point asked me about
ddy, and I suggested that he might tell Petersen that if Liddy
~n~ed a signal to start talking, because the prosecutors had told me in
eir dealings with me that Liddy had, indeed., informally talked to
~,m.

Now, whether in retrospect this was merely a prosecutor’s technique
whether in-fact it happened, I don’t know. I assume it has not
ppened.
But, when they ~id that, I remember my counsel ~umped up and
said "well, Goal damn, that’s great. Let him keep talking, you know,
far as my client is concerned, let him talk." And we were hopeful
~t Liddy ~,as talking to them.
Fie says he might not have said "God damn".
Anyway, I suggested to the President that he might give Petersen
~ word that if Marolis, who was Liddv’s attorney, would like to
[k to the President. maybe the President’himself ought to meet with
¯ rolis, and then Marolis would have no doubt that¯ it was coming
sm the highest authority and that if Liddv was looking for this type
signal, this might prompt Liddv to tell ~vervthing he knew.
The President agreed, and he said you preteAd like ~ou’re not hero
d I will call ttenrv Petersen. And ~o then he placed ~ call to Peter~ and there was this conversation with Petersen where .he we~t
cough this with Petersen. And then we were returned to our conver51on.

Mr. S~mzm~o. Point of clarification, Mr. Chairman. The wituess
id that the President went through this with Petersen. It is unclear
me what that means.
Mr. DE.~~. Well, excuse me, Congressman. He went through my
~ffestion that Marolis himself could be tokl that if he wanted to
~et with the President that that could be worked out. I don’t recat!
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the specifics of it. The concept was, ~hough, my idea was to tell, get
the message to Liddy directly from Marolis, and maybe a trip into
the oval office would impress upon Mr. Marolis the fact that he had th~
highest signal that he could get.
Mr. Doam What other matters did you discuss with the President
Mr. Dza~. Well, there were--well, without reading all of my Senate
testimony, I am ~ust again going through the highlights of it, there
was discussion about the fact that the President told me, he said you
know, when I said that it would be no problem to raise a million ~olJars I was only joki.ng and he sort of made, you know, a laugh and
said that this was, you know, ~ust a joking ma~ter.
Toward the end of the convers~t~’on I recall that he got up out
his chair and went ¯over to sort of the corner of the office, around his
chair which is over in one corner of the office, he went up around over
behind it, and he folded his arms and looked over at me and he said
"John," h.e said, "I guess I was ~oolish to talk to Colson about clemency for TIunt?" And I didn’t make any comment at the time and
the conversation ended shortly thereafter and I recall he made som~
remarks to the effect to say h’~llo to your pretty wife and I thanked
him ~or that, and I said to him~ in a very serious moment, he was
walking into his little anteroom, off of his office there and I was walking out the d~or at the other room, ~nd I said "Mr. President, I
hope this is handled right so it doesn’t result in the impeachment of
the President."
And he said, "Well~ John, I guarantee.
.you it will be handled rig
And that was the end of the meeting, and I lef~ on that note.
Mr. Do,~m Let me ask you this, did you have any conversation abouf
Mr. Haldeman and Mr. Ehrlichman ?
Mr. I)~A~. There was a conversation I mentioned and-Mr. DoAm Specifically with respect to information, whether or not
vou had furnished information to Mr. Haldeman or Mr. Ehrlichman
~hroughout the period of time following the Watereate break-in
Mr. DEAN. Yes, there was. There was a general discussion. I carmot
at this time recall all of the specifics as to the areas that he was interested in. It seemed that he was eliciting information regarding my
knowledge on these areas, and I was reporting them to him.
Mr. D0~m And did you notice whefher or not the President made
notes ?
~Vfr. DE~. I believe he had a pad in his lap, and he did make some
notes during that conversation, yes. They were very minor notes, but
he did make some notes in the pad on his lap.
Mr. DoAm That’s ~ll the questions I have, Mr. Chairman.
The C~IAImv~A~. I believe we will recess at this time until 9 o~clock
this afternoon.
[Whereupon. at 19:90 the hearing was recessed to reconvene at
p.m. this same day.]
Arr~.~oo~ s~ssm~
The C~IAIa~tA~. The committee will come to order.
Mr. Edwards, you w~l! take the chair.
Mr. EDWARDS [presiding] Mr. St. Clair.
Mr. ST. C~Am. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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TESTIMONY OF AOHlq DEAN--Eesumed
Mr. ST. CLAIR. Mr. Dean, I believe you have testified that Mr’.
O’Brien came to see you on--about, late in the afternoon of March 19.
Mr. DEAN. That is my recollection, yes sir.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. And that is on a Monday ?
Mr. DEAN. That is~orrect.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. Did you make any notes or diary or log entries that
would reflect that visit ?
Mr. DEAN. NO. I have not. The only reflection I can think would be
of a documentar~ nature would be the fact that he was cleared into
my office, which would require the clearance through the UPS.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. Well, you made no notes ?
Mr. D~AN. No, I did not.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. Mr. O’Brien had come to see you on a number of
occasions, had he not, during the period, let’s say the first 6 months
of 1973 ?
Mr. D~.~r. Yes.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. Did you understand from what Mr. O~Brien told you
that he had talked with Mr. Hunt on the previous Friday ?
Mr. DEAN. That is my understanding, yes.
~hMr. ST. CLAIR. Are you sure that Mr. O’Brien didn’t indicate that
o had just finished talking to Mr. Hunt and ca.me over to see you
directly’from Mr. Bittman’s office ?
Mr. "DEAN. I recall him saying something to the effect that he had
been unable to reach me over the weekend and that had surprised me,
because I had been av~lable over the weekend.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. Well, now, I wonder if you would answer my
question.
Did Mr. O’Brien indicate in any form of words to you that he had
just left Mr. Bittman;s office and came directly to your office
Mr. D~N. No, he did not.
Mr. S~. CLAIR. I see.
In fact, it is your memory that he told you that he had talked with
Hunt on the previous Friday ?
Mr. DEAN. That is correct.
Mr. Sw. CLAIR. Have you reviewed Mr. O’Brien’s testimony before
this committee with anyone ?
Mr. Dv~N. No ~ir, only tothe extent of what has been published in
tho oaper.
Mr. S~. CLAIR. You haven’t talked about it with anyone $
Mr. D~.A~. Not in any specificity, no.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. With whom have you talked about Mr. O’Brien~s
testimony to any--other than your own counsel, a~ny specificity
Mr. DEAN. I was asked if I recalled meeting with him on a Friday
after, as you had said it, he had come directly from Hunt’s office, with
~and told him no, I did not recall it that way; to the contrary~
I rh-Shll the fact that it had been on a Monday.
Mr. Sw. CLAIR. My question was with whom did you discuss it othe~
than your counsel ?
Mr. Sn^wEm Mr. Chairman. he said Mr. Doar.
~r. ST. CLaiR. I am sorry. I didn’t hear that.

Mr. D~N. Yes, I did.
Mr. Sw. C~.AIR. I am sorry. "
Now, as I understand it, you told him in substance that you were
out of the money business, is that right ? In part ?
Mr. DEAN. Yes.
You are talking,about Mr. O’Brien ~
Mr. ST. C~A~. x es.
Mr. D~.AN. Yes.
Mr. Sw. CLAIR. This is now, you say, on Monday, sort of late in
day~
Mr. D~N. That is correct.
Mr. S~. C~. And do you have available to you or your ~o~nsel
e _transcripts of eight recorded Presidential conversations published
y the committee?
Mr. D~A~. Yes, I do.
Mr. ST. C~,(m. Would you turn to page 91 ?
Directing your attention to the paragraph at the bottom of the
page, do you see where it says "I toldthis re]law O~Brien’~
Mr. D~N. Yes, I do.
¯
Mr. ST. C~Am. Is that an .accurate quotation of what you ~old Mr.
O’Brein; namely, you came--"All right, you came to the wrong man,
fellow. I am not involved in the money. I don’t know a thing al~out it,
can’t help you. You had better scramble ’around elsewhere."
Is.that wh~t you told Mr. O’Brien ?
Mr. D~N. Well, I don’t kn~w who put the quotations in there. That
is un accurate characterization of the conversation~ ,yes.
Mr. ST. C~rm That is, did you say ?
Mr. D~A~. Yes; I believe it is.
Mr. ST. C~.~m. And if Mr. O’Brien said ~hat no such words were
spoken, he is mistaken ?
Mr. D~A~. Would you repeat that~ please ?
Mr. ST. CLAra. I~ Mr. O’Brien testified that no such words were
spoken to him by you, he is mistaken ?
Mr. DEAN. Those precise words .~
Mr. ST. C~A~. No; such words, words to that effeot?
Mr. D~A~. Yes, he is. I talked ~o himMr. ST. C~An~. All right.
Mr. D~.AN [continuing]. As I have testified today.
Mr. ST. CLAm. All right.
So you say you did strike ~hose words or ~heir substance to Mr.
O’Brien ]ate in the afternoon of the 19th ?
Mr. D~AN. I think that is an uccura~ characterization of the compressed ~orm of the conversation, yes.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. And this is, of course, wha~ you reported to the
President on the morning of March 21 ?
Mr. D~AN. Correct.
Mr. ST. C~,AIR. And I take it that you believed ~nd that you intended the President to believe ~h~t you had turned Mr. OrBrien off,
in effect ?
Mr. DEAN. I had told him I was not in the money business, that is

~h

Mr. ST. CLAIR. Well, now, you also had a meeting with Mr. LaRue
on the morning of the 21st, did you not ?
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l~Ir. DEAN. I have not been able to put a precise da~ on it, I recall
that the meeting occurred just before I did meet with the Presiden~
on the morning of the 21st.
"
Mr. ST. CLAra Well, would you say--what is your best memory as to
when you met with Mr. LaRue and dealt with this same subject matter
of a payment to Mr. Hunt ?
Mr. DEAN. Well, I believe, as I have testified, I think that was probably, it could have happened on the morning of the 21st. I don’t---Mr. ST. CLAm. IS that your best memory ?
Mr. Dv.AN. I don’t have a good memory of it, Mr. St. Clair.
~,~r. ST. CLAIR. You don’t have a good memory of this event ?
Mr. DF~r. Of the meeting ~.
Mr. ST. CLara. With Mr. LaRue ?
Mr. DEA~. Or of the timing of the meeting ?
Mr. ST. CLAra. Well, do you have a memory at all of the time of
the meeting with Mr. LaRue .~
]~r. DF~~. Yes, I have a recolhction of the meeting, but not the timing of the meeting.
Mr. ST. CLAra. YOU do agree it was before you met with the President on the morning of the 21st ?
Mr. DEAN. I believe that Js correct, yes.
Mr. ST. CLAIm All right. Can you help us, when, to the best of your
knowledge, did you have this ~neeting with Mr. LaRue ~.
Mr. D~.~N. Well, that, as I have testified, I just cannot say. I don’t
have an accurate memory of it.
Mr. ST. Cr~ra. I would like to ask you a little bit about your memory. Do you have a good memory ?
Mr. DEAN. I would say it is a good memory, yes.
Mr. Sr. CLAra. Well, when you testified before the Senate Committ~, you indicated you had a very good memory, didn’t you ?
Mr. D~’AN. I believe I indicated I had a good memory, but it was not
a tape recorder.
Mr. Sw. CLAra. Do you remember telling a Senator--Mr. SItAFFER. Could I have, the.page, please ~
Mr. ST. CLAra. Yes, book IV, page 1438.
Mr. DF~N. I recall a reference--Mr. ST. CLAra. Please, I haven’t finish~,d the question :
I think I have a good memory. I think that anyone who recalls my student
years knew that I was very fast at recalling information, retaining information.
I was the type of student who didn’t have to work very hard in ~hool becau.~e
I have, I do have a memory that I think is good.

Now, is that your appraisal of your memory ?
Mr. D~\~’. Yes, sir.
Mr. ST. CLAra. NOW, what is your best memory as to when you met
with Mr. LaRue to di~uss a payment .to Mr. Hunt ?
Mr. DEAN. I will stand on ~s I have just testified.
Mr. ST. C~Ara. You can’t tell us whether it was on the 21st or the
20th ?
Mr. D~h.~-. That is correct.
Mi. H~No,~. Mr. Chairman. I believe, as I sit he~e, that he has
answered that question maybe twice. Now.. I know that be answered
the call about whether he made one on Friday or not, the same

question, approximate!y twice. And some of these others, I don’t see
what w~ gain by excessive repetition with the witness.
Mr. E~ ~VAgDS. Thank you., Mr. Hungate.
You may proceed.
Mr. DESN~S. Mr, Chairman.
Mr. EDWARDS. Mr. Maraziti.
Mr. MAR~Z~T~. I think if we are going to allow Mr. St. Clair to
examine, he should have the full right to examine fully. We ~nust
admit that Mr. Dean is a ver~ imuortant witness and I don’t think
the right of examination of Mr. St. Clair should be circumscribed.
Mr. HUN~AT~. Mr. Chairman, I certainly do not want to circumscribe it. I just get a little caught up when the same question comes
hy two or three or four times. ¯
Mr. EDWARDS. Thank you.
You may proceed, Mr. St. Clair.
Mr. ST. ~Ara. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Well, now, you say whenever it was you met with Mr. LaRue, he
came to your office.
Mr. DF~N. That is my recollection, yes.
Mr. ST. CLAra. As ~ result of a telephone call, is that correct~
Mr, D~N. I said that was entirely possible.
Mr. ST. CLAra. Do you have a memory of that ~ Mr. D~AN. No, I do not.
Mr. ST. CL~R. But you do have a memory of him coming to your
office?
Mr. DEAN. Yes, sir, I do.
Mr. ST. CLAim Sitting opposite your desk ?
Mr. D~AN. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAra. And you had a conversation with him with respect
~o ]~r. Hunt’s demands ?
l~Ir. DF~N. A very brief conversation, yes.
Mr. ST. C~ra. Well, how brief ? How long did it last ?
Mr. DF~N. I would not say it lasted 3 or 4 minutes.
Mr. ST. CLAra. Who initiated this contact with Mr. LaRue ?
Mr. DEAN. Well, when Mr. LaRue came to my office, he came of
his own volition.
Mr. ST. CLAra. I understand, but did you initiate a call to him or
some other communication that resulted in his coming to your office ?
Mr. DEx~. I believe I have testified that that is entirely possible,
yes. I don’t have a recollection of it, though.
Mr. Sw. Cu~ra. Isee.
Well, you had certain information that you wanted to impart to
him, did you not ?
Mr. D~A~-. My memory of it is that he Came seeking informai;ion
from me as to ~;hat I was going to do about the demand-that had been
made and I told him that I didn’t plan to do anything about it.
l~Ir. ST. CLAra. Where did you nnderstand he learned of this demand ~
Mr. DEAN. I presumed he had learned it from Mr. O’Brien.
Mr. ST. CL~R. Did Mr. O’Brien tell you that?
Mr. D~A~. He did not..
Mr. ST. CLAra. Did Mr. LaRue tell you that?
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Mr. DzA~~. The discussion was not that long.
Mr. ST. CLAm. I take it the answer is no.
Mr. DF~. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAm. All right.
Does that refresh your recollection that you sought out Mr. LaRue
to impart this information to him
Mr. DF~. No, it does not.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. Do you deny that you sought him out to give him
this information ?
Mr. DF~’. No, I do not.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Thank you.
And you informed him that you had had a demand or a request for
money from Mr. Hunt, did you not
Mr. DEA~~. He asked--the meeting I recall, he. asked me what I
was going to do about Mr. Hunt’s demand.
Mr. ST. CLAm. It is your testimony, then, that he initiated the discussion regarding this demand
Mr. DEA.W. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAm. And not you
Mr. S~AFFEa. May he finish his answer
Mr. ST. CLam. Of course. I don’t mean to cut you off. I had only
requested you answer the question.
Let’s start again, then.
Is it your testimony that he initiated the subject of the payment to
Hunt in the course of this meeting or that you did
Mr. DEA.W. In the meeting I recall, where he came to my office, he
~ked me what I was going to do about ~r. Hunt’s demand.
Mr. ST. CLAXa. DO you recall in the conversation you had with him,
if you had one, by telephone that you told him initially about this
conversation ~ With Hunt ?
Mr. D~m~’. I am sorry, I do not recall that telephone call, but I am
~ot saying that it may not ha~e happened.
Mr. Sw. CLAm. Well, in any event, you had a discussion regarding
these payments, right .~
Mr. DEA.’~’. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAm. And you told him that--well, you tell us what yoa
told him.
Mr. D~,~.~-. I just went through that. Do you want me to repeat it
again ?
Mr. ST. C~m. If you don~t mind.
Mr. DF~. ~rhen Mr. LaRue arrived in my office, he asked me what
I was going to do about these demands and I told him that I didn’t
plan to do anything, that I was not in the money busineas.
He said, what do you think
And I said, I think you ought to get hold of John Mitchell.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. And what did he then say
Mr. DEA~. He said fine and left the office.
Mr. ST. CLAm. And that is the sum total of it
Mr. D~A~. That is the sum total of my recollection of the
yes.
Mr. ST. CLAim Well, now, shortly, or sometime after that meetin
with Mr. LaRue, you met. with the President of the United States,
you not ?

Mr. D~A~. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAm. You did not tell the President of the United StaCks
of this meeting with Mr. LaRue, did you
Mr. D~,a~. During the morning meeting on the 21st
Mr. ST. CL~rm That is right.
Mr. D~. I don~t recall that I did~ no.
Mr. S~. CLa~. You didn’t tell the President of the United States
that you had referred Mr. LaRue---down here it sounded like a question. May I continue ?
Mr~ B~oo~s. Please do.
Mr. S~. CLara. And you didn’t., certainlv, tell the President that you
had suggested that Mr. LaRue might well
Mr. DEA~. That is correct. Wasit a
Mr. ST. C~m. Was there some mason why you did not want the
President to know that you had suggested that LaRue go see Mitchell
Mr~ SH~F~m My witness had a question that Mr. St. Clair drowned
out with his question and I would like my witness please to ask his
question on the record.
Mr. EDWAImS. Mr. St. Clair, would you please ask the question again
Mr. ST. CLAI1L I think Mr. Dean wanted to ask the question.
Mr. DF~:~: I was trying to get a clarification, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. EvW~Ds. Mr. Dean.
Mr. DEA~. YOU were referring to the morning meeting or the meeting in the afternoon with the President?
Mr. ST. CLA~. The m~rning meeting
Mr. D~A~. The morning meeting.
Mr. S~, CLAn~. Yes. And if you met with Mr. LaRue on the morning of the 21st, it would be within a matter of an hour or so that
you met with the President of the United States, is that right
Mr. D~. Yes.
Mr. S~. CLAm. That is right. And if you met with him on’ the
day before, it would have been within a day of the meeting with the
President of the United~ States.
Mr. DsA~. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAm. DO yOU have any reason why that you can tell us
you told the President about the meeting with Mr. O~Brien but not
the meeting with Mr. LaRue ?
"
iVfr. DF.~. Well~ if we take the entire meeting of the 21st in context,
which is the only way I can take it, I was trying to give the President a broad overview of the entire situation and I have to also go
back to my conversation with him the night before as to what
was trying to do and why I was trying to do it.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Did you tell him about Mr. LaRue~s visit the night
before?
Mr. D~. I don’t recall that I did, no.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Did you tell him about Mr. LaRue’s visit on the
afternoon of the 21st of March .~
Mr. DF.A~. In the afternoon, the question came up and I recall a
reference, upon reading the transcript, that I had not spoken with
LaRue since the morning meeting.
Mr. ST. CLam. Well, in fact, what you said was you hadn t talked
with either Mitchell or I~aRue. Isn’t that right
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Mr. DF~N. Since the morning meeting.
Mr. ST. C .L~IR. It does not happen to show since the morning meeting
in the transcript, does it ~
Mr. DEAN. NO, but that is what the reference is clearly
Mr. ST. C~m. So you say.
Mr. DE~r. So I testify, yes.
Mr. ST. CLAn~ All right.
I am curious to know why you felt you should not tell the President about your meeting with Mr. LaRue~
Mr. D~AN. Well, I am sure that there are a lot of things in the
course of the conversation where I was trying to give the President a
general overview and I didn’t get into every single specific. I can
think of countless other specifics that I didn’t get into at the time
of the meeting~
[Material unrelated to testimony of witness deleted.]
Mr. ST. CLAm. When you testified before the Senate committee,
do you recall telling .the committee that on March 21, you told the
President everything you knew at that time--this woul~ be at page
1078. Do you recall that?
Mr. DEAN. I am sorry, I don"t have that page in this volume.
Mr. EDWARDS. I think this would be a good time to recess for 10
mimites for a vote, final passage of the disability amendments bill.

[Recess.]

Mr. EnwAPms. You may proceed.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Mr. Chairmau, what’s your desire ? Shall I try to
reconstruct or just go ahead?
Mr. EDWARDS. Would you reconstruct, please, Mr. St. Clair?
Mr. ST. CLAm. All right.
Mr. Dean, in order to shorten this up a little bit,-can we agree that
in your testimony before the Senate Select Committee., your testimony
identified the m~etin~ with the President on March 13 as the meeting
in which you told him about Mr. Hunt’s demands in fact took place
on March 21 ?
Mr. Dn~N. Again as I believe I answered, although I phrased it a
little differently this time, upon reviewing the transcript of the 13th "
and the 21st, i~ appears that. what I had the impression occurred on
the 13th did occur on the 21st. However, I still have the., harbor the
impression and the recollection that. I had discussed money with the
President precedin~ the 21st.
Mr. ST. CLArm You can’t fix any specific conversation as to time
and place?
Mr. DEA~’. NO, sir, I cannot.
Mr. ST. CLarm It, is just an impression of yours?
Mr. D~A.w. Well, in preparin~ my Senate testimony, I had many
imnressions which I did not testify to.
Mr. Sw. CLAm. Well, I am sure you have reviewed the transcript
of March 217
Mr. D~AN. Yes, I have.
Mr. ST. CLara. And you recall early on in the conversation saying
words to the President ~.o the ~ffect that you wanted to let him know
some thin~s that you knew that you thought he did not know, or
word~ to that effect?

Mr. DF~N. That is again a rephrase of a question a little differently,
and X am answering ~t that given the conversation I had with the
President on the pre~ing ev~ning~ given the fact that I had met with
Ehrlichmun just before he went to the President’s office, ~iven the
fact that I saw John Ehrlichman coming out of the Presi~le~tt~ office
just before I went in, I had the impression that the President was
aware of the fact that Mr. Hunt had made a demand even before
I walked in the office.
Mr. ST. CLAn~. YOU said to the President on page 80 ~ of the transcript, "I have the impression that you don’t know everything I know."
Do you recall that .~
Mr. DF~. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAm. And one of the things you recited to him under that
heading of things that he didn’t know that you know was Hunt’s demands, is that right ?
Mr. D~AN. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAI~. And later on, at page 100, you said, do you recall
this: "I know, sir, it is. Well, I can just tell from our conversations
that you know, these are things that you have no knowledge of."
Mr. DEAN. That is a reference to pre-June 17.
Mr. ST. CLAIR, Well.~
Mr. D~AN. And I think if you read it in context, you will find it is
such.

Mr. ST. C~a. All right. But this was--how about the conversation
wi.th Mr. Moore on the day before ? :Do you recall telling Mr. Moore in
substance, there are things the President does not know that I think he
ought to know, or words to that effect
Mr. DEAN. Yes, I did, and as I testified in the Senate, I hadn’t told
Mr. Moore all of the things I discussed with the President.
Mr. ST. CLAm. And you incidentally told others substantially the
same thing before you met with the President on the morning of the
21st ?
Mr. DEAN. For example ?
Yfr. ST. CL~R. Mr. Krogh.
Mr. D~N. No, I think what I recall telling Mr. Krogh is I think he
was getting,bad--the President’s advisers were doing him an injustice.
Mr. ST. CLAim And that you think you ought to give the President
some more information that you thought he didn’t have.
Mr. DF~. I thought the President ought to understand the implications of what was going on.
Mr. ST. CLAr~. I see. It was your view at that time that the President did not understand what you say were the implications of what
was going on.
Mr. DF.~N. As I testified, or as I told the President on the night of
the 20th in a telephone conversation, I thought that he should hear me
out in light of a conversation that. I had had with John Ehrlichman
and the fact that ,~ohn Ehrlichman had been down to his office after
that conversation so that he could judge for him~lf~ based on my
feelin.~ about the implications of all these, things in their broadest
context. That is a paraphrase, I think
~ See House Judiciary Committee "Transcrlvts of Eight Recorded Presidential Conversations" (hereinafter ’HJC Transcripts"), p. 80.
.
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Mr. ST. C~.An~ Yes; and he agreed to hear you out
Mr. DEAN. Yes; he did.
.
Mr. ST. CLAm. And you said, now, Mr. President, in substance,
th.ink there are things you ought to know and understand the implications of, and you began to recite them, didn’~ you
Mr. DF~N. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAI~. Thank you.
t oNow:,si.r,
wi.thout
going throu_gh
that entire as
conversation,
is it fair
say ma~ at
the conclusion
of the conver~tion
far as any payment
to Hunt was concerned, nothing was resolved and the matter was left
hanging .~
Mr. DEAN. Well, I have got to answer your question this way: As
far as the raising of any money was concerned, that was certainly left
hanging. As I so testified in the Senate.
As far as-my own involvement in having to do anything about the
money, I had gone in with the intent of trying to turn off the payment
to Hunt. I came out, having been turned around as far as the c~esirability or not desirability of doing that, that indeed, the President felt
was desirable, but I knew I had nothing or had the impression I
ad nothing to do with it and would not have any responsibility for it.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. Do you recall testifying on page 1423 of book IV
"And the money matter was left very much hanging at that meeting.
Nothing was resolved."
Do you recall testifying to that ?
Mr. DEAN. Yes, with regard to
Mr. ST. CLAm. Is that the truth?
Mr. DEAN. Yes, it is. With regard to the raising of a million dollar~
I didn’t think there was anything resolved as to how to raise a million
dollars.
Mr. ST, CLAIR. It says, "The money matter was left very much hang
ing and nothing was resolved." Is that the truth ?
Mr. DEA~. I will stand on my last answer, Mr. St. Clair.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Well, is the sentence "Nothing was ~solved" the
tn~th ?
Mr. DE~. The question is what I was referring to in the Senate, and
if you read that in context, you will recall I was talking about how to
raise a million dollars, not whether to pay or not to pay a demand.
Ms. HOLTZ~AI~. Mr. St. Clair, what page are you on
Mr. ST. CLAm. 1423 of book IV, Ms. Holtzman.
Ms. HOLTZ~AI~. Thank you.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. Was the matter of paying anything to Mr. Hunt resolved to any further extent in the afternoon meeting that you attended with the President on the 21st ?
Mr. DEAN. You are asking me based on my review of the tapes?
Mr. ST. CLaiR. Your memory based on any source it has been refreshed by.
Mr. DE~. I still had the same impression that I had no responsibility for raising money or paying any demands.
M~-. ST. CLAIR. And you had informed the President that Mr.
O’Brien had been, in effect, turned off by you, told to go elsewhere~
that you were out of the business, right ?
Mr. DEAN. I don’t believe I Said that.I believe that I said in the

~
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afternoon meeting that LaRue and Mitchell were aware of his--referring to Hunt’s--feelings about it~ and that this was---Mr. ST. CLAIR. I .am talking about the morning, I am sorry. It was
a poor question.
In the morning~ you told the President in substance that you turned
O~Brien off ?
Mr. DF~. I had told him I was out of the money business, yes.
thMr.
ST.had
C~Im
told
the President
in the
afternoon
at you
not Right.
talked And
with you
either
LaRue
or Mitchell,
and
you say
you meant since the morning meeting.
Mr. DEAx. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Thank you.
Now, sir, before you went to the afternoon meeting at which the
President attended on the 21st, you told us this morning that you met
with Mr. Ehrlichman and Mr. ~ia]deman before you went in to see the
President; is that right ?
Mr. DEA~. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAm. And you had a discussion with them about the situation, did you not ?
Mr. I)F~N. Which situation are you referring to~ please~
Mr. ST. CLAIR. Well, the situation posed by Mr. Hunt’s demands.
Mr. DF~. Well, I think it was broader than that~
:Mr. ST. CLAim Well~ I am sure it w~s, but you had a discussion with
them about that broad subject matter that was involved in part in
Hunt’s demands.
Mr. D~A~. About the continuing of the coverup.
Mr. ST. CLAxP, Right.
Mr. D~A~. And how to get the President out in front ofit.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Right. I was a little more interested in your testimony
this morning that there was a suggestion that maybe we could get Mr.
Mitchell to come in and plead guilty on this, or words to that effect.
Do you recall that ?
Mr. DF~. Yes, I do.
Mr. ST. CLAm. And you said that was most appealing to you, did you
not?
Mr. DF~. I don~t believe I testified to that.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. Was this a suggestion between you, Haldeman~ and
Ehrlichman, that maybe you could pin this on Mr. Mitchell ? "
Mr. D~. I believe it was a review of what we are going to do now
that we are in this situation, and I don’t think we ever~
Mr. ST. CLAIR. What did you mean---excuse me, I don’t mean to cut
you off.
Mr. D~N. Well, the problem had always been Mr. Haldeman and
Mr. Ehrlichman had not wished to talk with Mr. Mitchell. No one
would sit down and talk amongst one another and I was the conduit
between them. One gT0Up would tell me to do one thing, the other would
say to do the other thing. It was time to sit down and figure out how
to deal with this problem.
The sympathy at the White House--and I believe I was trying to
convey the fact that the White House jus~ should not be continued in
the coverup--was to possibly, if Mr. Mitchell would stand up and be
accounted ~or, that the postactivities would be ignored. That is when I
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had my conversation with Mr. Haldeman a~bout drawing the wagons
around the White House and the like, as ~Ir. I-Ialdeman had always had
the strong feeling that but for the White House having to help out the
committee, the White House would not have any problems.
Mr. ST. CLAIm And that would include you ?
Mr. DEAN. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CL~n~ So that you suggested in substa_nce if you o~d_ d onl.y
get Mr. Mitchell to assurae the responsibility, at least you and maybe
~he others could go free, is that it .~
Mr. D~AN. I tl~ink there was a mutuality of understanding that that
might avoid the problem and avoid the problems it might create for
the President as well.
Mr. ST. CLAn~ I see.
Then you went in to see the President ?
Mr. DEAN. That is correct.
]~[r. ST. CLAn~. Now, do you recall testifying before the Senate co_mmittee that while in this~meeting on the afternoon of March 21, in the
President’s presence, you directly accused Mr. Ehrlichman and Mr.
ttaIdeman of obstruction of justice in the presence of the President ?
Mr. I)m~. I recall that testimony, yes.
Mr. ST. C~.Arm I-Iave you reviewed the transcript of the afternoon
meeting with the President~.
Mr. D~. Yes, I have.
Mr. ST. C~Am. Do you observe, as I do, there is no such conversatioff?
Mr. D~A~. I observe that it appears that the first part of the transcript is missing, or the first part of the conversation is missing.
Mr. ST. CLAm. I see..My question was, Do you observe in the transcript there is no such conversation ?
Mr. D~A~. In the transcript that is published, that appears to be
the case, yes. There are indirect references to it in that Mr. Ehr]ich~
man makes a rather snide remark to me that counsel here reads the
statutes that, and reference of that, that would indicate that it mig]it
well have occurred prior to the point that these transcripts pick up.
Mr. ST. CLA~. NOW, sir, on the morning of the 22d, you met with
~V[r..Mitchell and Mr. Ehrlichman and Mr. I-I~]dcman.
Mr. D~A~. Correct~
Mr. ST. CLAIR. And you have testified that Mr. Mitchell said something about not having to worry about I-Iunt anymore.
Mr. D~.~N. Well, I testified that Mr. Ehrlichman raised the question.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. It would be a lot easier if you would just answer yes
or no, if you cou|d. You know, time marches.
M~r. D~A~. I understand.
ST. CLAre. Thank you.
DF..AN. But I want the committee to have the.~ull information I
have.

I ~ather that. ~N~ow, just answer the quest.ion.
DEA~. Would you re~eat the question.
S~AFrER. I object, .Mr. Chairman.
Mr. EDWARDS. Mr. St. Clair, wil! you repeat the question, please?
Sta~ over a~ain.
5Ir. ST. CLAIR. ]~fy only point is, Mr. (T~.nairmam the answers have
been very extensive and to a ~reat extent not responsive. But I will not,
raise the point. I will go ahead.
l~¢fr.. CLAIR.

Mr. Smu~m~ I would like to note my ob.jection to Mr. St~ Clair’s
conclusion that t’he answers are not responsive. That is in his opinion
and I would like the record to reflect that.
Mr. F~DWAl~S. Very good.
~r. HUNGAT~. Mr. (~hairman, I was here yesterd~a, y and I find them
to be so responsive as to be unbelievable in comparison.
Mr. EDWAm)s. Mr. Chairman, would you pose your question.
Mr. D~soN. Point of order.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. I apologize. I am sorry.
l~r. EnWA~DS. Mr. Danielson.
]~~r. DANIF.LSON. I have not heard the answer. I feel that in order to
discharge my constitutional duties, I need that answer badly and I
would be prejudiced in making my judgraent if I didn’t hear the entire
answer. Itherefore request that we hear the answer.
Mr. EnwAm~s. The Chair has requested Mr. ’St. Clair to pose the
question once again.
Mr. ST. CLAn~ And I must apologize. May it be read ~. I don~ recall
the question.
Mr. DF~AN. I can save time. I recall the question and the answer I was
going to give.
Mr. E~WAP~S. Is that satisfactory, Mr. St. Clair?
Mr. S~. C~n~ Yes.
Mr. D~m The ques~on was~ Did Mr. Ehrlichm~n say .there would be
no problem with regard to Hunt’s demand ? The answer was yes he did
so respond. Mr. Mitchell responded in that manner after Mr. Erlichman had raised it very early on in the meeting.
Mr. F~DWAPd)S. Very. good.
¯
Proceed, Mr. St. Clair.
Mr..ST. CLAm. ~OW, sir, did you report this fac~ to the President
when you met with the President that afternoon ?
Mr. DF~A~. With Er]ichman and Mr. PIaldeman ?
Mr. ST. C~A~ Yes.
~[r. DEAN. I~TO, I did not. I was not in a reporting posture in that
meeting, if you will note the transcript.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Well, did Mr. Ehr]ichman, in your presence, or Mr.
Haldeman, tell the President about it ?
Mr. DEAN. In my presence, they did not.
Mr. ST. CL~Jm You were able to talk about such matters. I mean, no
one put a gag on you, did they ~
Mr. D~AN. The question came up.
You are talking about the afternoon of the 21st ?
Mr. ST. CLAIR. That is right, when you and the President were
to~ether.
Mr. DEA~. That conversation had occurred on the mornin~ of the
C22d, so it would be impossible to report it on the afternoon of the 21st.
Mr. ST. CLA.~m I am sorry. I misspoke.
Directing your attention to the afternoon of the 22d, you were with
the President ?
’Mr. DEAN. Right.
Mr. Sw. CLAre. Participating in the conversation. Were you alarmed
~u~ the ~act that. apparently $75,000 had been paid to Mr. Hunt?
Mr. D~A~. No, sir, i was not. That was not the first time something
like that had happened.
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Mr. ST. CLAn~ So you weren’t alarmed at that fact ?
Mr. D~AN. No sir.
Mr. ST. CL~rm I thought you said :[ou had determined to stop this.
Mr. I)~AN. I had determined that.I was not going to be involved in it
and .I.was going to, I tried to persuade and advise the President that it
should not be done.
Mr. ST. CL~. You tried to persuade the President that it should
not be done, right !
Mr. I)F~N. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAn~ All right. And then
Mr. I)F~N. I might add, though, that the President had persuaded me
to the contrary by the time I left the meeting.
Mr. ST. Ca~. Well, now, Mr. Chairman, in all fairness, that is a
gratuitous answer, not responsive, and I ask that it be struck.
Mr. PIvNGAT~. Mr. Chairman, that is the result of asking the same
question twice in a row.
If the Clerk will read the question.
Mr. EDWARDS. Mr. St. Clair, the Chair rules that the answer shall
remain in. It is not that important.
Mr. ST. CLam. Well, in any event, sir, you did not tell the President
when you wer~ with him on the 25d of this apparent payment, did
you ?
Mr. DEAN. The subject of the conversation was entirely different and
I did not raise it, no.
Mr. ST. CLAm. All right. And no one else did in your presence ?
Mr. DEAN. Not in my presence~ no.
Mr. ST. CLam. Although you and Mr. Ehrlichman and Mr. Ha]deman, and you say Mr. Mitchell, had discussed it that very morning~
Mr. DF~N. There had been a fleeting reference, that is correct.
Mr. ST. CLam. And it was a reference that indicated to you that the
payment had been made ?
Mr. DEAN. That iscorrect.
Mr. ST. CL~n~ And you were not alarmed by that ?
Mr. DEAN. No sir.
Mr. ST. CLam. Now, ~vas it during the course of the afternoon of
3~arch 22 that you had a discussion involving the claiming of executive privilege in the upcoming ]~rvin committee hearings?
Mr. DEAN. Yes sir.
Mr. ST. C~.Am. Thos~ hcarings had not yet commenced, had they ?
Mr. DEAN. No sir.
¯ Mr. Sw. CLAm. There had been a number of discussions, I think you
have told us this morning, but executive privilege in relation to these
upcoming hearings ?
Mr. DF~N. Yes, there had been.
Mr. ST. CLam. Had the President made a statement with regard to
tbat~.
Mr. DEAN. He had issued a statement, that is correct.
Mr. ST. CLArm And what was the thrust of the statement, if you can
recall ?
Mr. DEAN. The statement said in effect that no present or former
members of the White House staff would be permitted to testify, on
matters that fell within the general parameters of executive privilege.

Mr. ST. CLam. And this had been a plan for some period of time
prior to ]Y[arch 22 ?
Mr. DEAN. Yes, it had.
Mr. ST. CLara. How long would you say the plan had .been to e~ert
executive privilege with respect to these hearings ?
Mr. DEAN. Well, I believe it was first discussed at LaCosta. There
were discussions after that when Mr. Moore began drafting the statement. Others were working on it. The statement evolved. At one point,
there was no refererme to former members of the White House staff.
Mr. Colson got word of that, got quite exercised about it, talked to
me. I presume he talked to Mr. Ehrlichman ’based.on the conversations
I subsequently had with Mr. Ehrlichman. It was decided to expand
the statement to include former White House staff. There .were .a lot
of people involved in the preparation and finality of the statement. It
~vent over a several-week period.
I can recall when Senator Baker came down to meet with the President, I was asked to rush down to the EOB office and provide a copy
of the draft, as it was in that status at .t.,hat .time. I a~n trying to think
of the day of that meeting. It was in ]~ ebruary--I would s~y maybe
February 20, somewhere around there.
Mr. ST, C~m. So the plan was to not participate _by permitting
White House personnel to testify, was not that about its.
Mr. DEAN. Well, the theory that had evolved was with a broad statement~ there would be a position of flexibility to negotiate back from
there and handle it in that manner.
Mr. ST. CUrAre. Mr. Mitchell expressed a contrary view on the meeting of the afternoon of March 22, did he not ?
Mr. DEAN. He thought that the President was getting bad public
relations on the matter.
Mr. Srr. CLam. And he felt that the President ought not to persist in
this plan, isn’t that right ?
~Y[r. DEAN. That is correct~ yes.
Well, he thought that it was~ you know--when the question c.a..me u.p
in the meeting, and you are familiar with the transcript, you will no~e
that the President a’~ked me what I thought about it, and I said I still
thought it was a good statement.
I-Ie asked Ehrllchman wha~ he thought about it. He thought it was
still a good statement and w~ agreed it was the position that gave the
President considerable flexil~ility.
Mr. ST. CL~m. But Mitchell had a different view.
Mr. DEAN. That is correctS.
Mr. ST. CL~rm Ultimately, the President almost 100 percent reversed
that view ~
Mr. D~AN. Ultimately, d~d he ?
Mr. ST. CLAm. Yes.
Mr. I)~AN. In what tim~!frame are you talking about
Mr. ST. CLAra. Well, ydtt were permitted to testify free of executive
privilege.
Mr. D~N. ~ lot of things ~appened between theMr. ST. Cram. I understaSd that.
Mr. D~AN [continuing]. ~he time of that and his waiving of executive privilege, yes.
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Mr. S~. ~. And you were even permitted to testify free of
~orney-client privilege.
Mr. DF~m Yea
Mr. SHAFF~. I would like to register an objection.
Mr. Enw~ms. Counsel.
Mr. SHAFFER. I would like the record to note that irrespective of
~at position the White House ever took on executive privilege or
~orney-client privilege, that Mr. Dean was prepared to testify in the
~nate and was prepared to take the position that there was no
~orney-c]ient privilege with respect to matters of public affairs and
at there was no executive privilege which bound
l~fr. Evw~a Counsel’s objection ~s noted.
Mr. St~ Clair, you may proceed.
Mr. ST. ~. Well, all right.
You had written a memorandum supporting executive privilege as
, basis for refusal, had you not ?
Mr.
DF~. I had written the memorandum ?
r. ST.
CLAm. Yes.
¯ D~AN. I am sure I wrote many memoranda on executive privilege
hile I was in the White House.
Mr. ST. CLAm. To shorten the thing up, when did the hearings start~
Mr. DEA~’. The Senate hearings?
Mr. ST. CLAr~-Ye~.
Mr. D~AN. When did I testify ~
Mr. ST. CLAn~ NO; when did they start, if you recall
Mr. DZAN. I think in May.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Of 1973 ~’
Mr. Dr~N. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAm. All right,
And during the course of those hearings, no executive privilege was
[erted by the President to anybody’s testimony, isn’t that right?
Mr. DEAN. That is correct, I believe¯
Mr. S~. C~m. Thank you.
Now, was there any discussion during the course of the me~tings,
~t’s say starting as early as March 21, about the possibility of White
louse people testifying before grand juries $
Mr. DF~N. Yes, there was.
Mr. ST. CLAm. And did you recommend that ~
Mr. DEAN. I recall when it first came up in the morning of the 21st,
said, that is one avenue, but the problem that I tried to point out
~that as far as I was concerned, if I went down there, I was going
) tell the truth and the feathers would start flying.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Did the President indicate that he felt that the call~g of a grand jury and testifying would be something that he would
refer?
Mr. Dr~N. The President never reached a definite ouinion on that.
ire vacillated back and forth and there was a lot of discussion about
hat. This was primarily Mr. Ehrlichman’s idea.
I talked to Mr. Ehrlichman and Mr. Ehrlichman had a different
erception of the testimony that might come out than I did.
Mr. ST. CLAr~. Wel!, the time came when ygu were asked to testify
efore a grand jury, were you not ?

~r

273
Mr. DzAN. When I was asked to testify before a grand jury
Mr. St. CLam. Yes.
Mr. D~.AN. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAm. DO you recall 1V~r. Ehrlichman, on or about March
30, conveying a message to you that the President wanted you to testify before a grand jury ~
Mr. DSA~. I can recall that while I was at Camp David, I received
a call from Mr. PIaldeman, who said, welt, if you go before the grand
ju_ry, w_hat will you t~stify to?
.
_ I told hi.m, be.cause they were talking a_bout putting a statement out
.th.at mor.n)ng.about D~an going her.ore the grand jury.. After I told
h)m the h~ghhg_hts of_some of the things I would testify to, suddenly
the statement about Dean going to the grand jury was not release~.
Mr. ST. CLAm. My question was do .you re_call Mr. Ehrlichman conveying a message to you that the Premdent desired that you go before
~he grandlry.’u
Mr. DF~. At what time, please ?
Mr. ST. CLAm. Near the end of March.
Mr. D~AN. I donk recall talking to anybody--oh, at the end of
March $
Mr. ST. CLAm. Yes.
Mr. D~AN. Yes, I do, because I remember when we were talking
about that, that I would be called before the grand jury, I told them
I thought I would be called and they asked me to go see Mr. Mitchell
and explain toMr. Mitchell that I was going to go to the grand jury.
I have submitted for the record in the Senate hearings a meeting I
had with Mr. Mitchell on April 10, where I told him that I thought
I would appear before the grand jury and that I had done that at Mr.
Erlichman’s and Mr. I-Ialdeman~s request, gone and told him that.
And indeed, I was prepared to go be.fore the grand jury.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Was it clear to you that at least as of that. date, the
President had determined that a~ least you should testify b~fore the
grand jury ?
Mr. DEA~. I didn’t get that from the President, no. I got that
from Mr. Ehrlichman.
Mr. ST. CLAX~. As a result of the message delivered to you by
Ehrlichman ?
Mr. D~A~. Yes; but I don’t recall him.saying that the President
wants youto go to the grand jury.
Mr. ST. CLAm. I see. Well, now~
Mr. DEA~. And I might add also that Mr. Ehrlichman, after that
~thecision ha.d been.made and I had related sq_m. e others, reported to me
at there ~s now ~ncreAible pressure--and this was in April--for you
not to go to the grand jury.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Well, at ]east as of the, end of March, you received
a message from Mr. Ehrlichman to the effect that there was a desire
that you go before the grand jury, is that right?
¯ M~. DF.A~. I told him I though~ I would be called before the gTand
jury and they were registering no objections at that time..
Mr. ST. CLA~P~ All right.
Now, during the period from March 22 until the end of March~
that is about a week to 8 days--you spent how long in Camp David
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Mr. D~.~.. I_went to Camp David on the afternoon of the 23(1. I
think I arrived at Camp David about midafternoon. I arrived at
Camp David in the afternoon of the 23d and was there until I was
called back by Mr. ttaldeman on the 27th or 28th, I think it was.
M~r. ST. ~L_Am. Now, you say ~hat while you were at Camp David,
you learned that someone wanted you to write some kind of a report~
the exact nature of which was not clear to you.
Mr. D~AN. Not someone, very specifically, Mr. ttaldeman called me.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. All right. And you spent some time in working on
such a report ?
Mr. DEAN. That is correct.
Mr. ST. C~,A~P. Did you ever produce such a report ~
Mr. DEAN. No; I told them I would not turn it over to them. I told
them I had not been able to complete it.
Mr. ST. CLAm. When did you deliver that message and to whom ?
Mr. DF~AN. I told them that I was working on it and after I had
retained counsel and I had noted a little different attitude toward me-in fact, every time I had raised testimonial areas with someone, their
reflection became very fuzzy~ their attitudes were very different, and
I decided I did not want to turn over the document I had prepared.
You asked me who asked for the document ?
Mr. ST. CLAm. To whom did you tell that you either could not or
would not furnish such a report ?
Mr. DF.AN. I recall telling Mr. Ehrlichman--I don~ know if I spoke
with Mr. Haldeman a~bout it or not. I remember Mr. Ehrlichmaa
called me from the west coast and asked me’to send whatever I had. I
said~ well, I hadn’t finished the Watergate part of it but I would send
him what I had on Segretti, which had been prepared by Dick Moore
and I said I hadn~ reviewed it.
He said, well, Dex it out to us as soon asyou can.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Did you understand that Mr Ehrlichman was conducting an investigation into the Watergate ma~t~r ?
Mr. DE,~N. No~ I did not.
Mr. ST. CLAm. But you do recall" a request from him in California
to send out whatever you had ~
Mr. DEA~. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Now~ sir, is it your testimony that the President did
not ask you to write a report ?
Mr. WAdDlE. Mr. Chairman.
Would you have him recall the date of the call from California fretMr. Ehrlichman to Mr. Dean ~
Mr. Dsn~. Mr. Waldie, it was from California, during the weeb
of--sometime after the 30t.h, I would think, when they left for California, and they were out there during that first week of April, and
I can’t tell you which da~ it is. There would certainly be a record in
the, White I:iouse as to wl~en the document was Dexed out.. That is the
electronic machine that can transmit photocopies over the wire. There
would be a record of that in the military aide~s office. That was the day
that~-]~Ir. EDWAmX~. Thank you.
Mr. St. Clair.
~’fr. ST. CL~m.-Thank you~ Mr. Chairman.

Do you recall testifying at page 1385 of book 4 o_f.the Sena.te Select
Committee transcript as follows on the question of this report,:
"I-l~" m~onin~r the president--"never at any time asked me to
wri~a-~p"~rt---~ it was not until after I had arr-ived at Camp David
that I received a call from ttaldeman asking me to write the report
up ?"
Do you remember so testifying ~.
Mr. D~N. Yes~ I do.
Mr. ST. C~Am. Was that the truth ?
Mr. 1~. Yes, it is.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Have you reviewed the transcript of your meeting
with the President on the afternoon of-Mr. D~A~. The 22d ?
Mr. ST. C~Am. March 22 ?
Mr. I~A~. Yes, I have.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Would you agree that the President, in the course
of that conversation, asked you to go to Camp David to write up a
report .~
_
Mr. D~. I would agree that he suggested that I might go to Camp
David and write the report. But the reference that you have cited in
the Senate testimony is to the fact, and it is repeated elsewhere in
the Senate testimony, that, we are talking about the instruction on
the 23d in the telephone conversation I received from the President
on the 23d, and to which I have testified again this morning, that the
President at no time during that call asked me to write a report. He
wanted me to go UP there and relax, unwind, think about things.
There was no mention of a report until I got to Camp David that
afternoon.
Mr. ST. CLam. But you testified before the Senate that the ~resident never at any time asked you to write u report~ didn’t you ~.
Mr. DF~. We’ll, that is--then I have misspoken mysel~ with reference to that call. But I still believe it is quite c]ear that I am re~erring
to the fact that on the 23d, in the call from the President, I did not-i~ you read the full context of that page-~
Mr. ST. Ct,~m. That is 1385.
Mr. DEAN. It starts "Senator Gamey. At any rate, .did you go te
Camp David sort of understanding that you were gotng to write a
report about Wategate, is that right ?"
"No, sir. When the President talked to me on the 23d, I talked to
O’Brien that morning::--so on and so forth. "I called Ehrlichman"
and so on and so forth.
Then I get down to the fact, "But I recall the conversation very
clcarly"--referring to the conversation of the 23d--"because there are
no such complications," The complication was regarding Mrs. Nixon
and Tricia being up there.
The whole discussion, Mr. St. Clair, is about the conversation on the
23d. At no time during that call did he ask me to write a report.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. I-Iave I misread your testimony when I said you testified lie never at any time
Mr. DEA~’. I think you have.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Do you have page 1385 before you ~.
Mr. DE.XN. I have it right in front of me, yes.
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Do the words appear "He," meaning the President,
a~lver_at
r. I)~N.any_time
Yes, theyasked
do. me to write a report." Do they appear there?
Mr. ST. CLAIR. Do you say the transcript is inaccurate ~
Mr. D~A~. No; I say it is in the context of the call of t~e 23d.
Mr. ST. C~n~ Is the word "never" limited in some respect .~
Mr. D~A~. To the call of the 23d, ~,es.
Mr. ST. Cr~AIR. "At any time"---is that limited to some extent
Mr. D~ut~. To the call of the 23d, yes.
Mr. ~r. CL~R. Thank you.
Mr. CONYERS. Mr. Chairman, I object.
Mr. DANIELSON. :[ don’t think it will add to our understanding to
ave the witness badgered and I would like to have this at an end.
Mr. EDWARIX~. I believe the proceedings are going along in a proper
tanner aud I hear no objection from the witness’ counsel.
Mr. St. Clair.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. Thank you, sir.
¯
Well, now, sir, this plan to claim executive privilege before the Sen[e commibtee--I think we have covered it briefly--ran over a long
eriod of time, right ?
Mr. Dr~. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAm. When did you last participate in any aspect of the
ecision as to whether or not that plan shouldbe continued ?
Mr. D~A~. If you can give me just a moment, I think I can tell you.
I think that the last time I had any discussions with anyone was on
ae 16th of April 1973.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. And with whom was that discussion ~
Mr. Dr~A~. I believe it was with Dick Moore. Possibly Len (~arment
lso.
Mr. ST. C~.~m. Now, during the course of the discussions that ran
ver many weeks, do you recall that the plan was sometimes referred
~ in the course of those conversations as stonewalling the committee
Mr. D~A~r. That was a common term used around the White House
nd I don’t recall it being synonymous with executive privilege, no.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. Well, do you remember any discussions about maybe
°e should stonewall the committee, or words ~o, that effect .~
Mr. D~A.v. I am sure that was said. If you will give me a specific
eference in the transcript, I might be able to help you.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. Well, by the exercise of executive privilege with repect to all testimony and all documents, that is what would renault,
,ould not it ?
Mr. DEA~. That isn’t the concept of stonewall as I understood
Mr. ST. C~AIR. Oh. I see, all right.
Well, do you recall discussions particu]arl~ by Mr. Mitchell to the
ffect that that would look like a coverup.~
Mr. DF~. On the afternoon of the 22d, with reference to discussing
Mr. ST. CLAm. :Yes.
Mr. D~A~. Yes, I do.
Mr. ST. CLAm. All right.
Mr. D~A~. Not with regard to stonewalling. Executive privilege
hat went too far.
Mr. ST. C~IR. Right. That is one of the reasons why he was a~o-ainst
~, is that right ?
Mr. ST. CLAm,

Mr. D~A~. He thought it was very bad public relations, yes.
Mr. ST. CreAm. Right. Now, what was the status of the plan on
April 16, when you last had any discussions concerning it, if you now
remember ?
Mr. D~A~. That the fact that there was going to be discussion, that
people would go up and testify and the question I was principally
~nvolved in was as to who was or was not going to turn in their
resignation and what was going to be said about what had happened
over the preceding weekend. I can’t tell you what the thinking finally
was on the position of executive privilege, because I was not privy
t~ those discussions and obviously, from reading the additionaltranscripts that you have provided, it is understandable why I
was not privy.
Mr. ST. C~m. Well, now, is it fair to say, then, that as of April 16,
at least, you observed any change in an attitude that had existed
earlier ~.
Mr. D~’. I think when they learned that I had gone to the
prosecutors, I got even a more sharp change than I had noticed after
my meeting on ~he 21st.
Mr. ST. CLAm. NO, I mean a change in this plan with respect to
appearance before the committee ?
Mr. Dr~. Did I personally notice a change ?
Mr. ST. CLAm. Yes.
Mr. DE~. Only what I was reading in the paper.
Mr. ST. C~IR. I see.
Now, sir, about your resignation. This was a matter of some "
discussion between you and the President, was it not .~
Mr. D~r. That is correct..
Mr. ST. C~.Am. And to shorten this up a little bit, you took substantially the view that if you were to resign, so should Mr. Ehrlichman and Mr. ttaldeman ?
Mr. D~A~. I .thought they had equally serious problems, that ig
correct.
Mr. ST. CLAm. And during the course of these discussions, you were
also meeting with representatives of the U.S. attorney’s oftice.~ as
Mr. Doar has asked you about ?
Mr. D~,\.w. That Mr. Doar has asked me about ?
Mr. ST. CLAIR. Didn;t he ask you about meeting with the U.S.
attorney ?
Mr. DEA~. Oh. I understand your reference.
Yes, that is correct.
Mr. ST. Cu~IR. All right. And during the course of those discussions.
you or your counse! on your behalf were seeking immunity, were you
not?
Mr. DEAN. My counsel--I should ~ive the background on that.
When I first went, to see Mr. Shaffer and engaged him, I said,
Charlie. there are certain thin~s that I think I have got to go down
and tell the prosecutors.
He said, well, let’s hear what you have got to say.
I spent abont 5 hours telling him, you know, what I had done and
principally dealing with mv own involvement and actions.
And he ~aid, well, John, if you want me as your lawyer, there is onlv
one condition you Can retain me and that is if you take my counsel.
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i said, well, I know the old saying that he who has himself as
lawyer for a counsel is a fool, so I agreed that I ought to have somebody who is more objective than I.
He also .told me, John, you don’t have to run into
get your story out and you have got to listen to me. I am going
to talk to the prosecutors and see what we can do.
And I said, well, Charlie, I am taking your counsel. So indeed, my
lawyer did go down and have discussions about, first of all, the
of my testimony. He wanted to be able to hear what I had to say ~ nd
then let them make their own judgment as to what they wanted to
do with me.
Mr. ST. CLAIm Did you authorize your attorney in the course of those
discussions to s.ugge~, to the U.S. attorney that if you did not
munity, you might involve the administration on matters
Watergate ?
Mr. DEAN. I had not talked to my attorney about it, I don’t think, at
that time matters other than Watergate. To the best of my recollection,
it was not until sometime in the end of April that I even discussed with
my counsel my conversations and dealings with the President.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Did your counsel report to you that he had made
such a suggestion on one or more occasions to the U.S.
representatives during the course of his negotiations on your
~/Ir. DWAN. I think my counsel would be the best witness on that.
Mr. ST. CLAm. I am just asking you whether or not he reported to
you.

Mr. DEAN. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAII{. Thank you.
Mr. DmN. That my counsel was negotiating for.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Now, during the period that your counsel was negotiating for you, you were retained on the White House payroll, wer~
you not ?
Mr. DEAN. You mean when I first went to talk to the prosecutors
Mr. ST. CLAm. Yes.
Mr. DEAN. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAm. And you were retained on the White House payroll
until the end of April of 1973 ?
Mr. DEAN. I think it went beyond that.
Mr. ST. Ci~m. In any event, your resignation was aceepted at the
same time as Mr. Ha|deman’s and Mr. Ehrlichman’s ?
Mr. DEAN. It was requested and accepted, yes.
Mr. ST. CLAII~ Thank you.
May I have just a second, Mr. Chairman ?
With respect to plans to testify, before the grand jury, before you
testified, did you meet with Mr. Mitchell and/or Mr. Magruder
Mr. DEAN. With ~ffard to my testimony before I was to t~stify
before the grand jury.
Mr. ST. CI~AIa. Yes.
Mr. DEAN. Can you be more specific, please ?
Mr. ST. CLAm. Well, you told us that you received a call from Mr.
Ehrlichman requesting that you ~o before the grand jury.
Mr. I)~AN. I met with Mr. Magr~ler and Mr. Mitchell on the afternoon I came down from Camp David. I went into Mr. Haldeman’s
office and he said that he wanted me to go in and resolve the testimonial
differences between my recollection float had been consistent of the
meetings that occurred in the Attorney General’s office in January and
February with that that Mr. Magruder and Mr. Mitchell had apparently testified to. They were sitting in what was, what had been Mr.
Chapin’s office. I told’Mr. Haldeman I didn~ want to go down, they
knew perfectly well what my story was. He was very insistent that "i
go down. I went down and I sat there and refused to really get into
any substance with him.
Mr. ~. CI~m. My question is~ sir, following the request that you
received from Mr. Ehrlichman, did you see Mr. Mitchell and Mr.
Magruder before you testified before the grand jury..~
Mr. DEA~. Well, I didn’t testify, before the gran~ jury.
Mr. ST. CI~Am. Ever ?
All right, did youMr. D~A~. I mean not untilMr. ST. CLAIm Were you interviewed by the U.S. attorney?
Mr. I)EA~. I was in continuous negotiations and discussions. My
counsel was in negotiations and I was in discussions with the U.S.
attornev from roughly the 2d of Aori| on.
Mr. ST. C~Am. Let me got at it this way: Did you ever tell Mr.
lV~agruder that you were not going to support his ~stimony that he
had given to the grand jury before you testified before the grand ~ury
Mr. I)ZAN. I recall a recording i made of a conversation witi~
Magruder in which he was urging me to go along with his story ancl

Mr. DzAN. I frankly don’t recall.

Mr. ST. CLAm. Well, it is your testimony you did not authorize it
Mr. DEAN. I--my attorney had a free hand to negotiate with the
prosecutors in any manner he saw fit.
Mr. S~. C~Am. Including that manner ?
Mr. DEAN. I didn’t ask him how--he was my attorney. I was not
~iving him directions and ~fidance. He knows far more abeut this.
business than I do.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Thank you.
Ultimately, you did not receive immunity, is that right ?
Mr. DF~. From the prosecutors ?
Mr. S~. CLAm. Yes.
Mr. DEAN. The original prosecutors were replaced by the Special
Prosecutors and, bv that time. I ’had made my decision to plead.
Mr. ST. CLAm~ Well, you did not receive immunity from the United
States, did you ?
Mr. DEAN. No, I did not.
Mr. S~AFFER. Just, a point on the record. My client did receive immunity from the United States in the form of limited use immunity
from the legislative branch of our Government.
Mr. ST. CLAm. That is mv understanding. My question should have
been more precise, from the U.S. attorney.
Mr. DEAN. There has been some debate as to whether we had technical immunity as a result of our earlier dealings, as to whether
could ever prosecute me based on our ea.rlier conversations. Bu[
is another matter. We never got it.
Mr. ST. CLAm. You never received immunity for which you were
negotiating ?
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~ould not give him the commitment to do that. With that, he flew
to Bermuda to retain counsel.
ks far as ~VIr. Mitchell, the record of my meeting with Mr. Mitchell
L~ve submitted to the Senate. I remember I was requested by the
vernment to be wired and I said I refused to do that. I said I will
ke a memorandum of the meeting as soon as it is over, which I
l.
dr. ST. C~m. Can you fix the time that you met with Mr. Magruder
’ this purpose.~
~[r. Dr~ ~. I had a telephone conversation with Mr. Maffruder.
~[r. ST. C~AIR. Well, can you fix the time .~
V[r. DuN. I think the Special Prosecutor’s o~ee has that tape and
~st don’t know.
~[r. ST. CLAn~ What’s your best memory ~
V[r. D~N. I would say in the first week of April.
~Ir. ST. CLAm. Thank you.
knd when did you meet with Mr. Mitchell .~
.~Ir. Ds~-. April 10.
.~Ir. ,ST. C~. All right.
Did you--you testified before the grand jury at some time?
~r. DEAN. Yes, I did.

.V[r. ST. C~R. When .~
r. Dg~. That was long after I had pleaded and--well, let’s go
~k. I did make an appearance before the grand jur.v bofore I ap~red before the Senate, in which I invoked my privilege. Then I~
was many, many, many months later. I believe it was February of
~4 that I first appeared before the aTand jury.
Mr. ST. C~Am. Was it afte.~you/old M~:. Magruder that you would
~ support his earlier testimony that he appeared before a grand jury
d changed his testimony ?
.
~[r. D~.AN.-Well, I told my counsel that they ought to tell Mr.
~gruder’s counsel that you could not~I don’t recall a meetin~ with
c. Magruder. That is the point I guess you are getting at, and-I just
n’t recall a meeting with Mr. Magruder.
Mr. ST. CLAn~ Or ~ conversation with him ?
Mr. D~.~r~. Yes; I had conversations where he was asking me to
ange m.v story and I .was unwilling to. I finally told my~_you know,
~er he decided to .~et a lawyer. I had Mr. Shaffer stop bv and see
~ counsel and say, listen, John is going to testif.v the way it is.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. DO you recall the President advising you that way ?
Mr. D~.A~. To tell me to testi .fT truthfully ?
Mr. ST. CLAm. Yes.
Mr. DEAN. Yes, I do.
Mr. ST. C~m. Do you have any knowledge that he also gave such
vice to Mr. Magruder ~
Mr. DEA~’. NO, I do not. I-~e mi_~ht have mentioned it to me. I don~t
~ow. He told me he had told everybody.
Mr. ST. CLAm. But he advised you specifically to tell the truth, didn~

~

Mr. Ds.~. Yes, he did. Excluding--he did not want me to talk about
~esidential conversations.
Mr. ST. C~. About national security matters, isn’t that right ?

Mr. D~. He said executive privilege, attorney-client privilege,
and national security matters.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. Do you recall the President made a public announcement that all White House people were free to testify before a grand
jury, free of executive privilege ?
Mr. D~.AN. At what date, please ~
Mr. ST. CLAm. Well, do you recall that .~
Mr. D~.A~". Well, I am trying to get the time frame we are talking
about.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Well, you were there and I was not. Maybe you could
tell us when it was.
Mr. D~AN. Well, there were a lot of statements made publicly that
didn’t fit with what was happening internally.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. DO yOU recall the President making a public announcement that White House personnel were free to testify tmfore
grand juries, free of any executive privilege ?
Mr. D~A~. I frankly don’t, no.
Mr. ST. CL~R. YOU don’t ~
Mr. DZAN. It is possible but I just don’t have a clear recollection of
it. I just didn’t read all the press releases.
Mr. HU~GATZ. Mr. Chairman, the witness has requested what date
this was done. I think that is probably a fair request. I am looking at a
date myself that is interesting on that same point.
Mr. EDWARDS. The Chair believes the question is fair.
Proceed, Mr. St. Clair.
Mr. S]~AF~. Mr. Chairman, may I have a minute with my client if
that is appropriate ?
Mr. EDWAPmS. Yes.
Mr. SHA~Em Thank you.
Mr. DZA~. Mr. Chairman, to answer the question, and this is what
$ had in mind, but I can’t get the date on it, before I was ori ~inallv
.~oing to go down and testify before the grand jury, the original-gran~l
.~ury, with the original prosecutors, and we had scheduled a special
Saturday session for me to appear, my counsel received a notice of re]ease fr~m the White House as to how all counsel were supposed to
handle the question of executive ~rivilege. There were very tight guidelines that, were laid out. Now, I don’t recall seein~ that document. They
had a copy of it down at the U.S. attorney’s office and he looked at it
there. That is whv I am asking. There were many, many statements
on executive privilege and I am not sure which one you are referrin~ to.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. Well, ~ust one point that I think I have overlo~)ked
on this sub.~ect matter. I avologize for the digression.
Do you recall that Mr. Haldeman called Mr. Mitchell on about noon
on March ~1 ?
Mr. DEA~. I am sorry, would you start over ~ I was looking at--we
found a statement here, but we are beyond that now.
Mr. ST. Cx~r~. Well, if you found a statement, perhaps you could
adv’ise the committee of the date.
Mr. DZA~. Well. it says that at a news conference on March 15, 1973,
the President said Mr. Dean is counsel to the W]aite House~ He is also
one who is counsel to a number of people on the White House staff; he
has, in effect, what I would call double privilege--the lawyer counsel
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relationship as well as Presidential privilege. In terms of pri
think we could put it in another way. I consider it my
principle to defend the separation of powers. I recognize that
bers of Congress disagree with my interpretation of that responsibility:.
That was one. But as I say, there were so many statements on exeeu~
tire privile.,ge, I am just not sure which one you are referring to.
Mr. ST. (~LAm. This is one that you have read here that was before
March 21 ?
Mr. D~A~. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAm. I asked you about any knowledge you had of
statement the President mazle freeing White House personnel of any
executive privilege.
Mr. D~A~. Well, there might have been something in his statement
on April 17, but there may have been a half dozen statements in
between there. I just can’t tell you without reviewing all of the White
House press releases and I just don’t know.
Mr. Sw. CLAm. I see. All right. Then may I make this digression
that I started out on ?
~r. SHA~z.R. May I have just. a second ?
Mr. EDWARDS. Mr. St. Clair.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Thank you.
Getting back to March 21, lY73, do you recall Mr. Haldeman calling Mr. Mitchell shortly after noon on that date following your
meetin~ with the President ?
Mr. D~A~. I recall that he was going to call him.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. And the purpose of the call ?
Mr. D~A~°. Was to get Mr. Mitchell to come down to a meeting the
next morning, or that afternoon, if possible.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Thank you very much.
Now, sir~ I would like to go way back to the break-in at the DNC,
if I may. You were actually in ~awaii, as I understand it?
Mr. DEA~. No sir, I was in Manila.
Mr. S~. CLAm. In Manila. When you returned to the United States,
I think you have testified that you became involved in the coverup
almost from the very beginning, or words to that effect
Mr. D~A~. That is correct.
Mr. S~. CLAm. I think at one point, you said it just ~rt of happened,
it grew like Topsy, or words to that effect ?
Mr. DEA~. It made me wish I had staved in Manila.
Mr. ST. CLAm. I am sure in retrospect, that is so. But is it true that
you testified that this was not any sei policy of any kind, it just sort of
grew, and you ~ust sort of fell into it, or ~vords to that effect
Mr. DEA~. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAm. All right. And that state of affairs commenced almost
immediately upon your retnrn to the United States
Mr. DF~A.~~. C~)rrect.
Mr. ST. C~m. Now, early in your investigation--excuse me. I don’t
me~m to use that word at this moment.
You made an inquiry from Mr. Liddy early upon your return, did
you not?
Mr. D~.~. Yes, I did.
Mr. ST. CLAm: And you learned, did you noL from that. inquiry
tha~ one in the White House was in~olvec~" in the break-in

Mr. I)ZAX. That is wh~t Mr. Liddy had told me, yes.
~Ir. S~. CLAm. Yes. And you were convinced of that even as late as
March 9.1,1973, weren’t you
Mr. D~A~. Yes, I wa~
Mr. ST. CLAm. All right. Well, now, if no one in the. White House
was involved in the break-in, who was it that you were covering up
for~
Mr. DzA~. I think that is very. clear from the early conversations
had with Mr. Ehrlichman.
Mr. ST. CLAm. A name will do
Mr. DF~A~. Pardon.
Mr. ST. CLAim Just give me the name.
Mr. D~. Who was I worried--we were worried about what Mr.
Hunt and Mr. Liddv had done at the White House.
Mr. ST. CLAm.
Mr. D~A~. I would say--well, initially, before I got all the facts
sorted ~ut,. I d~dn t think, (1) that Mr.. L~ddy ml~ht~ necess~ly know
everything; (9~) I had known of things that had gone on there that
had gone to people that were fairly high in the administration; and
I would say that the covernp was designed to not only protect the
campaign people, but it was designed to protect Mr. Ehrlichma~ and
anybody else that had been involved in any of the Hunt and Liddy
activities.
When I first went to Mr. Kleindienst, I didn’t know how far it went
and told him it might go as far as the Presi’dent.
Mr. ST. C~Am. But-as far as Watergute was concerned, your state
of mind was that no one in the White House was involved in the breakin, isn’t that right
Mr. D~.A~. That is right, but you-Mr. ST. CLAIR. But you’coul~l not have been covering up for anyone
in the White House, could you
Mr. S~AVZ~R. Could I have an ob.iection
I think my client was in the middle of an answer.
Mr. ST. CLAm. I am sorry.
Mr. DZAX. I don’t think you can separate because of the individuals
involved in the break-in and the fact that they had come from the
White House and that they had done things at ~he White House, that
you can separate the coverup into here was a Watergate break-in
t.hat _was .authorized by people unknown to the White House, and
the fact that they had done other illegal activities when they had
been at the Whi’~e House that were equally as embarrassing and
equally as damaging as the break-in at the DNC.
So two people and the Cubans that they had hired to work for
them caused a problem that ran both ways. And this was the sort
of pressure and cross-pressure I continually got. Mitchell would say,
well, they ought to be .~ust as interested. And Haldeman would say,
well, Mitchell ought to’be ~ust as interested, because of the fact that
these people, their activities’had run such a wide gamut.
Th.at is a long answer to the question that that is what we were
covemng up.
Mr. ST. C~A~R. It is-all rizht‘ I am used to the long answers.
Now, sir, you never saw the President at all until September 15,
1972, ~om the time of the break-in, is that right
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]~[r. I)zA~. That is correct.
Mr. ST. Cr.Am. So it is very clear the President never gave you any
instructions to cover up anything, isn’t that right
Mr. D~. That is correct.
l~r. ST. CI~im In fact, I gather from your testimony this thing
just sort of grew. No one gave you any instructions, you just went
along with it .~
lVfr. I)~A~. Well, that isn’t quite true
l~r. ST. CLAIR. Well, that’is what ~ou told me just a minute ago.
Mr. I)~A~. Well, let me clarify it, then.
Mr. ST. CLAm. "Well, my question is this--you committedl~r. Do~oI~lt~. Mr. Chairman.
~r. ST. CLAIR. I am sorry. I keep thinking I am in a courtroom.
I am sorry.
Mr. Do~comm. I submit, Mr. Chairman, that the witness should be
permitted to complete his answer without interruption from Mr. St.
Clair.
Mr. Enwraps. Mr. Dean, will you complete .your answer, please?
Mr. D~. All right. It is not quite correct that I felt that I just
had to dive in.
For.
when I was
asked
by Mr. Haldeman
and Mitchell
Mr. Ehrlichan
mexample,
Mr. I-Ialdeman’s
office
regarding
whether Mr.
and

Mr. ST. CLAm. Thank you. Incidentally, you didn’t disclose that to
the President on the 21st, did you ?
Mr. Ds~. I certainly maddreferenco to it.
Mr. ST. C~m. Did you disclose to the President on March 21 that
you had assisted Magruder in preparing false testimony*
Mr. D~A~. I told-him that they he’d been by and run their story by
inc. And I told him that, perhaps, I believe I prefaced that with
the fact that he had perjured himself.
Mr. ST. CLAm. I am sorry, I didn’t hear that.
Mr. DzA~. I said I believe I prefaced that with the fact that I
believed he had perjured himsclf- and he had come by and run his
sto~r~ b2 me.

~

r~.Magrude_r should remain at the Re-Election Committee what my
ee.nng w~s, I. said that I thought that Mr. Magruder definitely had
serious problems. I was not sure that the story he was portraying
would hold up and that he might well be indicted. I said I thought
it would be presumptuous of me to say anything about Mitchell.
said I don’t know, I have never talked to him abou~ it, which I hadn’t,
and I said all I can tell you is that it is consnming a great deal of
his time.
"
Then when Mr. Mitchell, on the 30th, left the Re-Election Committee and Mr. Magruder remained, I was quite convinced in my own
mind, rightly or wrongly, that the President had obviously ~ad to
reflect on this. That was clear t6 me also because there was an ~ncreased
interest by Mr. I-Ialdeman and )fir. Ehrlichman in Mr. Magruder’s
well-being.
You know, how he was doing, what was his attitude, was he concerned, how was his testimony.
So I can’t say that I had no indication that there was not concern
and instructions on the coven~p. It was not quite willy-nilly, as you
have tried to portray it.
"
Mr. ST. CLam. I am only quoting your own language.
But you readily joined what you now identify as a criminal conspiracy almost from the be~nning, didn’t you
Mr. D~A~. YeS, I did.

"

Mr. ST. CLAm~ And durin~ the course of that, you, among other
thin~s, suborned perjury of Mr. Magruder.
"
Mr. D~..~. I don’t think that is correct, to use the term "suborned".
I did assist him in 1)reparing a false statement.
Mr. ST. CLAm. And pied ~axilty to that
Mr. D~A~. I was--no, I did n~t to subornation. I pleaded to obstruction of justice, of which that was an overt act.

2vlr. ~T. CLAIR. I See.

Well, on September 15, 197~, you did meet with the President ~
Mr. D~A~. Yes, I did.
"
"
Mr. ST. CLAIa. And you say t.h.at during the course of that conversation, among other things, you d~scussed a list being prepared for submission to the IRS ?
Mr. DxAx. I am not sure we got into the so-called list of 500 at that
time. It may well have come up. I recall general discussions by
and the fact that the President--telling the President that I had been
less than successful in dealing with IRS and the President bec~me
iquito
annoyed
at it. responsive
And then that
heWhite
got very
explicit about his thinkng about
IRS bein~
to the
~ouse.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Well, the fact of the matter is it was prior to September 15 that you had already been over to the IRS ?
Mr. D~A~¢. 1~0; Mr. Walte~ was at my office and that was at Mr.
Ehrlichman’s request.
Mr. ST. CI~m. All right, you had talked with Mr. Welters in your
offi_ce, prior to September 15 ~
Mr. D~A~. Yes, I had, and I talked to him subsequent to that
a]~o.
Mr. ST. CLAm. And you gave him a list of name~ prior to September
157 " "
Mr. D~Ax. Unmmcessfully, yes.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Well, y~u "had no difficulty in delivering the list~,
Mr. Dx~. No.
"
Mr. ST. C~.AI~. And you told him in substance and this may or may
not be accurate, but did you tell him in substance that this was not
at the President’s request ?
Mr. DzAz¢. I did that.
Mr. ST. CLAI~. And that was before September the 15th, 1972
Mr. DzA~. That’s right.
Mr. ST. CLAm. And it is a fact, is it not, that that effort wa~
unsuccessful ?
Mr. DF~. Yes, it was.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. You know of no person on that list whose tax returns
had been audited as the result of that submission ?
Mr. DF~m No; I know I went back and tried again to limit the list
and this time, after I had my conversation with the President on the
15th and the resistance was still there. And I felt that I had done
what was expected of me iu carrying the request over and was~
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Mr. ST. CL~n~ You were informed in fact, that. if you wanted anything done like that you would have to submit an anonymous letter
like anybody else in the world could do, isn’t that right ?
Mr. ~)F~N. I don’t remember exactly how Walters described it to me.
Mr. ST. CLAra. Isn’t that the substance of it ?
Mr. DEAN. What was envisioned was a little more massive than a
few anonymous letters would have handled.
Mr. ST. CLAX~. And you were relegated by the role if you wanted
anything done it would have to be done by anonymous letters?
Mr. DEAN. I do not recall that, no.
Mr. EmwaDs. (presiding). The committee will recess for 10 minutes for a vote.
[Short recess.]
Mr. EDWARDS. The committee will come to order.
Mr. St. Clair.
Mr. ST. CLAr~. I have just a few more questions, Mr. Chairman.
May I proceed, Mr. Chairman?
Mr. ]~DWAnDS. Mr. St. Clair, you may proceed.
Mr. ST. CLAra. Thank you.
Mr. Dean, did you at any time during the course of the affairs that
followed the break-in of the Democratic National Committee in any
form of words authorize Mr. Caulfield to offer clemency to any of the
people who broke in ?
Mr. D~a~. Yes, I did.
Mr. ST: C~Ara. Approximately when?
[Short pause.]
Mr. TY~.AN. It was in January of 1973.
Mr. ST. CLAIR. On whose authority, if anyone, did you do that
Mr. DF~N. The offer was based on a conversation I had with
Ehrlichman following a meeting between Mr. Ehrlichman and
Mr. Colson and myself after Mr. Hunt had wanted assurances on.
clemency when I raised with Mr. Ehrlichman the fact that I was
that if Mr. Hunt got it, others were going to .get word of it and learn
of it. I had told Mr. Mitchell about the fact of Mr. Hunt’s being given
assurances of clemency. It was some time in January, and I can’t tell
you the specific dace.
I might have it here in my testimony but I haven’t checked that
closely that Mr. Mitchell said that he thought that the same assurances
sho~fld ~o to Mr. McCord who under the vernacular of the times
off the reservation.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Who told you that Mr. Hunt had been
clemency ?
Mr. DEAN. Mr. Colson.
Mr. ST. CLAxa. When .~
Mr. DEAN. ~n January of 1973.
Mr. ST. C~Ara. In whose presenceS.
l~r. DF~N. Well, it was both~it was on two occasions he told
One was after he had talked to Mr. Bittman and .given
and secondly was when we were talking from the office.
that meeting he told me that he had fel£this matter so important
he had to take it up with the President.
Mr. ST. CL.xim And all of this in January of 1973 ?
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h Mr. ST. ~. T~..ank you. Was anyone else present when you and
e~w~ere~walgmg and h~e told you this or just the two of you ~
mtr. ~EA~r. l~ardon ¥
Mr. ST. CL~n~ Was anyone else other than you and Mr. Colson
present during this walk when lie told you he was going to have to
take it up with the President .
Mr. DF~. No, he told me he had taken it up.
Mr. ST. CLAra. Had taken it up with the President
Mr. DF~. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAn~ No one else was present ~
Mr. DF~. That is correct. We were walking between the west wing
of ~he White House and the Executive Office Building. ¯
~ ~]~ ST...CL~.xp, Now, directing your attention to the safe in which
~or.fornun
materials,
when
it that you
the~ept
firstsome
time with
that safe
or was
its contents
? had anything to
Mr. DEAN. Well, the first time I had anything to do with the safe
is when it came up in a meeting on the 19tt~, the afternoon of the 19th
in Mr. Ehrlichman’s office when I was instructed to take possession
of the contents.
Mr. ST. CLara. So that the committee will be clear, that is June
the 19th ?
Mr. D~.A~. June 19.
Mr. ST. CLAIm 1972 .~
Mr. I)F.AN. Correct.
Mr. ST. CLAra. Now, at some time portions of the contents were delivered to agents of the FBI ?.
Mr. DEAN. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAra. And approximately the date ?
Mr. DF~AN. It was in late June.
Mr. ST. CLAm. Of that same year .~
Mr. DE~. Yes. I am sure that the FBI would have a record of the
dates they received those materials.
Mr. ST. CLAra. And was it on the same day that you gave another
portion to Mr. Gray ?
Mr. DEA~. No, it was not.
Mr. ST. CLA~. When did you give him some of the contents ~
Mr. DEAlt. That was a c~ay or so after the materials ha~ been delivered to the FBI.
Mr. ST. CLAra. So by the end of June you had made a delivery of
documents both to the FBI and to Mr. Gray ?
Mr. DEAN. That is correct.
"
Mr. ST. CLAra. All right. Now
Mr. DEAN. That’s my best recollection.
Mr. ST. CLA~: That’s your best recollection, yes. When did you discover documents that had been in that safe had not been delivered to
~he FBI or Mr. Gray ?
Mr. DzA~. In January of 1973.
Mr. ST. CLAr~. In January of 1973 ~
Mr. D~AN. That is correct.
Mr. ST. CLAra. And on that occasion, it is your testimony, I understand it, that you shredded two notebooks ?
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Mr. DEAN. I shredded t~vo notebooks and I threw one popup notebook-Mr. ST. CLAIR. That’s an address book?
Mr. D~A~. Address book.
Mr. ST. CLAra. Or telephone numbers ~
Mr. D~A~. Telephone number book with a sliding dial into the wastebasket.
Mr. ST. C~R. That was in January 1973 ?
Mr. D~. That is correct.
Mr. ST. C~ra. When did you first disclose that, those events to any-

Mr. B~oo~s. Normally 1½ million and was exp~nded to ~½ million
in the year 1970, being the only year they expended all, and I ~ould
like to put that expenditure from 1963--73 in the record. That s the
fund, yes, sir.
Mr. D~. I do not know. Tlmt was not handled by my office. From
time to time we did get questions about the use of the special pro~ects
funds. It could well be that there is something in my file~ Mr. St. (~lair
.might be able to speak to that more than I can because I haven’t had a
chance to go through those files. And if there is anythin~ in there~ it
would be reflected in documents or opinions we gave and t~e like. So, I
don’t have any independent recollection at this time on that.
Mr. B~ooxs. Mr.. De.a~., did you obtain authorization for zmy im~::f~ments on Presldentml property while serving on the White House
Mr. D~.~. Did I receive the authorizations ? I was aware through my
,offi..ee of~ some _authorizations that apparently had been passed d~r~tlv
~o me ~ecret Service. The heating system, thin~s of this n~ture, whe~
they bec~me public, my office was somewhat~involved in trying to
answer publicly as to why the expenditures had been made.
Mr. B~oo~s. Now, as counsel to the President were you to any extent
involved in the sale of the President’s San Ctemente property to the
B and C Investment Co ?
Mr. D~. Yes; I was.
Mr. BRoo~s. To what extent ?
Mr. D~.~. The basic documents concerning that sale--excuse me
just a moment.
I am concerned that I don~t know--maybe Mr. St. Clair can answe~
this~if my privilege has been waived regarding this type of activity
at the White House. I don’t know.
Mr. S~FFF~P~ With all due respect to Mr. St. Clair~ I em going to
ask the chairman to mile that these questions are within the attorneyclient privilege because I am aware of what the waiver was by the
White House at the time my client testified before the Senate and it
related only to the Senate testimony, and this is obviously something
that does not relate to public affairs.
It relates to the sale of some property that was owned by the
President to some other private organizations. And if my client was
consulted, he was consulted in a private capacity, and as his attorney I
assert the privilege.
Mr. B~oo~s. Mr. Chairman, I withdraw the question.
Mr. Dean, what was the nature of the estate planning that you engaged in for the President ?
Mr. S~FF~e. Same position.
Mr. BROOKS. Mr. Shaffer, what are you for ~ Pardon me
The C~Ara:~A~. Does the gentleman withdraw the ~u~ion ~
~,Mr. B~OO_KS. Yes. On September 15, 1972, a tape~ of a m~eting of
~x.on, !taldeman, and Dean included discussion of the Washington
¯ "os~ news coverage and the President stated "the main thing is the
(Washington Post) is going to have danmable~ damnable problems
0ut~ of this one. They have a television station, they are going to~
h.a..ve to get it renewed, and that known license filing on radio and television stations are going to be god damn active in the case of the Washin~o~on Post."

one ?

Mr. D~. I first disclosed them to the Special Prosecutor’s office in
October, late October or November of 1973.
Mr. ST. CLare. You testified in July of 1973 did you no~ before the
Senate Select Committee ?
Mr. D~. Yes, I did.
Mr. ST. CLAIm You did not testify anything about shredding these
notebooks during the course of that testimony~ did you ?
Mr. D~A~. That is correct.
Mr. ST. C~ra. Is this because you forgot it ?
Nit. D~A~. It was not in my conscience at the time, that is correct.
Nfr. ST. CLAra. You want us to understand you forgot the fact that
you had shredded two notebooks from Mr. Hunt’s safe ?
Mr. DEx~. I happen to have forgotten a lot of things.
Mr. S~. C~ra. We might agree on that, but, is it your testimony that
you forgot that you had shredded two notebooks from Mr. Hunt’s safe ?"
Mr. DeA~. That is correct.
Mr. ST. C~ra. You knew that it would be an incredible action to
destroy potential evidence, didn’t you ?
Mr. D~~. I wish I had remembered it because if I had I would have
put it in the statement. It wasn’t nearly as embarrassing as some of
the things I was revealing I had done that I put in my statement.
Mr. ST. C~ra. Well, you described Mr. Erlichman’s conduct that
you alle=ed took place~ namely, to deeD-six some documents, as an
~ncredible action .to destroy evidence, didn’t you ?
Mr. D~. I characterized that as my reaction at the time.
Mr. ST. CLAra. And you want us to understand that ~ou simply
forgot about that when you testified before the Senate Select Committee in July of 1973 ?
Mr. S~A~R. Mr. Chairman, I object. We are repeating the fact
that my client did admit twice ir~ this record.
The CHAra~..Objection is sustained.
Mr. ST. C~ra. Then I have no further questions.
The C~Ara~A~. Mr. Donohue.
Mr. Do~oH~r~. Mr. Chairman, I will yield my time to the gentleman
from Texas, Mr. Brooks.
Mr. B~oo~s. Mr. Dean, do you know if the special projects funds
were used ~o finance the purchase of or to improve any of the Presidential properties located at San Clemente, Key Bisc~yne, or else~vhere ?
~r. D~. Congressman, when you refer to the speciel projects
fund, is that the one at the White House under the budget arrange~nents at the White House ?
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Now, do you know of any action by the President or anyone else to
implement this apparent threat against the Washington Post ?
Mr. D~.A~. The only thing I know, Mr. Brooks, is that there was
some talk about the subject, about it subsequently and I believe I had
those conversations with Mr. CoIson. And I don’t know what the
final followup was. It was not something that was designated to me.
The CHAIR~A~. Might I inquire of the gentleman from Texas
if .the ~uestions h_e is asking comes within the scope of the testimony ~
Is he relating to the paragraph 1, the nature of th~
Mr. BROOKS. I am not.
The CHAIR~A:N" (continuing). Of Mr. Dean’s duties as counsel to
the President ~
Mr. BROOXs. This would be part of his duties as counsel. He might
have observed some activity. Apparently he did not observe very
much and I just asked him.
R’s a legitimate question.
Mr. Dean, do you have any information regarding plans to use the
San Clemente property or a portion thereof as a Presidential Library ?
Did you hear anything about that ?
Mr. D~A~. Yes, I did.
Mr. BROOKS. What .~
Mr. I)~A~. Well, there was a plan that the land adjacent to the San
Clemente property would form the bulk of the property for the future
Nixon library.. This was the Pendhton Land that was specifically
carved out when the grant was made back to the State of California
on a 99-year le~se~ that a certain portion of that ]and was cut out.
t~ow,
reason
it was
given was
was for
security
reasons,
at thethe
hilltop
that
overlooked
the that
San this
Clemente
estate
could
theoretically if some man went up there with a rifle, look down upon the
property and start firing. This was a thought a~r the fact as to a way
to make sure California didn’t have the land.
There was an extensive effort, and this was going on just ~bout the
time I left, to draw up appropriate legislation. Contact had been made
with the members of the House Armed Services Committee and the
Senate committee to take them out and show them the property and
t, hen to bring legislation up here that would in turn grant that land
to the President for a library.
Mr. BROOKS. That’s the northern portion of the Camp Pendleton
~Iarine Base on the west coast .~
Mr. DEA~. That’s correct.
The CHAIP~A.~. The {ime of the gentleman from Massachusetts.
has expired.
Mr. BROOKS. Could I utilize the remainder of my time at this time
by unanimous consent and conclude?
The CHA~R~A.’q. ~Vithout ob.~ection, the gentleman from Texas
would like to proceed with his 5 minutes.
Mr. BROOKS. Mr. Dean, to your knowledge was any money paid to
Water,ate defendants after March 21, 1972 ?
Mr~ DEA~’. The last payment I am aware of is on the morning of the
29d.
¯Mr. BROOKS. 1973 I mean.
Mr. D~AX. The morning of the 22d when I was told the payment

to Mr. Hunt apparently had been accomplished. That’s the last knowledge I have of any payments.
.Mr. BROOKS. NOW, were you aware~ on another subject, were you
aware of the purpo~w~d $400,000 that was funneled into the campaign
of George Wallace’s opponent, and if so, did you have any indication
as to who had recommended that payment, who delivered it?
Mr. DEA~. Yes; yes, I was aware of it.
Mr. BROOKS. What is the fact situation there ~
Mr. DF~. Well, this is something that when I was going through
Mr. Kalmbach’s potential problems, as to how he would account for
$1,800,000 I believe is the figure he had, that some $400,000 had been
delivered. Now, the details of the delivery he never explained to me.
_He told. me t_hat the plan had been designed by the former Postmaster
~eneral, the last one to hold that as a Cabinet officer. And that was--it
was his suggestion, and apparently had the blessings of the White
House, and I don’t know who in the White House, so I use that term
generieally. And Mr. Ka]mbach had been directed to carry it out.
Now, I have read press accounts since then that are public as to
Mr. Kalmbach going down and the like. But, that, s---I have no firsthand knowledge of that.
f.Mr..BROOKS_.
Back on another
related
LaRue,~approxiin testiymg before this committee,
has said
that subject,
while heMr.
received
mately $190,000 from Mr. Strachan, he only distributed $75,000 on
March 21, to which you just referred. Do you have any knowledge of
what became of the balance ? Maybe he testified on it. I don’t recall
that. Do you recall what happened .~
Mr. DF~. First of all, I was unaware of the dollar amount that
had been delivered on the message I received on the 22d. It was much
later I heard in the public press that it was $75,000.
I have no idea what happened to the remainder of that money other

think tol_d me, and can’t tell you who it was, that

e ad turne~t it over to his attorney or they had returned it to the
Re-Election Committee.
Mr. BROOKS. HRd you been aware of previous payments to the
defendants prior to that March 21 payment ~
Mr. DEA~. Yes; I had.
Mr. BROOKS. In what falchion ?
Mr. D~A~. Well, when there was a demand made, and I was aware
first of all--it’s different times, preelection, pre-Sept~mber~ Mr. Kalmbach was doing it and when he completed it he came in mY office and
met with Mr. LaRue and made a final accounting. And he took his
accounting slip and burned it in my ashtray. That was sort of the final
act as far as he was concerned.
"
"
And then with regard to the use of the $350,000, of course, I was
aware of the demands being made, that I would carry them to I~aldeman and tell Haldeman what the problem was. As I say, I think the
first request for the $350,000 was somewhere between $40,000 and
$70,000. I don’t know the exact dollar amounts. And then the subsequent sending of the entire amount back and then finally the Hunt
demand for $122,000 of which, subsequently $75,000 was paid.
Mr. B~ooxs. Were you familiar with the alias, Mr. Rivers ?
Mr. DF~A~’. I believe that’s Mr. U]asewicz. I had never--I had met
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him once. I only knew him by the name of Tony until just before the
Watergate hearings started and he started getting so_me press. I didn’t
know the las~ name, Ulasewicz, before that time. It was just Tony
to me.
Mr. BROOKS: He was known as Mr. Rivers ? I was thinking of
LaRue, the transactions?
l~r. DEAI~. That’s right. It was, it was--I understand that Mr.
River’s was Tony Ulasewicz. I may be wrong. Mr. Kalmbach had a
number of codes that he would refer to, refer to Mr. Haldeman as the
"brush" and Mr. Mitchell as the "pipe" and Mr. Hunt as the "writer"
and I never really got-~Mr. BROOKS. How did he refer to you ~
Mr. DF~. He was talking to me so I don’t know how he referred
to me.
Mr. BROOKS. I want to thank you. No further question~, Mr. Chair-

Mr. DF~~. No, sir. They were really address books, they were not
notebooks. There was no narrative in them of any kind. They were just
name~ And they looked quite old, T might add, that they didn’t look
like anything of current vintage.
Mr. Hu’rcm~so~. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I yield my time to
Mr. McClory.
Mr. McCLo~. I thank the gentleman for yielding.
Following up on some questions addressed to you by the gentleman
from Texas, Mr. Brooks, you said you knew about the earlier paymerits that were being made and before the election and subsequent to
the election, and nevertheless during all of this time you didn’t report,
and when you began having your regular conversations with the President, you didn’t report, any of those payments to the President, did
you .~
Mr. DF~. Not initially. I think---Mr. MCCLORY. On March 21 you did ~.
Mr. D~.A~. On March 21 I made reference to some of them, but ’I
didn’t get into great detail. Now, if I could just backup for a minute
on the detail ~;ith which I reported on the 21st, the night of the
20thMr. McCLOaY. I really have a limited amount of time. I just wanted
to know whether you did report to him prior to that time ?
Mr. DF.A~. Prior to the 21st ?
Mr. McCLoRY. Yes.
Mr. DEA~. It’s my strong impression that we did have some discussion of money. I can’t tell you and I don’t want to force
Mr. McCLoRY. You don’t have a distinct recollection and you
wouldn’t be able to fix a date ?
Mr. DF~. No, sir..
Mr. McCLoa]:. You do fix the date of March 21, and then that was
confirmed, was it not on April 16 when you had a conversation again
with the, President?
Mr. DF.A~. I beg your pardon ?
Mr. MCCLOR~’. On April 16, you had a conversation, that is one
of the transcripts.
Mr. D~.~-. Yes, but what was confirmed ? That is what I am not sure
about.
¯
Mr. MCCLoR~. That is the first time the President asked you, I
think, isn’t that the first time you told me about these payments, the
~Vhite House involvement, was March 21 ~
Mr. DF~. Well, the conversation on the 16th, Mr. McClory, was
I wasn’t going to arg~m with the President about a lot of things I
was saying, because he was talking about his public position and I
told him I didn’t care what he said publicly. I corrected him on some
thin~s.
Mr. MCCLOR~. You had other things going through your mind at
that time, but .you didn’t express them ?
Mr. DF.A~. That’s right.
Mr. McCLoe~. Now, drawing your attention to this subiect of payments, you had a number of conversations with Paul O’Brien well,
longbefore the 21st of March. didn’t you ?
Mr. DF.~.~-. I had almost daily contact with Mr. O’Brien from the

man.

[Material submitted for the record by Congressman Brooks entitle "White House Office Special Projects (Past 11 Years)" follows :]
C. ANALYSIS OF LAST 11 YEARS’ EXPENDITURES
WHITE HOUSE OFFICE SPECIAL PROJECTS (PAST U YEARS) SUPPLIED BY WHITE
THE HOUSE
Personnel
compeesation
Budlet and benefits

Total other
objects

Total
obligations

1973 (July 1, 1972 to June 30,1973) ...... 000
1972(july~I 1971 to June 30,1972) ...... 000 ..... ~i ............... ~i~000
00O
1971 (July 1 1970 to June 30,1971) .....
1970 (July 1[ 1969 to June 30,1970) .....
000
~0~
1969 (July 1, 1968 to June 30, 1969) .....

~.14, ~

Fiscal years

19~8 (July I 1967 to June 30, 1968) .....
1967 (July 1’, 1966 to June 30, 1967.) .....

612
027

196&(July 1,191;5 to June-300 1966) .....

203

1963 (July I, 1962 to June 30,1963) .....

000

l~(J.~ I. i~4 to J.ne ~0. I~.) .....
1964 (July 1, 1963 to June 30,1964) .....
The CHAIR:KAN. Mr.

~12
OOO

Unoblipted
balance
lepslng

$1,086,
25, 000
677, 000
000
000 ..............
000
137 000

203
899

658’ 797
778’ 101

150

353

0"0~
~’,
000

000

408, OOO

591
872

675’ 6~7
~0~
~34:491
000
275, 000

Hutchinson.
Mr. HUTCtIINSON. Mr. Dean, returning for a moment to the occasion
when you shredded a couple of notebooks.
Mr. D~A~. Yes~ sir.
Mr. H~rcH~SOm Did you examine those notebooks before you
shredded them
Mr. DF.~~. Only briefly, i did nothing more than flip through them.
They were very small and I saw that they contained names. I had been
told by Mr. O’Brien prior to that time and, in fact, shortly a~ter .I
came ]~ack from my meetine with Mr. Silbert and Mr. Glanzer, I had
asked him what is all of tl~is about the Hermes notebooks, what ar~e
they, what do they relate to. and he told me they related to the Ellsbere break-iu so that’s all I knew about that. And so, I can’t say that
I did read them or did look at them. I remember the small notebook
had names crossed out.
Almost every name had been crossed out of that when I flipped
through it.
Mr. H~rrcH~Nso~’. You didn’t read the notebooks in any way to retain
,ny memory of their contents
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day he arrived over there until the day he was called before the grand
jury, and that was the last time I saw him.
Mr. MCCLORY. And when he, or when money was needed, he would
contact you ?
Mr. DF~. Well, initially it was Mr. Parkinson and then it was
LaRue to Kalmbach and then it was LaRue, LaRue and O’Brien
both to me and then sometimes it would be Mitchell to me and sometimes was Colson to me as a result of calls¯
Mr. McCLORy. Now-Mr. DEA~. And Mrs. Hunt calls or there airs all sorts of commutations on who contacted who and I think I spelled that out in some detail in my Senate testimony.
The CHAZPa~A~. The ti]ne of the gentleman from Michigan has
expired. I recognize Mr. McClory.
Mr. McCLo]~. Can I have unanimous consent to use my 5 minutes
now, Mr. Chairman ?
The Cl~n~zA~. Without objection.
Mr. MCCLOR~. Thank you.
Now, as counsel for the President, you kept logs in the White House
and other White House personnel did, did you not ?
Mr. D~x. I kept telephone-Mr. McC~oR~. Telephone logs ?
Mr. Dm~. Records. My secretary did, yes.
Mr. McCLon~. So the telephone logs would tell about your-whether you placed telephone calls to Mr. O’Brien, would they not
Mr. DF~. In some instances, yes. In some instances, no. Mr.
O’Brien~s number was one that I had handy, it was not one that I
had any problem calling. The logs that my secretary kept are not complete of all of my calls by any means. The other thing is that I would
often pick up-Mr. McCLo]~. That is part of the white House property, the logs,
" youdon’t have those personally, do you ?
Mr: DF~. Yes~ sir; I do.
Mr. MOCLoRY. You have them .~
Mr. DF~. Yes, I do.
Mr. McCLoa~. Would you mind making available to the committee
your logs of March 20, 21, and 22 ?
Mr. DF~. I believe they are available to the committee.
Mr. McCLo]~r. And does our staff have those ? I would like to have
them made available to the committee members. Thank you.
You recall that Mr. McCord wrote to Judge Sirica on March 19~
1973. Did that ring a bell with you ? when did you first learn about
¯ that and what was your reaction to that, if any ?
Mr. DEAN. The first time I learned about it was the morning of the
23d. I was unaware of the fact that he had written the 19th until the
~o 23d~ and I had a call from Mr. O’Brien who ~)ld me somebody had
ca~led him from the courthouse and reported the substance of Mr.
Cord’s letter. Mr. O’Brien said he had been calling around and Mr.
McCord had nothing but hearsay, there was no problem, he couldn’t
prove anything. I called Mr. Ehrlichman. Mr. Ehrlichman I re-.
ported that to Mr. Ehrlichman and he said "I happen to have a copy
of the letter." And I said, "well, how in the world did you get a copy
of the letter ?"

And he said : "Well, it just came floating in here."
Mr. McCLo~:. And during the recess I did hand to you a copy of the
comparison of the part of the March 22d tape in which theirs is a dis.c~repa,~nc~ or a difference between the Judiciary Committee version and
me ~v rote House version. I listened to the tape myself, and just with
respect to the expression "coveruu ulan-" or "coveru,~ li-~
smo~ me ~angnage ~o De ~n order to get off of the covernp."
¯
¯ .Would
you have version
an idea or
:to whether
or not
the Judm]ary
Committee
oran
theopinion
White as
House
transcript
would
be
more aecurate~ according to your recollection
Mr. DF~. I can’t recall from independent memory and I haven’t
listened to that tape of yours, so--~
Mr. McCLo]~. It is true that on that date you were abandoning a sort
of a, clos~e a.dhere_nce t.o executive privilege and you were loosening up
or aoanaonmg that kind of coverup insofar as the assertion of executive privilege and going into something more flexible which was at
least letting things h~ng out partially, is tha£ rieht
Mr. DF~.-. Well, not~uite: No~ si~The discu~ssion of executive privilege was executive privilege. The references to it as being a bad policy
were the fact that it would make it appear to be a coverup. The di~cussmn--I never heard with synonymous terms with coverup and
covernp line or coverup plan .being synonymous with executive privilege. I think that much of the conversation on executive privilege was~
indeed, used as a device that would limit who was available and hov~
they were available and when they were available.
Mr. McCLoRy. Wasn’t that the broad subject of the discussion with
respect to the possi, ble {estifying of White House staff before the Sen~te Watergate ’Committee, and Pat Gray’s hearings in the Senate
M.r. DF~. The discussion on .the 92dwas like countless other discussmns we had had. It w:as very much like the morning discussion, it
was just a bdtting around of~ you know, is ,this good PR or not and
that’s really the way it ran.
¯
Mr. M. CCLoRy. You don’t have any opinion about what t’hose---which
expressmn would be right ?
Mr. D~a~. No, sir, I don’t.
The CH~R~. Would the gentleman yield
Mr. MCCLOR~. Surely¯
The CH~R~A~. I would just like to state ,that I listened to thut tape
this morning.
Mr. M~CLoR~. Well, how is your hearing
The C~Anu~. It’s good.
Mr. McCLoRy. Well, mine is too, and I thought it very clearly-The C~R~. And it reads like our transcript does.
Mr. R~LSB~CK. Will the gentleman yield briefly
The CH~a~. The gentleman from Illinois has the time.
Mr. McCLoaY. I would like to return to one other thing ~f I may.
The discussion with respect to clemency had this in mind, did it not,
.wasn’t Colso.n a long-time friend of Hunt, hadn’t Colson brought Hunt
rote the White House and Hunt’s wife had died recently, and he was
talking about a sympathetic attitude toward Hunt and that that was
the particular reason for discussing celmency in his individual case
Mr. DEAN. NO, sir, that’s not correct. It is correct partially, but it is
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not the reason, it was the justification that was conceived as to why
Mr. Colson could do i.t.,
Mr. M~LO~:~. It was your opinion there was a quid pro quo involved
them and it involved others .as well
Mr. D~AN. It is not my opinion, sir. It .was just what I heard during
the discussion. Mr. Colson had demands made upon him .that Mr. Hunt
wanted some assurances that he wouldn’t, given the fact~ that he was
going to plead, ’b~_ i~n jail the rest of his life, and he wanted some assurances from Mr. Colson.
Mr. MOCLO~Y. Would that .ap.ply~
Mr. D~AN. They ~vere~.~ all pleading. T~his 4s why it came up in this
case at that time.
The C~An~A~.. The time of .the gentleman has expired.
Mr. Kastenmemr.
Mr, KABTENMEIE1L Mr. Chairman~ I request that I may reserve my
time.
The CHAIRMAN, Mr. Smith.
~- ..~-~ Mr Dean, at the time that you found the two no~
~.: ~ .....
~-i’~l~,~ directo~ of Mr. Hunt’s, why did you aecme
ana ¢a~e pgpup ~e~t,-t*~,~--~ .... ~ ~-Z ~v~r to the FB~ and say, here is
to shred them r~,mer ~;nan nan~
some more of Hunt’s things that we found
~.nments that he l~a~
~now~"~i~ was just the only answer, as I saw it then.

Mr. S~Tr~. All rlgh ¯ .

¯

¯

Mr Chairman, I would like to reserve the balance of my time, ~f I
may~. .... r~The CHAIRMAN. Mr. ~awa o~s.
Mr. EDWARUS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Dean, on March 20, 1973, you told Mr. Ehrlichman and Mr.
Moore about the Hunt demands, is that correct
Mr. D~N. That is correct, and Mr. Krogh.
Mr. EvwA~us. And
Mr. D~A~. ~Vell, it’s--it’s my best recollection that he did, yes.
~r. EDWARDS- ~OW, Mr. Dean, do you have any evidence that any of
this was passed on ’by any of those people who became cognizant of
this very explosive information on March 20 to the President?
Mr. I)r~. It was my feeling, .afar talking to
was going directly down to meet the President and he said, as I recall, he said George Bush is down there, and there are some Governors.
So, I didn’t know whether he would raise it then or not, if he had an
opportunity a~ter the meetin~ to raise it, or however. But, I thought
that night when the President called that I made the point to the
President, I said before John Ehrlichman came down to meet with
you, and I am paraphrasing, before he came down to meet with you
~’ate this afternoon, I had a conversation with him. I wanted to make
it clear that, you know,
went on to say that :[ think that ,before, y, ou. kn,o.w, you make. any ju,d.gments, you Ought to have tl~e vroaaes~ lmpneations of this entire
matter.
That morning, ~efore .I. went in to see the. Presiden_t, I was frankly
surprised when NIr. Ehrlichman came walking out o~ the office before

me. I went in with the impression that the President, indeed, did
know before I told him.
Mr. EDWAttDS. My next question has to do with the telephone call.
The same night t~hat you advised Mr. F~hrlichman and Mr. Moore
and Mr. Krogh .about the Hunt demands, the President called you at
your home. I-Iad that ever.happened before ?
Mr. D~AN. I believe he might have called me before at home, but
it was a little different call. There was no doubt that when, after I
talked to Mr. Krogh, and Mr. Krogh and I being good friends, Mr.
Krogh knew I was extremely unhappy about what was going on, that
the coverup was going on. I thought--I told him I thought he was
getting, the President was getting that advice and other things. ~I knew
that he was some~.h.at distraught about .the entire coverup. I had been
for some months by then, and I was just finding more and more people I felt I had to talk .about it with, because I had been carrying it all
alone too long.
I received a call later from Mr. Ehrlichman, indicating he had
talked to Mr. Krogh later that evening, and he said, "Well, now don’t
worry about Bud and his problem of perjury. I think that’s no proble~n and I don’t think he perjured himself."
And then he also told me something that I had told Mr. Krogh,
which indicated that he had talked to Mr. Krogh at some length. I
suggested to Krogh that there might be some way, Bud, if we could
talk to Henry Peterson about it, to get you some sort of immunity
on a national security basis for your involvement in the Ellsberg
break-in and he liked the idea.
Well, I said I would brood on it, and maybe we could do something
about it.
Well, when Mr. Ehrlichman called me back after making this comment about Bud doesn’t have any perjury problem, he said, ’~vhy
don’t you call Henry Peterson and discuss it with lfim." And I said all
right, but I never did.
Mr. E~w~Ds. Nex~ -morning, on Y~arvh 21, at your meeting with
the President, was this rather explosive news that you gave to the
President that the White House was being held up for $120,000 and
so forth, with implications of blackmail and so forth, did he express
any anger or indignation at this bombshell that you had dropped ?
~Ir. D~AN. 1~O, sir, T don’t believe he did, and I don’t believe that the
transcripts ind~.cated that he did. And I don’t recall that he did.
Mr. EDWARDS. And a little while later, when Bob ttaldeman walked
in, he didn’t say to you, did he say to Haldeman, "Bob, we have really,
really got a problem here ?" He didn’t say anything like that? Did he
express any geeat concern to Haldeman ?
Mr. D~.A~. Well, when I was reading the transcripts, I was quite
surprised to see where Mr. Haldeman says really, really, really, and
I tried to reconstruct that and I remember what ha~l happe-ned. And I believe what had occurred there is Mr. Haldeman misunderstood me, that Mr. McCord was making these demands, that McCord
was playing hard ball. And that is why he was reacting that way,
because I don’t recall ~e President briefing Mr. Haldeman and he
went right into the con~ ersation with Mr. Haldeman, just as if he had
been present all along and privy to what the substance of the discussion was.
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Mr. EDWARDS. Thank you, Mr. Dean.
The CHAI1L~AN. Mr. Sandman.
Mr. SA~m~A~. Mr. Chairman, I would like to reserve my time.
The CH~r~A~. Mr. Hungate.
l~Ir. Hu~OA~E. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Dean, as I recall at one time you were counsel to the minority
of this committee ?
Mr. DF~. Yes, sir.
Mr. HU~GA~E. Served with us hem ?
Mr. DF~. That is correct. I have spent a lot of time in this very
room right here.
Mr. HU~GnTS. And throughout that time, if your competence, integrity, or veracity were ever questioned during that period, I never
heard of it.
Talking now, or addressing June 17, 1973, I think the testimony
was in Florida at that time. Or 1972, I beg your pardon, June 1972,
June 17.
Mr. D~A~. That is correct.
Mr. HU~G~TS. Do you know if the President returned to the White
House or to Camp David on June 18 of 1972 ?
Mr. DE~. No; I do not. I can only recall on the 19th being under
the impression that Mr. Ehrlichman was in telephonic communication
with Mr. Haldeman in Florida, is what he told me.
Mr. Hu~O~T~. Thank you.
Now, I ’believe you answered Mr. St. Clair that you never saw the
President at all after the DNC break-in and I take it th.at’s the one of
June 17, 1972, not the earlier May one, but from the time of that June
17 break-in, until September 15, 1972. Did I understand that correctly ?
Mr. DEA~. I never talked to him about Watergate. Other than that I
don’t know. I may wel.1 have been--the White House records may show
that I was in the office for some other purpose, but that was the only
time I was in there or~
Mr. HV~G~T~. For discussion of the Watergate matter, is that
correct ~.
Mr. D~. That’s correct.
Mr. Hv~.~T~. All right, sir.
Now, in the Presidential documents, and I believe you have one
them, there should be one there, the White House document like
this~
Mr. Dv.a~. This comparison ?
Mr. HUN~ATE. NO. NO. I beg your pardon. These are press releases
and statements. I am looking at page 3 of that. There is a question in
the press conference :
Mr. President, wouldn’t it be a good idea for a Special Prosecutor, even from
your standpoint, to be appointed to investigate the contribution situation and
also the Watergate case.

And the President replied about the GAO investigation, the FBI~
and the Department of Justice, and then he ~oes on to say, "In addition to that, in my own staff, under my direction, Counsel to the Preso
ident, Mr. Dean," this is on August 29, 1972, "Counsel to the President, Mr. Dean, has conducted a complete investigation of .all leads
which might involve any present members of the W’hite House staff

or anybody in Government. I can say categorically that his investigation indicates no one in the White ~ouse staff, no one in this administration presently employed was involved in this very bizarre incident."
I take it you are the Mr. Dean referred to in that statement ?
Mr. Dsa~. Yes, sir.
t estimony
.M.r. HV~Ts.
AndSt.
thisClair,
is August
as I understand
to Mr.
from29,
the1972,
timeand
of June
17, 1972 your
until
September 15, 1972, the President, to your recollection~ never discussed the Watergate matter with you.
Mr. DF~r. No, sir.
Mr.Hu~TE. Thank you. "
I direct your attention to page 5 of the Presidential documents. This
is a press conference, news conference of March 2, 1973.
In regard to the Watergate ease, the investigation conducted .by Mr. Dean, the
White House Counsel, which particularly he had access to ~BI records on this
particular matter, ,because ’I directed him to conduct this investigation, Indicates no one on the White House staff at the time he conducted the investigation
last July or August was involved or had knowledge of the Watergate ~natter.

That again refers to you, does it not Mr. Dean ?
Mr. D~. Yes: it does.
Mr. HU~T~ On page 8 I believe you referred to that or a part of
that earlier in the terms of the lawyer privilege as well as Presidential
privilege and executive clemency.
Continuing on page 8, the President states at a press conference of
March 15,1973 : "
I am very proud of the fact that in this Administration we have been more
forthcoming in terms of relationship between the E~ecutive, the White House and
~he Congress than any Administratibn in memory. We have not drawn a curtain
down and said there can ~e no information furnished by members of the White
House staff because of this special relationship with the President.

And then continuing on page 9, in answer to a question :
Mr. President, would you ’be willing to h~ve Mr. Dean sit down informally and
let some of the Senators question him, as they have Dr. Klssinger.

The President, in reply, states in the second paragraph that:
We .have the relationship we have with Mr. Dean and the President of the
United States, his Counsel, that would not be a proper way to handle it. He will
however, the important thing is, he will furnish all pertinent information, he will
be completely forthcoming, something that other Administrations have totally
refused to do until we got here, and I am very proud of the fact that we are forthcoming and I would respectfully suggest that Members of the Congress might
look at that record as they decide to test it.

Now, that refers again to you, ]fir. Dean, is that right~ and your
possible testimony ~. Is that ri.ght ?
Mr. DF~. Mr. Hun~ate, that is true.
Mr. HU~ATE. Thank ~ou.
¯
The CHAIn~A~. The t~me of the gentleman has expired.
Mr. Railsback.
Mr. R~XLSm~CK. Mr. Dean, I would like to call your attention to page
121 of the transcripts that I think you have on your desk, and refer you
to that part of a conversation ihat took place on the morning of
March 2~ involving the President and yourself and which begins with
the President’s saying: .
That’h why, that’s why~that’s why your, for your immediate thing you’ve got
~o choice with Hunt but the hundred and twenty or whatever it is. Right?
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self and Mr. Haldeman and I think terminated at 6:17 p.nL We have
not ’been able to get that tapa
Based on your review of the transcripts and your recollection
your conversation on that days was that the time that you engaged
in a conversation concerning the IRS ~
Mr. DeA~. Yes; it was The first time I read these tapes I immediately reacted, I said well where is the rest of the conversation because
I remember this very vividly. I did not testify about it in any great
detail in the Senate. I didn’t use for example~ didn’t want to do it
on public television~ ~Ir. Shultz’ name and the comments the President made about that, but that is very vividly in my mind.
]~Ir. RAILSBACK. IS it your further recollection that this was the
first time that the President was advised of this requested audit of
the McGovern contributors ~
~/Ir. DEA~. No~ sir. That wasn’t my impression. My impression
was, and I think .that’s revealed partially l~n the tape that is ther~
that there was discussion about what to do with the McGovern situation. There is a reference to a mail check. That went right beyond my
head at the time and apparently it was something that Mr. Ehrlichman was conducting. I don’t even know what a mail check is. _
Mr. RAu~mAc~. Were you~ instructed to tell Mr. Walters on ~eptember 11 that the President himself had not authorized ~
Mr. DF~. I was instructed to not use the President’s name, that
Mr. RA~LS~C~. And who instructed you ~
]~fr. I)~. Well~ that was very clear in my discussions with Mr.
Ehrlichman.
]~Ir. RA~LSBAC~. In your conversation on September 15 with the
President~ was it clear to you~well, no, let me just ask you thisMr. D~Az~. May I just correct the record ? You keep saying the
llth. I testified earlier it was the 13th. I am off 2 days~ and that was
just my recollection of it being the 13th, so I would like to correct
that to the llth.
]~Ir. RAILSBAGK. All right. Let me ask you about the September 15
conversation that you now believe took place from at least after 6
o’clock. Can you give us a little bit more ~_uformation about what the
conversations were about ?
l~Ir. I)EA~. Yes; I can.
l~Ir. RA~LSSACK. And the extent of the President’s knowledge about
the requested audits ~.
]V[r. DEA~. ~Vell, I can’t tell you what prompted the discussion
the audit. I can only recall that that launches the President into
into an extended discussion about the situation and about the Internal
Revenue Service and not using it effectively and from there we immediately went to the fact that we were not using the entire, apparatus
of the Government effectively and the changes that would be made
after the election. And immediately Mr. Haldeman started taking notes
of this and he reported to him well, we have some plans and programs
for after the election to get our people out in those agencies and the
like.
I m~ght al~o add that I believe there are other things in the remainder of that transcript that are relevant to this and that I told to
him there were hurdles down the road that we couldn.~ get over.

Mr. RAILSBACK. Well, you said for one thing-The CHA~R~. The.time of the gentleraan has expired.
Mr. R~aLSB~¢K. Mr. Chairman, I thinh: Mr. Smith has reserved some
;ime. Could I possibly use his time now ?
The C~Anu~. If the gentleman wants ?
Mr. S~rrm Mr. Chairman, I will yield to the ~ent]eman.
The CHAm~A~. Without Objection. You hav~ 4 minutes and 16 seconds le~.
Mr. DF~. That there were hurdles down the road that I couldn’t
~uarantee that we could get over. This became very evident to me when
[ read the portion of the transcript that?s available that I was talking
abo~t this point. This point and this point, and I later came back and
~old him how if we delete this hurdle, and there were more hurdles,
~mething to this effect. This is the gist of the conversation, and
~ouldn’t promise him that someday it wouldn’t unravel. That’s my
memory..
Mr. i{A~LSBACK. Did I understand your testimony this morning that
~t some point the President made re~ference ,to George Shultz and referred to him as a candyass ~.
Mr. D~AN. ’Something to that effect, yes.
.
Nir. RAILSBACK. Did the President also say that if you needed any
help that he would be willing to help you a~complish your purpose ~.
Mr. DF~. That is correct.
Mr. RA~LSBACK. NOW, what happened when you were unsuccessful
in obtaining ~any cooperation from either a~Darently Secretary
Shultz--well, I have since ’.been led to believe he tu’~ned it off or refused
to comply with the request and you were not successf~fl in your following with Walters. What, if anything, did you do ’and what if any help
did you request from the President, and ~vl~t did he do
Mr. DZA~. Well, I have got to be very. candid. I was happy it had
been turned off. I didn’t like it, and I didn’t do anything more. I got
continual--one of Mr. Ehrlichman’s staff assistants, Mr. Hullin, continued to call me and ask me about it.. And I think, I gather from a conversationI had with Mr. Walters that he had also called Mr. Walters
and Mr. Walters was a little annoyed about it, but they ket~t resisting
and resisting, so I don’t know if the President got back in it or not or
I don’t know, I don’t know of any audits that were accomplished.
Mr. RAmSBACK. I see. Do you have any knowled~ of your own that
the---I assume that it would be from a~ earlier conversation that you
h.ad with John Ehrlichman that the President knew about these audits
prior to the September 15 conversation ?
Mr. DZAN. Con~oTessman, that would be pure speculation on my part,
and I would prefer not to speculate.
Mr. RAILSBACK. I see. In other words, when you did--I take it yo:u
met with Ehr]ichman--well, what w~as the authorization, the genes~s
of the authorization for doin~ what you did ?
Mr. D~. Started from Higby tellin~ me about something I didn’t
know anything about. Then later fron~ :Ehrlichman I got a hold
Chotiner. Chotiner told me about what the plan was. Chotiner collected the list, brought k over to me, I got continual calls from
Ehrlichman’s assistant, Hullin, to ask on the status of it. Finally, it
came--I finally got Walters over to rr~y office, sat down, told him..

Walters was a good friend of mine. He and I talked about IRS and the
problems of IRS and I told him this is what I have been asked to do.
He said, "Does it come from the President" and I said, "No; it doesn’t
come from the President," because that was the only way he said he
would even consider it further. And he just said it couldn’t be done and
then he went and got Secretary Shultz to back him up on it and I was
happy at that and then I think it did come up in the September 15
conversation.
Mr. RAmSBACK. May I just ask you one other thing. This involves
the CIA and the meetings that were held following the June 17 breakin. I believe that at one point you had a conversation with the President, perhaps it was John Ehrlichman that had a conversation. You
met with Walters and that’s when you were trying to get the CIA to
indicate there were possibly covert operations ~
Mr. DF~. Yes.
Mr. RA~LSBACK. Was there any Presidential involvement that you
know of there ~.
Mr. DF~. Well, not on my side ; no. All I know is Mr. Ehrlichman
told me when I went to him with the plan that had been given to me
over at the Re-Election Committee with Mr. Mardian and Mr. Mitchell, to check the CIA because they were competent to handle this. I
went to Mr. Ehrlichman with this and I said, "I don’t know ~anybody
at the CIA, I have never dealt with them. I don’t know Helms from
Adam and this is rather sensitive." And he said, "Well, don’t call
Helms." He said, "Get ahold of General Walters, we have already had
a little chat," and I said, "OK."
He said, "If you have any problems with Walters, have Walters
call me."
I called Walters and, indeed, I had a problem with Walters. He
didn’t know who in the hell I was, and so he--in fact, I called him by
the wrong name, used the wrong first name. So, he subsequently called
Mr. Ehrlichman and then called me back and said, "I have checked it,
I will come and see you." And then I had my conversation with him,
which I have testified to.
The CHAml~AN. The time of the gentleman from New York has
expired.
Mr. Eilberg.
Mr. Co~E~s. Pardon me.
The CH~n~.~. Oh, Mr. Conyers. I’m sorry.
Mr. CO~ERS. Thank you.
Mr. Dean, the great number of plans that you have testified to here
before the Senate committee that we have heard on tapes all point
out a continuing web of crime and illegal activity emanating from
the Wh~e House, is t0nut correct ?
Mr. S~FF~. Mr. Chairman, may I object to the form of that
question ?
The CH~m~. I suggest that the gentleman from Michigan rephrase his question.
Mr. Co~Y~RS. I will withdraw the question and attempt to rephrase
it, Mr. Chairman. Isn’t it true that your activities in connection with
the Watcrgate coverup were understood to have been in the name of
the President ?
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Mr. D~AN. Mr. Congressman.
Mr. S~A~’~Fm. May I object to the form of that question. Understood by whom ?
Mr. Co~~zas. I will withdraw the question.
The CI~Aim~m¢. I think I have to sustain the objection.
Mr. Co~-~E~s. I will try another approach, Mr. Chairman. Now,
isn’t it true that these activities of Watergate and the coverup were
done in the name of reassuring the election of the President ?
Mr. D~.Ax. I think the best way I can answer the question is that
there was ~reat concern b those involved and I can speak for m self
o_nly_ on th~ls, that the ~rVaYt~rgate incident would affect the reel~ion
of the President, it would affect the operations of the White House,
his ability to conclude the negotiations with regard to Vietnam. Th~e
w.ere all ~hings that loomed ]n our mind as important enough to do
what we were doing. Now, right or wrong, the motive for th~ act, misconstrued or not, these sort of motivations.
Mr. Co~¢xa~. I, of course, I understand that applies to the Huston
plan as well, does it not .~
Mr. D~A~. Well, I can’t speak to the Huston plan. I inherited the
plan.
Mr. CoN~s. I know you did, but you understood what it was and
what it aimed to do ~.
Mr. D~A~. Yes; I did.
Mr. (3o~~s. And wasn’t that working in the same general direction of the objectives you have described ?
Mr. DxA~. In my own opinion I can’t say that; no.
Mr. (3o~r~s. But what about the operations of the plumbers unit
in the W]aite House. What objective would you say that they were
working toward ? Mr. I)zx~. Well, not being involved in the establishment of the
plumbers and, in fact, they established it without my knowledge, I
ran into it by accident. I think that given the fact that I haxl earlier
had some conversations where I had tried to turn off a burglary of
the Brookings that they figured that Dean isn’t the man for this type
of operation, so I can’t tell you.
Mr. CoNYzv~s. Bt~t you were ~ware of ~e plvli~bers and their operation within the White House ? That was not really a secret operation
to the extent~
Mr. Z)~. To the extenb-Mr. C~o~x~s [continuing]. Members of the staff of the Presidem.
were unaware of it ?
Mr. Z)~a~. Well, flhe fac~ that ,there was a unit down there working
on leal~s .and declassifica*ion ~ ~o secret.
Mr. Co~x~ms. Right. And that activity was surreptitious, was it.
not?
Mr. I)~. The leak ac~-ivity ?
Mr. (30~E~S. All of their activities ? The Plumbers’ activities were
generally undisclosed and unknown to the general public ?
Mr. I)~.A~. That is correct.
]~Ir. COl~E~s. And to the Congress, and was operating in a clandestine fashion, is that true ?
Mr. I)~A~-. That is correct. Yes.

Mr. Co.~-x~Ess. And would you not, as you have reviewed this matter,
as we have, come to the point, the conclusion that ~his was, in effect,
an extra legal police activity in that they were committing activities
that were normally reseevedto law enforcement officers ?
Mr. SHAFFER. Mr. Chairman ?
Mr. DEA.’. Mr. Chairman, I would like to be excused from offering
opinions.
Mr. WmG~cs. Mr. Chairman, I object to the form of ~he question.
The CHAIRmAn. I think that the witness should be excused.
Mr. CO~YFaVS. I will withdraw the question. I am trying to get from
you, sir, the notion that this was, that t’here were a number of activities going on in the White House that were clearly of an illicit, illegal
and covert nature that spread throughout the Plumbers activities,
that even started before the Watergate and the coverup so that there
were a seamless web of activities not generally known to the American
people. Isn’t that fair to say ?
Mr. W~c~cs. Mr. Chairman, I object.
Mr. D~A~. Might I ask that I might ’be excusedMr. Wi~mi~s. May I interpose an objection before the witness
answers?
The CH~Im~. The time of the gentleman has expired.
Mr. CO~YFmS. Can I get an answer to that ?
Mr. DF~A~. I requested to be excused----.
The C~Am~A~. The objection has been made and the Chair is going
to sustain the objection.
Mr. Wiggins.
lV[r. Wm~Ns. With regard to this pervasive activity which has just
been described~ you didn’t understand that it involved any initial
misconduct on the part of the President, though, did you ?
Mr. DF~. You are asking me to speculate, Mr. Wiggins, and I
would prefer not to.
Mr. WlooI~S. Well, let me read you a sentence from your Senate
select committee testimony at page 914, and tell me if it is true. The
sentence is "It is my honest belief that while the President was involved, that he did not realize or appreciate at the time the implications of his involvement. And I think that when the facts come out,
I hope the President is forgiven." Is that a true statement ?
Mr. DF~. That is a statement of opinion, and that’s one of the ~ew
I offered in the Senate also.
Mr. WIooI~CS. Did you at that time honestly hold that opinion ~
Mr. DEA~. Yes, sir, I did.
Mr. WIG~IXCS. l~ow, Mr. Dean, I have gone over this extensive paper
of yours and it is indeed that and it fully justifies your taking credit
for a good memory.
I would like to call your .attention, if you will, to the events on or
about late June of 197’2 and ask if at that time, you had a discussion
with any other person with regard to the raising of money for the
defendants. I am seeking, Mr. Dean, your first conversations when the
subject arose.
Mr. D~A~. You mean the first date.
Mr. Wicmi~s. Yes; if you can.
Mr. DEA~. I can’t~ I testified in the Senate that I thought it was after
the rejection of the CIA idea and it occurred at about the 28th. You

will note when I used that date, I was speculating and I think, as I
recall, I prefaced that date with, "That was the best I could remember." I would say on or about---Mr. WIc~INs. That is fine. Would you tell us who was present at that
meeting on or about June ~8 ?
Mr. Dm~N. Well, there was more th~n one discussion, also.
Mr. Wi~mINs. The first one that you remember, please.
Mr. D~.An. Well, the first one might have preceded that because we
talked about the problem with regard to the CIA being able to do this
function.
Mr. W~c~INs. I am interested in your best memory as to the first
conversation at which the discussion was raised concerning the payment of money to these defendants.
Mr. D~AN. I can’t give you the date of the first discussion.
Mr. W~mins. Well, can you give me the participants in that discussion, whenever it occurred ?
Mr. DEAN. I ~leSS I can. Mardian, Mitchell, I think LaRue was
present, and myself.
Mr. WIGGINS. NOW, to the best of your recollection, please testify
what was said by the parties at that time insofar as it relates to the
payment of money.
Mr. DEAN. Well, there was a realization, apparently based on conversations that had been had with Mr. Liddy, that they were expecting
that certain commitments be honored and if they got their attorneys
and those attorneys paid for because none of them could afford them-I also remember the fact that Mr. Liddy said his wife was ill and had
expensive care treatments and things of this nature---that that would
solve the problem. It was not as direct a threat initially as it became,
for example, with the Colson conversation.Mr. Wic~iNs. Well, let’s not talk now about the latter conver~tion,
but confining our attention to the earlier one, have you testified to your
best recollection of what was said at that time ?
Mr. DuN. I cmunot say at this time who said what and the like. I
can only recall the gist of the conversations.
Mr. W~c~r~s. Did the conversation include a mention of commitments.which was relayed from Liddy ? As I understand your testimony, he mentioned some family problems as well.
Mr. DEAn. That is one of the things I do remember, the fact that
these fellows had there was a bail problem, making bail, and that
they were expecting that these commitments would be honored.
Mr. W~ooINs. All right. Now, you relayed that information to Mr.
Ehrlichman shortly thereuP~er, did you not ?
Mr. Dun. That is correct.
Mr. WIoGINs. And as a result of the conversation with Mr. Ehrlichman, you contacted Mr. Kalmbach ?
Mr. DEAN. NO, sir, that is no~ the sequence.
Mr. WIc~Ns. Before we get to the sequence, did you tell’Mr.
Ehrlichman accurately what you had learned from the earlier meetin~ ?
Mr. DEAn. Mr. Wf~gins, ~vhenever I was imparted information~I
t-ried to convey as best I could back to Haldeman or Ehrli~hman whatever it was and vice versa.
Mr. WI~Ins. All right. I will accept that.

Thereafter, you did have a conversation with Mr. Kalmbach, did
you not., concerning the subject of money ~
Mr. D~AN. After I was able to get Vhe approval .or the request, of
Mr. Mitchell to bring Mr. Kalmbach forwsrd to do this, knowing.
that this was going to be something that would require the approval
of Mr. Haldeman and Mr. Ehrlichma~, I went back and got their apvroval, then called Mr. Kalmbach, and Mr. Kalmbach came back east.
The ’C~Ia~AN. The time of the gentleman has expired.
Mr. Eilberg ?
Mr. EIL~.aG. Mr. Chairman, I would like to reserve my time.
The Cm~m~ra~. Mr. Dennis ~
Mr. DENNXS. Mr. Dean, you have stat~ tl~at it was your impre~aion
that the President had heard about H.unt’s de~nands before you saw
him on the morning of March 21. Nevertheless, that. remains exactly
that, your impression, correct .~
Mr. DEA~. T~lat is correct. Not totally, ill thttt---Mr. DENNIS. Well, now, you have answered my questiom
Mr. D~An. All right, fine.
Mr. DENNIS. Referring uguin to t,h,,e contents of Mr. IIunt’s safe,
how did you happen to find the IIermes no, book und the popup notebook in your s~fe ?
Mr. D~n. I was requested, after I had my meeting with Mr. Silbert
down at the U.S. attorney’s office and I had relayed to Mr. Petersen
the fact that there hurl been material turned over to Mr. Gray--and
at that time, it ~as my impression or conception thut, by golly, that
is where the Hermes notebooks would be, in those envelopes. I had no
idea what ~ Hermes notebook was.
Mr. D~NN~s. How did those envelopes get in your safe ~.
Mr. DEAN. Well, Mr; Fielding of my office and I, in a very unsystematic and--unfortunut~ly, we didn’t catalog everything; I wish we
had--packed the things in my safe. We could not get everything in
there.. Some of the things ~ had to send to David Young. Some of
the~the big suitcase I locked in an outer office drawer and I stuffed
the rest of the things in the safe.
Mr. D~NNIs. Let ~nc :ask you E~is: W’hen you took the contents of
Hunt’s safe and gave part of it to the agents und later gave part
of it to Gray, were you conscious at that time that you had some of it
left that you had put in your safe~.
Mr. DEAn. NO, sir, I ~as not. As ~ m~tter of fact, Mr. Fielding was
the one who got the envelopes out for me to send over to Mr. Gray.
One of the problems with my dealing with my safe was I was unable to open it. I could not handle the combination. I knew what it
was, but every time I turned the dials---~Y[r. DENniS. Your answer is you don’t know how it got into your
safe, thut right ?
Mr. I)~AN. I assume it was placed in there by either Fielding or
myself when the muterial was placed in there the night we had gone
through it.
Mr. D~s. And you had not sufficiently curiosity, even though
you knew this was from Hunt’s safe and you’knew that Mr. Gray had
~hredded some papers, you had not sufficient cu_riosity to ~ tl~_ese
notebooks when you found them and found out what was in them ~.

Fir. DEAN. There was not that much in them. Just thumbing through
them, I didn’t really want ~]mow.
.
Mr. D~.NNIs. Do you remember the names or addresses
Mr. DF~N. It was not a pleasant--I was pregnant., but it was not
a pleasant act to stick these in the shredder, but it was the best answer
at the time, in my perception of things.
Mr. DENNIS. When you talked to Mr. Colson, walking between the
~Vhite House and the EOB, about the fact that he had said that he
had talked to the President about clemency for Mr. Hunt, that was
about January.. 3, approximatel, y, is that right~,.
Mr. DEA~. It was the fourth or fifth, I think.
Mr. DEN~S. Of January 1973 ?
Mr. D~AN. Yes.
Mr. D~.~-~s. Did Mr. Colson tell you when he had talked to the
President ?
YIr. DEAN. Well, I could only assume what had happened.
Mr. DEN~xs. No, I wanted to know whether he told you when he
had talked to him.
Fir. DF~N. No, but I can tell you because of the very short sequence
of time when it would have been.
We had met in Mr. Ehrlichman’s office where we discussed the matter generally as to what Colson should say to Mr. Bittman. Ehrlichthis~ that he had already talked about the President some time ago and
this was something he should not raise, but he shonld give him general
assurances without giving him any commitments.
The next day--then Colson tal~:s to Bittman. After he does that, he
calls a hurried meeting to come back and tell Ehrlichman and myself
how he has. handled--he was very pleased with the way he had handled
He said, "Well, I gave him all kinds of assurances, but I don’t think
I gave him any "
Fir. D~.~s. I only asked you when he talked to the President.
Mr. DF~N. I am getting to your point. It was after that meeting that
he told me that he had given the assurances to Bittman, when we were
walking over, he said, "You know~ John, I felt this is so important
tha~ I really should take it up with the President."
Mr. D~NN~s. All right. Did he- ~
Fir. D~AN. I will tell you what else he said to m~ He said, "Hunt is
a good friend of mine and I really would not want to give him that
assurance without having any backup at all."
Mr. DENnis. All right. Did he tell you what he said to the President
and what the President said to him ?
Fir. D~A~. No, sir; I didn’t ask him.
Mr. DENNIS. You didn’t ask him .~
Mr. DZAN. No, sir, I was sort of surprised he had done it because
Ehrlichman told him not to do it~
Fir. D~z~IS. You say that in the conversation on March. 21, you were
trying to persuade the President not to make payments to Hunt
Fir. DF~. That was my initial motive and I was shortly turned
around.

Mr. DE~cls. That was the same conversation referred to here a minute ago by Mr. Railsback, in which ~.ou said that obviously, he ought
to be given some signal, anyway, wasit not ~.
Mr. DF~N. That was to be something less than money.
Fir. I~N~S. And was it also the same conversation in which, while
the matter of paying Hunt was under discussion, you said, that is
worth buying time on.
The CHAIR]~AN. YOU can answer the question, but the time of the
gentleman has expired.
Please answer the question.
Mr. D~. That is the same conversation, but as I have said, that
was the--by th~ time, I ’lind been turned around. I ~vould slowly
turn the other way and I would be turned .back around again, if you
read the conversation in context.
The CHAnnel. Mr. Waldie.
Mr. WAL~. Mr. Dean, you testified to a meeting xcith the U.S.
attorneys, at ~vhich point the question of your hand~’ng over certain
matters to Fir. Gray from Fir. Hunt’s safe came up and you asked
Mr. Petersen to step outside.
Mr. DEa~. That is correct.
l~fr. WA~)rE. You told him if that matter were pursued, you would
have to testify that that was what was done, and as I understood you~
you said Mr. Petersen then dropped that subject and that was the
end of the interview.
Mr. D~A~. Well~ he terminated the meeting after that. ,I-Ie-came
back in with me and after that, the problem was eliminated, because
Fir. Hunt had pleaded guilty and they used Fir. Kehrli and Fir.
Fielding rather than Dean to testify as to the handling of the
sequence of the evidence.
Fir. WALDr~. Well, that problem was eliminated, but the problem of
Mr. Petersen’s he~rin’g that information and not proceeding any ~urther seems to me to b~ar some further examination.
Did you convey to any other individual such as the Attorney General, Mr. Kleindienst, that the top prosecutor was informed that you
had passed materials to Mr. Gray and did not pursue that ?
Fir. DF~. No. I told El~rlichm,~n after I Calked to Fir. Gray
th~ Fir. Gray had informed ~ne that the documents h~d been
destroyed.
Mr. W.~LD~E. Well, but did you tell anybody ~bout Mr. P~t~rsen~s
role in obviously, I gather, attempting to’permit the coverup relative
to the documents in Mr. Gray’s hand to be sustained ?
Mr. ’SH~FF~m Mr. C..h~irmum I object to the question, because it
calls for a characterization of Fir. Petersen’s conduct by my client and
my client does not know .what steps Fir. Pcters~n d’id or did not take
with respect .to Mr. Gray ~o find out as to ~he truC.h or falsity of ~vhat
my client said.
Mr. WA~DrE. I will apologize ~or the question and rephrase it.
Did ~ou discuss Mr. Petersen~s conduct which I characterize as
peculia~ I do not ask you to accept that at all--with any other individual superior to you ~.
Mr. D~. Well," lVfr. Ehrlichman was aware o~ it, and as I have
said--
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Mr. WAL~ra Did you discuss Mr. Petersen’s conduct in that
instance with Mr. Ehrlichmun ~
Mr. I)~A~. No, I did not.
Mr. WAL~rE. HOW was he aware of your experience with Mr.
Petersen, then ~
Mr. DF~. I think he was when I told him about the destruction. I
told him how that had come up. I told him that it had come up when
we were down there being interviewed and that Gray had told me
subsequently_ it was being destroyed. I don’t recall specifically discussing Mr. t’etersen,.thou~.
Mr. WAL~r~. Did you discuss Mr. Petersen’s role with anyone ~ Did
you discuss that incident with Mr. Petersen with anyone other than
the Senate Select Committee ?
l~r. I)F~X. I don’t believe so, no.
~i[r. WALDr~ You referred to Mr. Petersen in a conversation with
the President as being a good soldier. Was this incident part of the
reason for you to have concluded he was a good soldier ~
Mr. I~x. No sir, it was not.
"
Mr. WAI~I~. Had .this invident occurred prior to or subsequent to
that conversation ?
Mr. DF~. Prior to.
Mr. W~L~m. Well, did you not think he was being a good soldier
when he---Mr. I)F~. I thought_ he had been a good soldier because of the fact
that we were concerned that the investigation could go into countless
ot~be~r ~reas quite by a_ccident--~e "Plumbers," things of {1~ ~ature.
~v~r. W~urr~ But this with Mr. Gray would have been quite by intention. You were concerned that he would have discovered Mr. Gray.
Well, you told him~
]~r.’D~A~. I believe I learned subsequently that Mr. Petersen went
to Mr. Gray right after that incident bappene’d.
Mr. W~um After you had told him ?
l~r. I)~. Yes, that is correct.
Mr. WAL~I~. When did you learn that he went to Mr. Gray
Mr. D~A~v. I think this was in the Senate testimony or something
to that effect. It also came up with the prosecutors when we first
raised it that they said that Peterkin had checked this out and Gray
had denied it. As a result of Gray den~ing it, and then he re-denied
it again in April of 1973, when I raised it again, and as a result of
that,-Mr. WA~. All right, then, will you describe what you meant by
Mr. Petersen bein~ a good soldier?
Mr. I)~. Well, I had known Mr. Peterseu since the days I worked
on th.is committee~I ,h~l worked with hhn; I had ~o~en to l~o~v
him better at the Department of Justice~and that Henry called
them the way he saw them. He played them straight down the middle
e dadn t see any reason to get ~nto things that were superfluou~
d~dn t want any mveshgat~on w~de open of the Whate House and he
w~_u.ld investigate the very. na~. o_w issue of who broke in the Watergate.
Mr..,W~.L~. When you saad he was a good soldier, you did not
~m~)~y ~nat we could really trust old Henry to kee~ all ~ur cards in
order with a very narrow inquiry which we were seeking

Mr. DF~. I think that that is also--I think the good soldier description is even further illuminated in later transcripts, where I described
Petersen later on to the President as a man who, you know, I don’t
feel has done anything improper. Iknew of nothing. I hoped I hadn’t
in any vcay compromised Petersen, because I was aware of his sensitive role when we talked about bringing him into, as a special counml that can advise us, on the 23d. I sa~d"" this could cre~t~ realproblems
for the man as the head of the Criminal Division in the U.S. Justice
Department in his oath of office. If you will remember that.
Mr. FIS~. Mr. Dean, I have two short questions, then I want to
yield to the gentleman from California, Mr. Wiggins.
Going back to your testimony quite early in the day, you were talking about the me~ting of September 15th and you are familiar, are you
not, witch the transcript prepared by the Inquiry staff of your meeting
with the President on September 15
Mr. D~A~. Yes, I am.
Mr. Flsm It was my understanding that this morning, in response to
Mr. ])oar, you sa.id tl~at at the time you ~net the President on the 15th,
you told the President about your meeting with Mr. Welters and, as I
had you down here, you say "I related this to the President."
My question to you is, D~d you relate to him the specifies of why you
went to l~Ir. Walters and of the meeting with Mr. Welters
Mr. D~,\~. I cannot recall with specificity how much of that matter
was raised. I just have this vivid recollection of the discussion about
Mr. Shultz’ role and the fact that IRS was not performing and I think
that the best evidence of that is obviously .the tape.
Mr. :Fis~. And you are referring to that part of the tape that is
not transcribed that. Mr. Rai]sback explored with you
Mr. :DzA~. That is correct..
Mr. :FIs~. La~er on, we are now here on the 27th of February. I
believe you said that at the end of the meeting of the 27th, you told the
President of your doubts that the coverup could’be continued. "He gave
me a pep talk and said that we must hang in there and fight, or words
to that ~ffect. Is that. your testimonv~, th:is
Mr. I)Fm,W. I mentioned the clasping of the first in the hand in the pep
talk, yes.
¯ , ~]~
Mr. :F~H. Well, now, what I don t understand, is if thi~ occurred
on the ~Tt’h of Februury that you used the term coverup, that you
give no evidence~
Mr. I)F~. No~v, you ,Rave ~aken Iiterally my characterization again.
Mr. :Fxs~. I have down--I ~hought I would verify if that was your
quote.
Mr. D~AZ~. I am saying that I am not saying that is the exact
language ’I used with ~he Presiden~ I.w~s trying to cI~aracterize what
occurred at the end of that meeting.
Mr. :Fm~. Well(are you ~elling us that wh~t you said to the Pres~dent in that meeting c~uld be construed by him in any other way than
coveru D ?
Mr. :D~A~. I doubt it very seriously.
Mr. F~sH. My point is if you were talking to him about a coverup and you. presume that. he understood what you were talking about,
and you g~ve us no ewdence of his surprise, why is it almost a month
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late~, on the 21st of March~ that you feel you have to go in and tell
him about a coverup ?
Mr. DEA~. Well, there are a lot Of missing conversations between
the 27th and the 21st. There were, from time to.time, conversations
~bout Wat~rga~e. There is no doubt .in_ my mind--I am not going to
cite and speculate as to all the things that rumble around in the back
of my ~ because I ¢an~ put t~m ~n a certa~u d~te~ I can~ .be-t~at
specific. But they are in the back of my head. The best evidence, again,
will be when this committee reviews those transcripts.
Mr. FISH. Mr. Chairman~ I would like to yield to Mr. Wiggins at
this point.
¯ Mr. WIc~I~S. Redirecting your attention to these early conversations in June of 1972 about the payment of money, you have testified
to a conversation with Liddy and others, and thereafter, you went to
.~r. Ehr]ichman and reported that conversation to him and the next,
m sequence, as I understand it, Mr. Dean, is a conversation with Mr.
Mitchell. Would you please relate to us what was said by Mr. Mitchell,
what was said by yonin that couvcration.
Mr. DF~. ][ am not sure, Mr. Wiggins, what conversation you were
talking about. You have caosulized a whole series of things that I
think I laid out in considerable detail in my Senate testimony. If you
could be more specific, I could tell you which one we are talking about ~
Mr. WI~_~s. Yes. I ~am Sryin~ to direzt your ~tten:tion to u con"
versation with Mr. Mitchell following a discussion with Mr. Ehrlichman at which the subject was money and the involvement, perhaps, of
Mr. Kalmbach.
l~ow, does that refresh your recollection ?
Mr. DF~. All right, I understand your question, but I can’t accept the way you phrase it. I think I know the answer you are looking
for.
Mr. WI~I~s. Just give me what was said by the parties; that is all
I am interested in.
Mr. D~. All right. It was after, as I recall, the CIA was eliminated as a feaszble" approach to deal with financing, the, support of
the.se individuals, that Mr. Mitchell said to me, he said, Well, we are
gmng to have to use Kalmbach and I would like you to go back over
and raise that with Haldeman and Ehrlichmar~."
Now, there is one thing that is ve.ry important here. Pie ~id to me.
in almost an aside, as I was leaving the office, I was at the side of his
desk in his law office, in the Washington office. Pie said "And Ehr]ichman and Pialdeman should be particularly interested in taking care of
this problem."
Mr. Wi~i~s. Did he say anything else ?
Mr. D~A~. Yes; he did.
The CHAm~A:~’. The time of the gentleman has expired.
Mr. Mann ?
Mr. Flowers, I~m sorry.
Mr. FLOW,S. I will be glad to yield to Mr. Mann if he wants to gu
first.
Mr. SHAFF~a. Mr. Chairman, my client would like a little reces~

Mr. Dr~. Could we have 5 minutes ?
The CH~am~A~. We will give you 10 minutes.
Mr. DF~N. I don’t need that long.
.The CHAnv~t~. We are going to take 10 minutes, because we are
go~n~ to go through here and we are probably going to .be here a
coupm more hours.
Mr. EDW~RUS (presiding). Mr. Doar.
Mr. Doom Congressman Edwards, Mr. McClory asked about the
telephone records of John Dean for the 20th, 21st, and 22d. We have
those records here. I would like permission to hand one to the counsel
for Mr. Dean and ask him to identify it as Dean’s exhibit No. 1.
Mr. EDWARDS. Verygood.
Mr. Do~R. We willdistribute those to the members now so they will
have them.
Mr. EnwAP~US. Without objection~ it is so ordered.
[The document referred to was marked Dean exhibit No. 1 and
follows :]
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Mr. DF~. Mr..Chairman, I know just one thing on here that does not
look like anything I have seen before. That is a mark on 3/21, the
second page. It looks like "Fred Karen." I don’t believe that is a correct
transcript of the phone log. I think it is just Karen, and I think that
is a referenco to Dick Moore’s secretary there. I don’t think the
handwriting is mine.
Mr. Do~. This may be inaccurate. Mr. Steve Sharp, one of the coum
sel, got these from the Vesco, up at th~ Vesco trial. There is one notation on the second page. We tried to block out all the notes that we had
made on them. We didn’t block out the note about 12:52 per Gray’s
log. So we don’t purport, Mr. Chairman, that this is an exact representation of Mr. Dean’s original log.
Mr. DF~. There is also a not~ on page 3. There is a time put on the
call them regarding the Attorney General 1:57-3:43, DW/RN in EOB..
I am not familiar with that.
Mr. EDwAPmS. If there are no further objections, they will be made
part of the record with the notations, with the reservations as explained
by Mr. Dean and Mr. Doar.
l~Ir. D~. Fine.
Mr. Enw~J~DS. Now Mr. Flowers.
~Ir. F~ow~as~ Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Dean, is my understanding correct, and I believe you so testified,
that on the one hand, you had the Committee to Re-elect the President
concerned about the coverup for the obvious reason that their peop]~
were involved in the Watergate break-in--that is, Mr. ,-~IcCord and
thereby Mr. Hunt and Mr. Liddy, who were under their, you might
say, jurisdiction at that point.
Mr. DEA~. Right. .
Mr. F~w~s. And on the other hand, you had a person or persons
at the White House, or ~¥hite House people, personnel, involved because of other activities th’at Mr. Hunt had engaged in at the di.rection
of persons at the White House. And that would be a part of thediscovery flowing from any oVher activity that was discovered from these
peopl’~, is that correct, s~r ?
Mr. D~. That is correct, with something I testified to earlier regarding the fact that quite obviously, there was political embarrassment to all concerned if something went wrong with the Re-electipn
Committee.
Mr. Fsov~RS. Whether or not there was any discover~ of any other
acti~it.v that Mr. Hunt had engaged in while at the White House ?
Mr. D~. Right.
l~[r. F~OW~RS. Well, can you say which one of these sort of concerns
were predominant, perhaps, in your own mind, or which one did you
consider to be the most ~redomi~ant one in the White House ?
Mr. D~-~Well, sir, that would be an opinion and I can’t--as far as
m.v own mind, they all ]~resented problems.
:~Ir. FLower, s. Were there any other concerns besides these two major
areas ?
Mr. D~.~. I don’t know. I frankl-y didn’t know what else we should
be worried about.
lVfr. F~ow~,as. I ask that, realizin.~ that from almost before the dust
had cleared at the D~TC, and you had just returned from the Far East,

you as the representative of the White House were integrally involved
in what to do about it.
Mr. DzA~. That was not new circumstance to some degree. I rememher when the ITT hearings were going on, I happened to be in Paris
at that time when they started and they called me back from Paris. In
fact, when I first saw Haldeman when I returned from Manila, Mr.
Haldeman made the comment, "Well, John, every time you go out of
the country, something goes wrong." So I haxi been called back before
to be involved in what they called theso firefi_~hting proj eet~
Mr. FI~wz~s. Well, I guess what my problem is--and it has been a
problem I have had in understanding this scene from the very beginning--is how, from at least what would appear to me to be such meager
beginnings, we could have such a massive coverup. Is the only "seamy
. thing" that Mr. Hunt did at the White House the matter involving
the break-in at Dr. Ellsberg’s psychiatrist’s office
Mr. D~A~. I do not know. I have heard rumors which are not really
worth repeating because I have no firsthand knowledge of them.
Mr. FLowzrs. I think that is what I would like to know, is what
rumors you have heard, Mr. Dean.
Mr. D~.m¢. Well, you know, I feel reluctant to give those,, ’because
have, you know, nothing other than rumors.
Mr. FLowzrs. I would judge it as a rumor, but that would help me
understand the situation~ qu-ite frankly, and I would ask you to
respond.
Mr. DzA~. Well, I heard that there were such things as bag jobs on
the-Chilean Embassy.
Mr. FLOWerS. By "bag job on the Chilean Embassy," what do you
mean ?
Mr. DEm¢. That is the way it was described to me and I gather that
is a breaking and entry.and taking of documents.
Mr. F~ow~rs. All right, sir.
Mr. DEA~. I was asked one time ’by a newspaperman if there was
an assassination attempt on a South American leader by Hunt, and
said I don’t have the foggiest notion about somethinglike that.
~n fact, when this came up, and it is evidenced in one of the transcripts, where the President was asking me about other things, I said,
Mr. President, I don’t know and I have never asked because I really
don’t want to know.
But I don’t know what all was going on. I picked up piecemeal
things like the Brookings Institute. That’d always kind of distressed
me.
I was aware of the Huston plan, that there were no bounds on what
they would do to ~t intelligence~-things like this.
Mr. FLowz~s. Were there other things that you
Mr. EDWARDS. The time of the gentleman from Alabama has
expired.
~r. M a.yne
Mr. MA~. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Dean, at the ~isk of bein~ indelicate, did I correctly understand you on at least two occasions during your testimony to say
that you were pregnant?
:.
M~. DEAN. I used that phrase ......

Mr. MA~. P-r-e-g-n-a-n-t ?
Mr. DX~N. I was pregrmnt with the coverup, as I think I started
testifying, and where the phra~ first came from, I said I was a reluctant lady at first and soon I was pregnant. That is what I was
referring to by the time I destroyed the Hermes notebooks.
Mr. MA~ Thank you.
Now, I take it from your testimony that you were not present when
Mr. Haldeman made h’is call to Mr. Mitchell on March ~1 asking him
to come down to Washington ?
Mr. DzAx¢. No, sir, I have no recollection of ’being present.
My. MA~E. You testified that when on the morning of the 2~d
of March, you met with Mr. Ehrlichman and Mr. Haldeman and
Mr. Mitchell, Mr. Ehrlichman asked you, what about Mr. Hunt’s
problem, and you replied, "Ask the man who knows, and with a
gesture indicated Mr. Mitchell, and that Mr. Mitchell said, "I don’t
think he has a problem anymore."
Mr. D~.A~. I believe it.ls something to the effect, "I don’t think thatis a problem anymore," or something very close to that.
Mr. MA~. Well, now, did you report that at any time to the
President ?
Mr. Dz~. No, sir.
Mr. M~~. I yield back the balance of my time.
Mr. EDWARDS. ~[r. Mann ?
Mr. Mince. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Dean, reference was made to your conversation with the President on March, the morning of March 21, and I am referring to
pages 121, et seq. of the tra, nscript.
Mr. I)~. I am sorry, I didn’t hear the page.
Mr. Ma~r~r. 121.x
Mr. DZAN. 121.
Mr. M~. I gathered from your testimony that you interpreted
your statement about giving a signal as being a suggestion to the
"President that something less than money might do the job
Mr. I)~a:~. That is correct.
Mr. MA~. Well, now, I am curious, then, as to how immediately
following that--first we were talking about Colson, then immediately
following that. we have the President asking how you would/~t money
to somebody like Hunt and how you would r~ise .,th, e money. Did he
not show any intere~ in your suggestion, or did he not understand it
as such ?
¯
Mr. D~A~. He either didn’t understand it or he rejected it.
Mr. MA~~. I yield back the balance of my time.
Mr. EnwARDS. Without objection, Mr. Sandman will take his
minutes now, plus 2 minutes yielded by the gentleman from Maryland,
Mr. Hogan--is that correct, Mr. Sandman
Mr. SA~ID~A~. No, by Mr. Moorhead.
~r. EDWARDS. By the gentleman from California, Mr. Moorhead.
Mr. Sandman.
Mr. SAWeD,tal. Mr. Dean, because. I have a very brief time I hope
yon will give me very brief answer,.yes or no wherever possible. I don’t
want to jeopardize your answer, but if you can ~ay yes or no, do so~,
See p. 121 et seq.

From what I heard, it appears that you believed you were involved
in this from the beginning, and as you testified, it grew like Topsy.
Then you were in a situation where you testified you made payments
that you thought were wrong and whatnot.
Then there was a meeting in the spring of 1973 where you requested
or you said that you recommended that Mr. Mitehell~be considered as
the big fish who would be gobbled up and this would take he~t off
everyone, including the President. I think that was in March 22, was
it, or 21st ?
Is that accurate, that chronology .~
Mr. D~. It is not quite accurate, because it had been discussed before that time. It had been been kicked around. I don’t believe it was
my recommendation. It was something that I thought possibly would
help, though, I must certainly admit to that.
Mr. SAND~A~. AS I recall your testimony, you thought it was a good
ide~ and when the ide~ fell through, you were disappointed.
Mr. D~A~. That isn’t quite the way I testified. I think I said I e~pected on the morning, of the 22d to see a rather spectacular confrontation. When that didn t occur, I was disappointed and surprised.
Mr. S~Nn~x. All right. That happened on the 22d.
Now, the very next day, you have testified that you went to Camp
David and stayed there until March 28, 1973, is that correct ?
Mr. D~.~. That is correct.
Mr. Sn~D~A~. Now~ here there is some qu~tion as to whether
not the President directed you to make a report on what had happened. As I understand your testimony, he told you to collect your
thoughts, but did not request you to make a report.
Mr. D~.~. On the 22d, he suggested the Camp--well, first of all
let me go back.
I-Ie had suggested on several occasions to me that I might enjoy a
visit up to Camp David. This was not necessarily in the context of a
report. On the afternoon of the 29A, when we were talking about a
report, he suggests that I go to Camp David and do that. As I recall,
I said I might do that, I might do it.
I would like to give you yes or no, but I think you ought to have
the whole chronology here.
Then we went on to discuss other things about what I should be
doing--getting ready to negotiate with the Senate committee, getting
the Attorney General ready~ getting a scenario as to how witnesses
would appear and the like~ I certainly didn!tcome out of that meeting with the impression that I was to go up to Camp David and write
a report.
On the 234-Mr. SA~-~n~. That is sufficient. The next point, Haldeman did
direct you to write a report, though, didn’t he ?
Mr. D~.~. On the afternoon of the 23d.
Mr. Sn~CD~. On the afternoon of the 23d.
Mr. D~A.w. H~ said, while you are up there, why don’t you work on a
report ?
Mr. Sn~CD~. While you were up there, something might have
happened, because you decided while you <ere there that you weren’t
going to give Haldeman or the President or anyone else a report, isn’t
this true ?

Mr. D~a~. No, that is not totally correct. Something did happen
up there, but that isn’t totally what it is.
One, I realized that a lot of the things I was writing were not accurate~ they were fictitious, that I was going to have my name on it,
I was going to have to live with it, it was very likely I was going to
be c~lled before a grand jury. I had noticed be:lore I went there that
people were changing their testimony, particularly Ehrlichman when
I talked to’him. When I came down on the 27th~ I had those documents with me and it was not until after~
Mr. Sn~-D~A~. You had not given anyone those ?
Mr. D~n~. Let me finish, please.
When I met with ttaldeman, and he had been meeting with Mitchell
and Magruder and there was discussion of going in to take care of
Dean’s testimony to get it in line with everybody else, I thought, well,
goodness gracious, I’d better hang on to this document because it is
~ny first collection of thoughts in some detail and rough notes and
the like. So I decided at that point in time that ~ would not turn it
over.
Mr. Sn~n~n~. All right. Now, were you still nursing on your disappointment that there was a refusal to throw Mitchell to the wolves?
Mr. D~n~. No.
Mr. SA~A~. Which would have cleared you as well as the President, would it not .~
Mr. D~. I am not convinced that ~hat ever would have cleared the
thing up .at all.
Mr. Sn~D~n~. Yes, but you said in your own testimony that this
would take the heat off everyone, including the PreSident. And I distinctly remember Mr. St. Ciair saying it would also take the heat off
John Dean, and you said that is correct.
Mr. D~n~. Wail, if I can correct one thing, I can’t totally agree with
your "throw Mitchell to the wolves" characterization. But as far asthe
theory of having Mitchell step up, I was never sure that that would
solve all the problems.
I must admit that I, as others in the Whi~e Hour, engaged in sort of
a mythical hope that this thing was some way g~oing to ~o away and
not bother any of us. And i.t was after I came~back from Camp David
that I realized indeed, and I think I have .testified to this in the Senate,
and particularly in my discussions with Dick Moore, that, there wan
only one thing that was going to sell, and that was ~he trut;h.
Mr. S~¢~. OK. Now, only 2 days later, according to your own
testimony, on March 3, 1973, you decided you wanted to reveal everything.
Mr. D~AlV. On what date ?
Mr. SA)~D~A~. March ~0, 1973, 2 days after you came back from
Camp David.
Mr. D~AW. That is when I retained counsel..
Mr. SAnDmAN. From the .testimony you made here today, you said
that is the date you decided to reveaieverything. Did you say that or
didn’t you ?
Mr. D~A~. I don’t recall that in ,the testimony. I recall ~hat is the
day I retained counsel.
Mr. S~o~A~-. All right, good enough. You retained counsel, then,
on March 30, 197~.

322
Mr. DEAN. And understand why I wanted to retain counsel. I was
not only worried .about John Dean. No one there was a good enough
criminal lawyer that they could assess everFbody’s preble~m~s. ,T. ,ha.t, ~s
one of the reasons I went to Charles Shaffer, hoping, an~ ¯ aia ~ms
with him, to review everybody’s problem. And we did that.
Mr. SANDMAN. All right¯ Next question.
On April 8th, according to your testimony, for the first time, you
met with the U.S. Attorney, correct ?
Mr. D~AN. I am sorry, I was talking to counsel and I didn’t hear
your question.
Mr..SANDMAN. From your testimony here .today, on April 8th of
1973 w:as the first ~ime you met with the U.S. Attorney.
Mr. DEAN. That is correct.
Mr. SA~mMAN. All right. Now, did you discuss immunity for yourself with .the U.S. Attorney on that date ?
Mr. DEAN. I did not.
Mr. EDWAEDS. The time of’the gentleman ’has expired. ’Seven minutes
by the vlock.
Mr. MOORHEAD. I will yield the rest of my period.
Mr. EDWAlZDS. The gentleman is recognized for an additional 3
minutes.
Mr. SANDMAN. Now, around that time-Mr. D~.AN. I wonder if you could repeat the last question. It was left
dangling. I really didn’t answer ~t for you. _ _
Mr. SANDMAN. I say did you, when you talked to me Attorney t~eneral on April 8th, discuss immunity for yourself ] You said no. .
Mr. DEAN. I said no. What I should tell you about that meeting is
before I met with the U.S. attorneys, I called Mr. ttaldeman.
Mr. SANDMAN. Hey, I am not interested in that. You said no and
that is good enough.
Mr. DEAN. OK.
Mr. SANDMAN. l~ow, on the next point here, on that particular date.
did you or did you not have a message delivered to Jack Anderso~
that you were prepared to deliver the President
Mr. DEAN. I absolutely did not.
Mr. SANDMAN. And could not.
Now, after this particular rate, I notice you have great reluctance
on admitting anything that does anything except involve the
President.
Mr. DEAN. I cannot accept that characterization, I am sorry.
Mr. SANDMAN. That is your privilege.
Mr. DEAN. In fact, I did not even discuss with counsel~
Mr. SANDMAN. Look, let me say this: Bittman testified after 10
hours of questioning here that there was no talk of clemency. Was he
lying ? Yes or no.
Mr. SHnFF~m I object to the form of that question and ask that my
client be relieved from making an answer as to whether any other person who testified out of his presence lied or told the truth.
Mr. SANDMAN. Well, the record can speak for itself.
You say Bittman was present when clemency was .asked for Hunt.
Mr. DEAN. l~ot when IW~ present.
Mr. SANDMAN. I didn’t hear you say that Bittman was present~
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Mr. D~AN. I have never met Mr. Bittman in my life¯
Mr. SANDMAN [continuing]. When clemency was discussed
Mr. DEAN. I have never met Mr. Bittman in my life.
Mr. S~ND~AN. At one date, you were personally notified that you
were refused immunity. Were you or were you not?
Mr. DEAN. I was not.
Mr. SANDMAN. NO other questions.
]Ylr. DF.am Excuse me. May I correct that, please
In the time you are talking about, I was not. It really was not
decided until late October-Mr. SANDMAN. Were you ever notified by the court that you were
denied clemency, or denied immunity? That is a simple question;
yes or no.
Mr. DF~N. By the court .~
Mr. SANDMAN. By anybody.
Mr. DEAN. YeS; October 19, 1973, when I pleaded guilty.
Mr. SANDMAN. Thankyou.
The C~Am~AN [presiding]. l~r. Sarbanes?
Mr. SAPmANES. Mr. Dean, did I understand that about midafternoon
on March 20, 1973, you met with Mr. Ehrlichman and told him about
the conversation you had had with Mr. O’Brien with respect to Mr.
Hunt’s demands .~
Mr. DmAN. Yes sir, that is correct.
Mr. S~AN~. Now, was it subsequent to that that you then had a
conversation with Mr. Krogh, that he stopped by your office and you
commiserated with one another ~
Mr. DEAr. That is correct.
Mr. SA~BA~mS. Do you know whether Mr. Ehrlichman met with the
President subscquent~ on that day, to the conversation that you had
wi~h him ~
Mr. DEAN. He told me he was gning to .meet wi~h the President. I
walked down the stuirs with him. He was headed toward the Oval
Office when I left him. I have every reason to believe, because the
President, when I mentioned it that night on the telephone, didn’t say
no, John Ehrlichman didn’t see me today. ’So I can only assume ~:hat
the President an& Ehrlichman did meet on that afternoon.
Mr. SAPmANES. So that when you went. home that evening and received the t~lephone call from the President and made reference to
having talked to Mr. Ehrlichman, I gather--is that correct
Mr. DEAN. That is correct.
"
Mr. SmmA~ms. Now, did Mr. Ehrlichman call you that night as
well ?
Mr. DEAr. He called me, yes; before I had gone home.
Mr. SAPmA~ES. Oh, before you had gone home
Mr. DEAN. Ye~
Mr. SA~mANES. And was it in that conversation that Mr. Ehrlichman
indicated to you that he had made references in that conver~tion
which led you to think that he had t~lked with Mr. Krogh subsequent
to your conversation with Mr. Kro~h ~
Mr. DEAN. That is correct.
Mr. SARBANES. NOW, t-he next morning, the 21~----
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Mr. D~s. Mr. Chairman, of course, it is hearsay, which is all
right ’here~ but instead of the witness’ conclusions, can’t we at least
have what he says Mr. Ehrlichman said to him ~.
Mr. Ds.~. I have already testified to that, Mr. Chairman, in some
detail.
Mr. SA~A~s. He testified to that earlier in the day and I just want
to establish these conversations.
Mr. D~N~s. All right.
Mr. Sam~a~Es. ~ow~ the next morning, when you went to meet with
the President, did I understand that Mr. Ehrlichman came out of the
President’s office ?
Mr. D~. That is correct, he came out of the office. I was surprised
to see him. In fact, he asked me a question that I immediately took in
and raised with the President.
Mr. SamoAn,s. So at the time that you went in to see the President
on the morning of March 91, ha.ving talked with Mr. Ehrlichman the
previous afternoon, was it }~our ~mpression or fixed in your mind that
Mr. Ehrlichman had met with the President at least twice since the time
you had talked with Mr. Ehrlichman on the afternoon of March ~0
Mr. D~. Yes sir~ that is correct.
Mr. Sam~a~c~s. Thank you. I yield back the balance of my time.
The C~.~m~. Mr. Hogan ?
Mr. Hoa~. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Dean, directing your attention back to the question asked you
by Mr. McClory, where there was a .dispute between the chairman and
Mr. McClory as to whether or not the transcript of the staff was accurate on in order to get on with the coverup .plan or whether to get off
the coveru.p plan, you had said that this was nora conversation related
to executive privilege, that this was a gene~-~discussion of coverup.
m~g/~ .
Was that your testimony ?
- -Vha~
~" ~n con
text¯
Mr. D~A~. Well, I am taking your 5 moments m read
I would rather answer the question as I have never listened to your
tape and would defer to your Committee’s judgment on what the tape
says.

Mr. Ho~A~. I am talking about what you said to Mr. McClory.
Mr. D~A~. I understand.
Mr. Ho~. His question was not that conversation about executive
privilege and you said no. But I would like to quickly read the testimony, the transcript as it relates to that before and after, starting on
page 163 and going over before and after that: "Not executive
privilege.
"Yeah, all right"In fact you ’have~
. _
"Executive --" and on all the way through. There is nothing else
being talked about except executive ~rivilege. And after that statement takes place, Ehrlichman says:
"And, as I told him, I’m, am so convinced we are right on the statement that I have never gone beyond that. He argues that we are being
hurt’.badly by the way it’s bein~ handled and I’m willing~let’s say
"That’~ the point. ’~
And they go on talking about executive privilege and ttaldeman
says :
"To the extent--and on legal grounds." The coverup they are talk~n~ about is executive orivile~e.

Haldeman says :
"That’s where you look like you’re covering up right now. That’s
the only thing, the only active step you have taken to coverup Watergate all along."
The President says, "That’s right."
Dean says, "What ~"
Haldeman says: "Was that."
And the President starts and says: "Even though we have offerec~
to cooperate."
Haldeman says: "To the exten~--and on legal grounds and, ~nd
precedent."
Skipping down, Haldeman says "And tradition and constitutional
~oTounds and all that stuff, you’re just fine, but to the guy sitting
.home who watches John Chancello~ say thai the President is covermg this up by re--, this historic review blankets the widest exercise of
executive privilege in American history, and all that." And so forth.
It is precisel$ the executive privilege that they are talking about in
the context o~ coverup.
So my question is would you want to change the testimony you
gave to Mr. McClory .~
Mr. D~A~. Well~ I would like to take the time to read this transcript myself. In the context it was raised, I thought it was a reference that this was to be synon~rmous with executive privilege. I de~er
to the ~_udgment of_the committee who can read these transcripts as
well as I can as to the context it’s raised in. If I was hasty in my answer, it’s because I was trying to answer the question ~tuickly.
Mr. HO~A~. All right, now, directing your attention to your responses to Mr. Railsback’s question, my recollection is that you said
that the famous March 21st comment, where the President says, get it
in a way, in a way, and so forth, you did not feel that that was instructions from him for you to go out and do anything.
Then going on further to the transcript where, on the afternoon of
the 22d, where the President asks, "Does anybody think that we will
not do anything about the Hunt thing," and you indicate that, well,
that is taken care of, or something to that eff~t, that LaRue and
Mitchell-Mr. D~. I don’t ,believe I said it was taken care of. I think I s~id
they are aware of Hunt’s feelings.
Mr. Ho~A~. The thrust of my question is thiu: :!,)irecting your attention back to that conversation, is it an accurate, stat~nmn’~, to say
that the President still considered that an open question at that point
when he was asking counsel as to whether or not something should b~
done about Hunt ?
Mr. D~. Mr. Hogan, I cannot testify what was in the President’s
mind. I can only tell you what was in mine.
Mr. HosA~. What was in yours ~.
Mr. D~. Well, that I was out of the money business and I was not
~oing to take any action. I was merely reporting that Mitchell and
LaRue knew what it was and they were in a position to do something.
Mr. Ho~. But the conversation I am talking about is on the afternoon-Mr.

D~A~. I understand.

Mr. Ho~A~. Of the 21st.
Mr. D~A~. The 21st.
Mr. Ho~A~. When the President is still asking your advice and the
advice of his other staff members as to whether or not this Hunt thing
can be taken care of.
My question is isn’t it a fact and does not your answer at that time
indicate that this matter already had been resolved, that the conversation between you and LaRue and the conv.ersation .between .L. aRu~e
and Mitchell, everything had already been taken, was m opera~lon
that point ?
Mr. DEA~. No sir. No sir, it does not. My reference is to the fact that
I had not talked to them since we had talked last, I didn’t know what
they were going to do.
Mr. HoaA~. But your answer in response to the President’s question
:is that this matter is taken care of.
~Yir. SHA~F~R. Where is the answer ~.
Mr. D~.A~. I don’t recall that at all.
Mr. HooA~. On the afternoon of the
Mr. DF~. 21st.
Mr. Ho~. Afternoon of the 21st, right.
The CI~AIm~ ~. We will give the witness time to answer, but the time
of the gentleman has expired.
.
Mr. Ho~A~. Well, if I could direc~ the witness’ attention to the
bottom part of page 132 of the transcripts--1,~3, I am sorry.
Mr. D~. 138.~ It reads:
"Well. apparently, Mitchell and, and, uh uh."
Somel~od~unidentified says, "LaRue."
~LaRue ~re now aware o’f it so they know what he is feeling."
"True."
Now, I happened to lis~n to this segme.n.t of,~he tape and I heard
there that unintelligible as "better do something.
"I, I have not talked with either. I think they are in a position to do
something, though."
That does not say that they hav~ done something. I didn’t know
what they had done. I had no idea whether it had been accomplished
or not. Ih fact, I was quite surprised next morning when indeed I
learned that it had been done. But it had not been done at my
instruction.
The C~XR~A~. The time of the gentleman has expired.
Mr. Seiberling.
Mr. SEmF~I~O. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
l~r. Dean, I am sure you may have, even more than the members of
this committee, found it a very. depressing experience to contemplate
this whole long history from ~he Watergate to date. I find myself a
little baffled as to how all this could happen. I wonder if you could tell
us how you could account for the apparent willingness of you and
others at the White House to carry out instructions involving unethical
and sometimes illegal activity ?
lYir. D~. Congressman, that is a matter of opinion~
Mr. SEmF~O. I am asking you your opinion.
Mr. D~ [continuing]. And speculation..
.
See I~JC Transcripts, p. 133.

Mr. S~B~L~NO. I think that is helpful to us.
Mr. D~N. I would like to be excused, if I might, from giving
opinions. I really would.
Mr. S~.rS~LXNe. Well, let me ask you this: During your career at
the White House as a member of the staff, was there at any time any
stress or emphasis placed on ethical standards or scrupulous compliance with the law by Mr. Haldeman or Ehrlichman or other people to
whom you reported .~
l~r. DENNIS. Mr. Chairman, I object to this.
The Cm~n~N. I think the gentleman will have to rephrase that
question. I don’t think that is within the scope of this-~
l~r. S~m~m~N~. Mr. Chairman~ I simply asked whether there was
some-kind of a code of ethics for members of the White House staff.
Could you answer a question of that sort ?
Mr. D~NIS. Mr. Chairman, I object to that. That is not relevant.’
The C~L~nW~. If he knows if there is a code of ethics---Mr. S~.mEa~n~. If you think that is not relevant, you have missed
the whole point of this hearing. If that is not relevant, what is ?
Mr. D~NNIs. That is not relevant before us. Neither is his opinion.
Mr. S~m~b~-~. I have not asked for his opinion.
The CH~m~. The committee will be in order.
Is the gentleman asking if the witness knows whether there was a
code of ethics, a published code of ethics ?
Mr. SEmERLII~G. That is--The CI~AI~A~. YOU can’t ask him for an opinion.
Mr. S~mEm.INO. I have asked him as a matter of fact whether there
was a code of. ethics established at the White House to his knowledge.
Mr. DEAlt. There is a code that applies to all Federal employees. It is
published in the Federal Register. There is a document that was
leased at the White House to all White House staff as to a code Of
ethics expected of Federal employees.
Mr. S~iszPmI~O. Thank you.
Could you tell us what your prime motivating factor was in carrying
out your assignments as a member of the White House staff ? what was
your prime motivation .~
Mr. DF~N. DO you have anything specifically in mind, or just generally my involvement in what has brought me to plead guilty to a
criminal offense ?
Mr. S~IB~a~LI~O. Well, what brought you to the events which caused
you later to plead guilty ?
Mr. DEAI~. I would have to say a misguided sense of loyalty.
Mr. S~I~Zma~. Would you be able to characterize the emphasis that
was placed on conduct by the people from whom you received your instructions, specifically ~Ir. Haldeman and Mr. Ehrliehman ~nd th~
President ?
Mr. DEA~. I beg your pardon.
Mr. SEmEaLI~O: What was their orime motivation ?
Mr. DEA~. I can’t answer that, I’m sorry. That is an opinion. I just
don’t know.
Mr. SEIBE~LI~O. In your opinion, is there a common thread running
through the activities of the White House staff with which you were
involved during your service there ?
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Mr. DEAN. I would like to defer or refer, I should say, the Congressman to my Senate testimony, where I tried, at the request of the Senate
select committee, to show in an overview sort of the events and the attitude and problems that resulted in what I characterize as an inevitable result of a way of thinking and a way of acting.and a way o.f
proceeding. I think that first couple of pages of that testi .m.ony sa.y.s it
far better than I can summarize in the timespan to answer the quesvlon.
Mr. SEm~RL~NO. Thank you. That is really what I was trying to
bring out. Can you offer any other statement for our benefit here on
that subject ?
Mr. DF~. I would just offer that. I am offering facts. I think I am
better off offering facts than I am opinions in the light of conclusions.
Mr. McC~oRY. Will the gentleman yield ?
The C~ArR~AW. The gentleman’s time has expired.
Mr. S~m~mz~G. I have no further questions.
The C~Ar~A~. Mr. Butler.
Mr. B~rrLE~. Mr. Dean, Mr. Bittman has advised us that there was
an aceident insurance policy upon the life of Mrs. Hunt in the sum of
some $250,000. Were you aware of that ?
Mr. DF~. Not until after the fact, when I heard of .that.
Mr. BVTL~R. By after the fact, you mean not until after all of the
coverup money had been paid ?
Mr. DF~A~. NO, no, after it became public at some time. or one of the
attorneys--Mr. O’Brien might have told me about it.
Mr. BUTLER. You were aware of that, then, in March of~
Mr. D~A~. Well, when the death occurred, yes.
Mr B .UTL~m All right, thank you.
My next question has reference to this unique biological phenomenon
to which Mr. Mayne has referred. I take it from your use of this
word that having found yourself a fallen man, your personal standards became somewhat demanding.
Mr. DF~N. I think that is true, .~es.
Mr. B~TL~. My real question’is this: At what point in time in your
best medical opinion can you say conception took place ?
Mr. DEAN. ~ would have trouble speaking in that vernacular. In
retrospect, let s say that if I had stayed in Manila, I might not have
been raped.
Mr. BVTLEm ~Vel]. that is a pretty good response. Would you .iudge
that. because as soo~ as you got back from Manila or shortly thereafter, you became involved in What amounted to a coverup ?
Mr. Dr~. Yes; I did.
Mr. B~yr~.~R. Is it your feeling that that was the first instance in
which~ using the vocabularF which you have selected, would you say
that conception took place a’~ about that time, or were there some events
prior to that that y.ou personally wanted to coverup about yourself ?
Mr. DEAN. No, s~r, I would say that is when it happened, when I
came back. I would say after I talked to Magruder and Strachan and
Liddy; I was in.
Mr. B~r~a. Now.~ I did not feel that, when asked that question by
Mr. St. Clair, "For whom were you covering up, I did not feel that
you identified any persons or individuals.
Mr. DEAN. I was concerned that anybody--Mr. Mitchell~ Mr. :Ehrlichmam Mr. Ha]deman~ Mr. Stracham Mr. Ma~oTuder--after I had

given recommendatlo|t that h~ b~ ~noved and he was on--I felt they
were all vulnerable ami I ~1~ ~.h~t, ~t ~ m~ ~pon~ibillty to a~i~.
Mr. B~,~. You carny t~ ~ V~ ~!~ I~r ~ou~ ~tu~ from
Manila~
~ , ’ ~ ....... ~", ’
Mr. B~zm But ym~ l~ntll,~
’ ~ ~ [~’i * *~ ~
Mr. D~N. Pardon ~
~. ~ ,,, ~
Mr. B~a. You lmrmnaHy h~ ~ la~~ ~l~ ~ ~’
sonally ~vering up at that~nt ~ . . ’:.. ~ ::". : ’ ’
Mr. D~. At the tinm I th’~t mat wi~t~l~ht him
my ~owledge of the ~rlier mts~thl~, la ~~ ~, I ~aid,
if that ~us~ you any problom, it d~ ntg ~ ~ ~a~ ~ I ~
~ed, I did in my own way what I t~ould ~ t~ff, .~ ~t happt~nml,
I felt no legal r~ponsibili~.y for it. But It It ~ a ~r that
was bad politic, I was prepared t~ ~eouat ~ ~1~ aml
Mr. Bv~. Mr. Chairman, I n~rve th~ ~ tt[ my ttm~ and
will yield it ~ Mr. Cohen wht~n hia thaa a~4v~, If I may.
Tbe CHAm~A~. The ~mth~man haa a mhttlt~ aml 15 ~comls remaining.
Mr. Danielson.
Mr. DA~o~. Thank you, Mr. (lhairman.
Mr. Dean, I dir~t your att~,ntion to pa~t I I of the commit~e’s
tran~ript of tapes.~ Toward the ~ottom of tim pa~ there is a pa~~aph sm~ing off with your name. Go down a~)ut six lines. Sta~
off, and I ’m going ~ read fast here to cash up :
But Patman’s hea~, u~ his BanMng and Cur~ncy Com~ee, and we
have got t~whether we will be ~s~ or not in tu~ing that off, I don’t
~ow. We’ve got a plan whereby ~thblatt and Bit~an who are counsel for the
five men who were, or a~ua!ly a to~l of ~ve~ t~t were indi~ t~ay, are
~i~ to go up and ~sit eve~ member and say, "If you commen~ hea~ngs you
a~ ~ing to Jeo~r~ze the cl~l ~gh~ of these ~vlduals in ~e wont way,
and ~ey ~ll never get a fair trial, and ~e like, and t~ to ~Ik to members
on, on that level. Uh "
P~. ~y not ~k that they r~ue~ to be heard by, by ~e ~mmittee
and e~lain it publicly ?
D~. How could they--~ey’ve p~nn~ that what they’re gong to say is,
"If you do ~en~ ~th th~ h~n~, we plan ~ publicly ~me up and
what you’re doing to ~e rights of in~duals." Something to that eff~t.
~sm~. ~ a ma~er of fact they could even make a motion in court to
get ~e ~ng dismt~&
D~. That’s another thug we’~ doing is to, is~
P~Sm~T. ~ause thee hea~
D~N. BEng an ~J~ctive ac~on ~ains~ uh, the ap~mnc~ say-H~A~. Well, going the other way, the dismissal of the, of the, of the
indictment~mE~. HOW a~ut t~ing to get the c~minal ca~s, c~minal cha~es
dismi~ on the ~ounds that the~, well, you know-~AN. ~e ~vil ~ghts t~e stY.
~. ~1 ~gh~

Going on the ~t, of this testimony on pa~e 12 rel~s to possibly
even Iisting Gerald Ford ~ ~ntact Mr. Patman or at lea~
Minority M~mbem of the Banking and Cu~ency ~mmit~.
Then tu~ over, .please, ~ ~ge 15, ~ut 2~ inch~ up from the
bot~m of the ~.
~A~. Well, may~ Mitchell ought t~would, could Mitchell do it ?
~ES~T. ~O.
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D~A~. I don’t really think that would be good.
P~SIDENT. NO.
DF~-~. I hate to draw him in.
P~SIDENT. Yeah.
DEAN. I think Maury can talk to Ford if that will do any good, but it won’t
have the same impact, of course, ’cause he’s ~he ene directly involved, but I think
Maury ought to brief Ford at some point on, on exactly what his whole side of the
story is.
HAL~E~AZ~. Iq! talk to Cook.
Pm~sn)F~T. Oh, I--maybe Ehrlichman should talk to him. Ehrlichman understands the law, and the rest, and should say, "Now God datum it, get the hell over
with ~his."
HALDEMAN. IS that a good idea? Maybe it is.
PRESIDENT. I think maybe that’s the thing to do (unintelligible). This is, this
is big, big play. I’m getting into this thing. So that he--he’s got to know that it
comes from the top.
~A-LDEMA~ro Yeah.
P~ES~.NT. That’s what he’s got to know,
D~.AN. Righh
PRESIDEZVr. And if he (~nintelligible) and we’re not going to--I can’t talk to
him myself---and that he’s got to get at this and screw this thing up while he can,
right ?
DEAN. ~Vell, if we let that slide up there with the Patman Committee it’d be
just, you know, just a tragedy to let Patman have a field day up there.
PRESm~T. What’s the first move? When does he call his. war--witnesses?

Mr. DA~rELSO~. All right. Are you referring at that time, was the
subject of the discussion not the laundering of funds that went to
Mexico and then back to Florida ?
Mr. DE~. That was one of the focuses of the Patman committee,
that is correct, and we had no idea ~hat they would unravel.
Mr. D~mLSO~. That is the idea. You had no idea what they would
unravel if they got into it, is that correct ?
Mr. DSA~. If they got subpena power and the like and got their investigators out, we would have another investigation we didn’t know
how to handle.
Mr. D~ELSO~. It was acan of worms and you didn’t know what
was on the inside ?
Mr. D~. That is right.
Mr. D~rm~o~. Whose plan w.as it to have Mr. Rothblatt and Bittman go up and contact them ?
Mr. DE~. This was something given to me by Mr. O’Brien, I believe, that they had been talking to Mr. Rothblatt and Bittman. I had
never had a contact with Rothblat~ and Bittman. All those came
through O’Brien and Parkinson.
Mr. D~XE~SO:~. How do you know whether they had been talking to
Mr. I-Ialdeman or Mr. Ehrlichman ?
Mr. DEA~. I do not recall. There is very little I don’t report to them.
What I repo~---Mr. D~rE~so~. Mr. Haldeman was present, according to the record,
in this particular discussion. Do you know the extent to which their
plan was implemented ? And I can state that the report of this committee will show Mr. Bittman acknowled~o~s he was asked to do that, but
he declined to do it.
Mr. DEA~. All right. As far as the plan to implement, it, I have testified in some detail as to it, as to the plan to block the Patman hearings
from ever convening where certain Republicans would not attend and
certain Democrats would not vote or take a walk and the like.

Mr. D~rI~LSOX. And that was the purpose of possibly eliciting the
aid of Gerry Ford to prevail upon the minority members to take a
walk~ as you say~ or not vote, as the case may be ?
Mr. DF~. That’s correct.
Mr. D~ELSO~. And now the purpose of that in turn was to try
to put a hiatus on the investigation by the Patman Committee at that
time?
Mr. DF~. This connected us very much down there at the time.
Mr. DA~.LSO~. I am going to direct your attention to the earlier
testimony relative to the IRS. Did Mr. Chotiner, Mr. Murray Chotiner
himself hand you the list of the persons on the list .~
Mr. DF~. Yes, he did.
~. D.~ANTELS_0:N’.
present
:besides
you
and
he at the
timeto?
sir. anyone
He came
into my
office
and
handed
them
¯ aYEa~. 5[O, Was
.me. I might add I have testified, I have testified to this in my debriefmg sessmns before his death also. I don’t know if anyone talked to him
before his death.
The CHAiRmAn. The time of the gentleman from California has
expired.
Mr. Cohen is recognized for 6 minutes and 15 seconds.
~M.r. C__OH~. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
"
~lr. Dean, to follow up the question by Mr. Danielson, I believe
you indicated Mr. Chotiner was the one who formulated this so-called
enemies list, is that correct .~
Mr. DF~. Well, it was a list of contributors and staff of the McGovern campaign. ¯
Mr. COH~.~. But the impression you ]e~t with this committee or with
this member at least, was this was something that came about in
tember or prior to September of 1972, when in fact, you had ~
engaged for over, well over a year in formulating a sort of an attack
upon political enemies, had you not ?
Mr. DF~. We had a lot of lists in our files which I had been able to
kee~p in t,.he fi],es and no_thing had ever been implemented on that plan,
as I men~mneo, with other than a few exceptions.
l~r. Co~. Could I refer you to Book 4 of the Senate select cornmattes, page 1689. There is a memorandum which doesn’t indicate
from whom or to whom---Mr. DsA~. Yes, T am familiar.
Mr. COH~. Is that yours ?
Mr. D~A~. Yes, ]~ am familiar with that memorandum.
Mr. Co~rE~. Did you prepare that ~
Mr. D~A~. Yes~ W~ never got "the project coordinator for that
"project.
Mr. CoH~.~. I see. And later, as a matter of fact, on June 12, 1972,
you have a memo from Charles Colson to John Dean about seeking
some sort of retribution against Harold J. Gibbons. Was that ever
carried out ?
Mr. D~A~. That was not.
Mr. COH~. Did you ever try to take any action to implement that ?
Mr. D~.A~. No, sir. No, sir.
Mr. COHEn. I noticed also there is a memorandum for Higby from
John Dean whereby you are accumulating these various names for
political activities I assume.
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Mr. I)F~. They were collected in my file and~
Mr. CoH~. Butno action was ever taken ?
Mr. ~A~. Well, there was discussion of action~ but I am only aware
f the action that was taken against the Newsday reporters~ which I
¯ ~stified to in the Senate.
Mr. COHEN. Are you aware of any action ever taken against Daniel
~chorr of CBS or NBC ~.
Mr. D~. I am aware of the full field investigation which was
,rdered ~onducted on him.
Mr. Co~n~. What I)rompted that ?
Mr. D~AN. Well~ Mr. Haldeman and Mr. Higby were traveling with
;he President. I believe they ~vere in Denver and Mr. Higby got: an instruction from Mr. I-Ialdeman to call Mr. Hoover and to have such
¯ n: investigation conducted.
Mr. COHEN. Was it for the purpose of determining whether he
was qualified for a position with the administration ?
Mr. DF~. No, sir.
Mr. Coax. Mr. Dean, you indicated on the morn’_mg of March 21,
offered the statement that in your.opmion~ omer ~na ~ une paymen~
money. What exactly do you mean ?
Mr. Dsa~. I was asked to interpret what I meant by some signal,
and I can say what T meant, and meant what ~ said. If I would have
said pay money, that would ’have been one thing. A signal was some~
thing thaiwe had given to other people, and that i~ne was one of the
complaints of the ~efendants, that they were gett’ng all signals and
no cash.
"
Me. Co~rz~. Was it a signal to let him know that money would be
forthcoming ?
. ¯
: "

Mr.
That is cor, .t, ever -.st to b,.uy __ _,_ _
Mr. CoHeN. Well, this is the nex~ question A na~, ~am i~ uo~
with the. realm of opinion_., M~r. C~. ~ai .mna~n; And I .would li.k.e, your,
¯ " an(l ~noI~
~ that
of the ~’resmen~" ~ou were m .a pos~on
oplnlon,
~
counsel to the President, is that correct ?
Mr. DEA~. That was my title~ correct.
¯
Mr. Cortex. You did have some close contact~ at least in the months
from February. on to March 1973 ?
Mr. DF~. That is correct.
Mr. Co~.~. And ! want to know w-hat your opinion was~ based

u on your co ve ation oll,owing to het. er, or

the President either approvea or acqmescea in.~n.e p~ayme_n~, oz m_oney

to Hunt the purpose.o

ust phrased to .gure

out wh~t you were going ~o ao a~ou~..~ .
Mr. DzA~. ]~ can’t offer sn opinion, I can only offer the facts.
Mr. Con~. I am askin~ your opinion, not the President’s.
ion, that I lmew that it had no~ mrnea aown~ ~u ~ ~au o ~ns~ruc-

tions to flo it.
Mr. SWAF~F~. Mr. Chairman, since we have, several other interrogations to ~o, I ~ask, as counsel to my client, so I can give him effective
assistance o~ count], ~or you to please rule as to whether or not

we must give opinion testimony or not. We are not here as experts,
we are only being paid the daily rate.
The Cr~aR~A~. Well, I don’t believe that the witness is compelled
to give his opinion unless he can through some established fact, have
some reason on which to base it.
Mr. COHeir. I believe there was a direct conversation with the
President, as counsel to the President, on a matter we are very much
concerned with.
Mr. DEAZ~. I think ~ have answered the question.
Mr. Con~ All right, Mr. Dean. I won’t p, ress you on that. On
June 19~ you had a meeting with Mr. Mitchell, Mr. Magruder, Mr.
Mardian, and Mr. LaRue and you were given a report, a report was
given on the activities of the Committee To Re-Elect about the
break-in, correct?
Mr. DV.A~. As I have testified, I was never sure whether it was on
the 19th or the 20th or both days but I recall arriving at, the mcetin~t
there and there was discussion at, the time I got, there of the PR
side of the situation.
Mr. CO~E~. Let me ask you, on that evening, whatever ~wening it
was, did Mr. Mitchell tell Mr. M~rruder to have
Mr. DEAN. I have never been able to state recalling hearing that
conversation for certain. I ~u~ don’t have n c]e~tr reco||eetion of it.
Mr. Co~s~. All right~
When you were involved with the gathering of some facts for the
purpose of an inqui .ry, I ~ke it your testimony is that you were no~
really conducting an investigation, bu~ rather for the purpose of containment, is that correct?
Mr. DwA~. That is correct.
Mr. Cerise. Now, were you acquiring~you had access to 302 forms,
correct ?
Mr. DEA~. Late in the game, I got 302 forms. The first time I got
any information from the FBI was, of, I think the 21st of July.
Subsequent to th.’at~ I received some of the ~ forms that dated way
back and I scanned them and found them virtually useless.
Mr. Con~. Did you show those 302 forms to anyone else
Mr. D~.AN. Yes, I did.
Mr. C~H~. To whom ?
Mr. DEA~. Mr. Mardian, Mr. Parkinson, and Mr. O’Brien.
Mr. COH~. I see.
After your meeting on or about ,Tune 19, with Mr. Mitchell, ~[ardian, and LaRue. did you then have a meeting with Mr. Ha]deman
on the following day ?
Mr. DEAN. On th~ morning of the 20th
Mr. CoH~.~. Yes.
]~r. DEAN. Yes, I believe there was a meeting that was conducted
in Mr. Ehrlichman’s office.
Mr. Conm~. Mr. Mitchell~
Mr. DEA~. Where Mr. Mitchell, ~fr. Ehrlichman, and Mr. Ha]deMr. Con~. And Mr. Kleindienst ?
Mr. D~A~. And Mr. Kleindienst came in.
Mr. Conm~. And discussed the break-in,at that time

Mr. D~AN. We discussed it--Mr. Kleindienst gave us a report as to
the status of the investigation as .far as he knew" it. As I recall, he
reported that Jerry. Wilson had -talked to him and he had talked to
the FBI, that the FBI was going to take jurisdiction of the investigation. And I think he brought people up to date on wh~t the Federal
authorities and the District of Cohunb[a authorities were doing.
The C~Ar~N. The time of the gentleman has expired.
Mr. FROEHLICm Mr. Chairman, I ask unanimous consent to yield
4 minutes to the gentleman from Maine.
The C~An~A~. Well, Father Drinan is next in line and unleas-Father Drinan ?
Mr. DmNAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Dean, in the Senate hearings you state once on page 14P4 this:
I can only assume that everything I told Mr. Haldeman and ’Mr. ]~hrlichman
would be going to the President also.

Do you recall any departures from that assumption that you made
in that ,testimony ?
l~r. DEAN. ~To, T do not.
Mr. D~Z~AN. Did you observe Mr. Haldeman during the course of
your service in the White House undertake any significant activity
or enter a course of conduct without the knowledge or consent of the
President?
Mr. DEAN. Did I see Mr. Ha]deman or Mr. Ehr]ichman-]~r. DI~INAN. Undertake any--no, just Mr. Ha]deman, undertake any
significant activity or enter a course of conduct without the knowledge
or consent of the President ?
Mr. DEAZ~. I jUst don’t know because I don’t know what Mr. Haldeman said to the President. I am sorry, I can’t answer that. He didn’t tell
me he was doing something contrary to what the President said, and
I would be very surprised if he did.
Mr. Dm~A~. Do you ever know of any occasion when the President
expressed to you that Mr. Haldeman in any, serious manner had gone
beyond the authorization which the President had extended to him ?
Mr. D~AN. Did the President every say that to me ?
Mr. DmNA~. lqO. Did you hard a£y knowledge or see, or on any occasion, hear from any source whether the President had, in fact, expressed the view that Mr. Haldeman had exceeded his power ?
Mr. D~A~. No, sir.
Mr. Dm~A~. With regard to the question of so-called commitments,
it was well known that Mr. Hunt was not exactly poor. He had the
insurance money and a significant pension from the CIA. I would
assume that the commitment centered more on clemency than perhaps
we have realized up to this time.
Do you feel that Mr. Hunt did have basic convictions that was the
cause of his persistent demands that he was, in fact, and had been,
in fact, promised from the highest authorit~ clemency ?
Mr. I~AN. Well, I think you have got--:Mr. Hun~ is your bes~ witness on. that. I only know ~hat transpired between the fact that they
were g~ven and how they were reported back after being given.
Mr. Dm~A~. Well, on that .question of being given~ in the Senate
Select Committee answer, again on page 1423, you are speaking and
you said that you are speaking about talking to ~he President and you

said ! :’I s_aid they are principally coming from Mr. Hunt," the demands
an~t ~nat he, the President got into the fact that Hunt had been given
clemency. Would you just elaborate, because I have wondered about
that "he got into the fact Hunt had been ~iven clemen,.v "Is th.~.
hand, or what was your understanding a~t that time ~ now ~ ~t~l~e
level of certainty with regard to clemency
Mr. DEAN. Well, the tapes, of course, ~r~ the best evidence. I think
you are referring to the conversation on the 13th in the Senate testimeny.$
Mr. DmN~. Bight.
’Mr. D~. I think you will see in other transcripts references to Mr.
Hunt’s clemency, and in the documents you hsvo before you, it was
clear, it’was clear to me from my conversations with Mr. O’Brien, Paul
O’Brien, that Hunt was under the impression that he did have clemency and that apparently when the demands came in, that wasn’t
enough.
Mr. Dm-~A~. Thank you very much, Mr. Dean. X yield -back the
balance of my time.
The Grr~. Mr. Lott.
Mr. Lo~r. ~r. Dean, did ~ understand you correctly this morning to
f~stify that you did not talk with Mitchell after the morning meeting
on the 21.~ ?
Mr. D~sN. That X did not talk withMr. Lo~r. Did not meet or talk with Mitchell or LaBue
Mr. D~sN. ~ have no recollection of talking ~ either one of them.
Mr. Lo~r. When did you listen to this March 21 afternoon tape
Mr. D~A~. When did I listen to it ?
"
Mr. LOTT. Right.
Mr. Ds~. I listened to it, the first time I heard it, it was in the Spe,c~al Prosecutor’s office some time ago, when they were asking me to re~
~ Jew them for any further corrections they gave me of matters that
might be pertinent to their inquiry.
I, when I came up here, I raised the fact that I had heard the conversation on the afternoon of the 21st differently than it had been
produced in the White House transcript. Mr. Doar and Mr. Jenner
asked me how I had heard it, and I explained to them, and Mr. Doar
and. Mr. Jenner suggested that I come down and listen to their transcqp~t o.n_t_hat_, very limited section of the tape. We did that. I went down
ann ± void them what I had heard and your tape had much better
fidelity than the ones I was listening to anal I couldn’t disagree but for
one or two points and I think that these reflect what $ heard.
Mr. LOTT. Thank you very much.
Now, at one point .
Mr. D~N. Incidentally, there was some question as to whose voice
it was re~arding the~referenee to LaRue and Mitchell, and their knowing w.hat his feeling is, a.nd I was very, very able to identify that as
my vome.
Mr. LoTr. All right, thank you very much.
Now, at one point today you testified in answer to questions by
member of this panel that the purpose of the coverup was to protect
Haldeman and Ehrlichman. Earlier you had testified that you were
convinced t.hat no person in the White House was involved.
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M~-. D~.A~. No, sir. I think you have misconstrued my testimony.
Mr. Lo~r. I w~nt to get that straight, because I thi~k there is a conflict there and which is it ?
Mr. ~. I said thab--I said that it was not only Haldeman,
Ehrlichman, but Mitchell, Mag~mder, and anybody else who might
have been involved that would caus~ embarrassment or problems for
the President.
Mr. Lo~r. In the break-in ?
Mr. DF~. In the break-in.
Mr. Lm-r. That might have been involved ?
Mr. DF~. Well, it emanated not only from the break-in itself, but
it emanated also from Hunt and Liddy’s past activities. You see, the
break-in created a problem in my mind because I didn’t know how
far it went into the White House. I wasn’~ investigating iV I didn’t
know if Italdeman, in fact, knew how many documents that Strachan
had received and reviewed, he never did fully catalogue them for me. I
didn’t know how much advance knowledg~ he did or did not have.
I only knew that literally we could al! say that no one knew that there
was going to be a break-in on June 17 in the Democratic National
Committee headquarters.
Mr. Lo~r. In your statement before, or in your opening statement
before the Watergate Committee regarding the September 15 conversation, you commented, "The President then told me that Bob
(referring to Haldeman) had kept him posted on my handling of the
Watergate case."
Then also in your testimony there on page 1373, you say, "He (the
President) said Bob has been reporting to me something of this

~[r. LOTT. March 21. You didn’t advise the President that you, at
any time then, or any other time, that you had shredded documents or
destroyed evidence from Howard Hunt’s safe, did you ?
Mr. DE~. No, I did not.
l~Ir. LOT~. Did you tell him you had directed John Caulfield to offer
executive clemency to Mr. Mc(~ord .~
Mr. DF~. I think there is a reference to that. Let me check that.
Mr. LOTT. I don’t think you will find it in the transcript of the
March 21 conversation.
l~Ir. DEA~. I am talking about, let’s take page 91,~ talking ~bout
McCord and so forth, and I get into Cau]field and that’s down just
about the middle of the page, not quite the middle of the ua~e.
"When Caulfield had him hired, he was a perfectly’le~gitimate
security man and he wanted to know, well, you know~ well he wanted
to talk about commutation and things like that. And as you lmow,
Colson has talked to, indirectly to Hunt about commutation. All
the~ things are bad in, in, in that they ai~ problems, they are promises,
they are commitments."
I did not--as in many instances I waited for the President to come
back and question me further after I was giving him a general over\,iew~ so I--The Cn~a~. The time of the gentleman has expired.
r. _Ds~. That was totally not present.
r. Lo~r. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The C~m~. Mr. Rangel.
Mr. R~G~L. Thank you, Mr. Chairmam
I would like to yield, after a couple of questions, to the gentleman
from Maine.
But, directing your attention, Mr. Dean~ to a conversation which
you were involve~i in with the President on September 15, 1972, the
President indicated that he had lost his little red box and directed you
to find it. Did you find the little red box.
Mr. DF,~. No, sir.
Mr. R~L. Could you tell this committee what the little red box
the President was looking for was ?
Mr. Ds~x. We don’t know, or I don’t know to this day what the
ligtle red box was. There was some press account of it. Mr. Haldeman
had asked me to find out what the little red box was. I had asked Mr.
Gray to find out what the little red box was and it wasn’t until the
second or the bug turned up on the phone in the DNC, that either
had been undiscovered and missed by the investigators the first time
the~ went through that we thought we had justification to go back in
and ask everybody about the little red box. This appeared in the newspauers and everybody got quite excited about it.
Mr. :RAN(]EL. "what appeared in the newspaper about the little red
box ?
Mr. D~.~. The little red box appeared in a squib in the Washington
Post.
Mr. R~L. What did they say about it ?
¯ Mr..]~_ n~. Not much, just tl~at ~ome little red box had appeared outs~de of the h~adquarters of the Democratic l~ational Committee..

Now, did you say that or not?
l~[r. Dsa~. Well, as I testified before the Senate, my mind is no~ a
tape recorder. I am able to remember the gist of the conversation, the
thrust of a conversation. When I read the entire transcript, obviously
I don’t find that in the transcript. And I can only say that there are
numerous things in the transcript that very clearly g~ve me that
impression.
If you want my references to them, I will be happy to give them
to you.
Mr. Loft. Also, in that conversation in your statement, your opening
statement, you make some comments about this matter would star~
to unravel, and then you use some words that it had been contained
to the point that "I was not sure that it would be contained indefinitely."
¯ Now, the tapes actually show that y.ou say instead "Nothing is
go_" ~mg to come crashing down to our surpmse."
ML I)F~. ][ believe that. occurred toward the end of the conversation and until~I feel that I must stand on .my recollectionsuntil I
am shown that it is incorrect by listening to the remainder of that tape.
Mr. LOTT. In your meeting on March the 22d with the President.
did you tell him--I think you might have been asked this, but missed
this--did you tell himMr. I)~h~. What was the date, please ~.

~

See HJC Tran~_~rlpts, p. 91.
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Mr.

R~o~. _And the President said, "The Bureau better get over
_-_1_ ~nd ~,-t that red box ~" I mean, he is not talking ~bout
¯

morn than what was in the newspaper.
Mr. ~A~e~. ~d you took this up with the Federal Bureau of
inves~igation,~r" ~ra~..
~r. ~A~. I es~ slr~ 1
Mr RA~O~ The~ is a little more to it than ~hat~ becau~
~" ~. I thi~ you will ~d a reference m there to Mr. ~alde~a~a~g ~me referen~ to the last public sta~ment a~ut
~’" ¯ - ~n tu~ed over ~ Edward Be~ett Williams.
na~gR~L.
. Y~, but it ~ys, "She handed it over to Edward Bennett Williams-" ~o is she ~
Mr. D~. Some woman who di~ovemd it at the ~mocratic
tional Commit~ and I th~ the best ~urce of this is ~ s~ if that
is in some of th%newspaper clippin~ back a~ut that time.
Mr. R~" But you don~t know whether the President fo~d
~e box?
Mr. ~A~. No; I do not.
Mr. R~e~- O~ Febma~ 28, 1973, the Pr~ident gave ~me idea
what he thought about hfomem and he said:
Either way, either way, the i~ormer is not wanted in our s~iety. Either way,
that’s ~e one ~ng ~ple do so~ of line up aga~st.

And you a~d. ~d he continued:
They saY, well, that son.f-a-blab infomed, and I don’t want him around. We
wouldn’t want him around, wo~d we?

W~ the President talking a~ut infomem that could have

on’~e
~i~I Hou~
staff ~that was the referent. Was that not, did
Mr. ~"
don~t ~lieve
that not come up in the context of Mr. Felt ~
Mr. RA~o~L- Y~ ; it w~.
Mr. ~" Ya~.
.

Mr. m~ But ~e.was tal~ng a~ut ~r;~el~ o~he.~B~ and

al~ Mr Cham~e~. ~u~, my real question m: has ~ne rr~men~ ever
ex~ any f~li~ ~ you as ~ how he felt about informers that
w~e ~i~ House employ~

Mr. D~. x can ~ say that he has had a direct convemation other
than that one with me. I fel~ his effect of his desire not to have somebody m~ w~en he plaid h his Ap~l l~ment that no mem~r of
the ~i~ ~ou~ ~aff would be ~an~d i~ity.
Mr. RA~O~ I yield the balan~ of my time ~ the gentleman from
Maine.
~e CHA~A~. ~e gentleman has another minute and 4 seconds
remahhg.
~r. ~" I t~a~ the gontlem~ for ~eldhg. _
Mr. Dean, on Septem~r 15~ 1972, when you had the conversation
with the p~i~en~e ~ai~e~ y~u and ~aid ~u have done a good job
~_ ~], ~n~ ~ea~s. ~ na~ ma~s na~ you pmg~ ~
"~: D~. I thi~ that was a vernaculu~-~ype phra~, that, you

,o, u, u,

and I would plug the hole and plug the hole here.
Mr. COH~. But what was popping up, I guess is what I am getting
at ? What was popping up and you were pushing down ~
Mr. DF~A~. Well, all hell was breaking loose from time to time and
we would just got it back in shape.
Mr. Co~N. Well, let me ask you this, going back the President also
talked about, in the same conversation, d~d they find the first bug. You
have indicated just a moment ago that the President probably had
more kno_wledgo about this than you did, with respect at least to the
red box. l-le mentioned first bug, Now, is that the original bug that was
placed in the DNC prior to the break-in ~
Mr. Dm~. I thi~r~, if I am not correct, Mr. Haldeman raises the
matter of the bug in the transcript, not the President.
Mr. COH~. Well, in the presence of the President, at least.
Mr. DE~. In the presence of the President, yes; and the President
asked some questions about what it is ~
Mr. CoH~. Well, let me go back. You were aware of the two Liddy
pc~lrare~ctt~hat had been proposed and rejected, according to you ;is tha.t
Mr. DEA~. Never approved.
The C~a~uu~A~. Th~ time of the gentleman has expired.
Ms. Jordan.
]~lr. FROEHLICH. Wait a minute, Mr. Chairman.
The 0HAre~A~. Oh. That was Mr. Rangol’s time. I am sorry.
Mr. Froehlich.
Mr. FROEHI~ICHo I yield my time to the gentleman from Maine.
The Cm~m~A~. All of your time ?
Mr. FI~OEHL~CH. Yes.
The CHAn~AN. The gentleman is recognized for another 5 minutes.
l~Ir. COHEN. I want to come back, ~Ir. Dean, to some of the examples
of .t_he things that you did during that interim period between June 17.
[Material unrelated to testimony of witness deleted.]
Mr. COHEN. Would you tell us what you did, for example~
Mr. D~AN. We are talking about June 17 ~
]~Ir. Com~. Through September 15.
~VIr. DF~A~. I think the best evidence on that, and I am ’happy to sit
here and repeat it, is in my Senate testimony. I will go through it
chapter and verse~ but I am not sure I can do it in 5 minutes and
am not sure that I can do it justice in just highlighting and going
th~o~.gih
it inthe
therecord
few minutes
youiswant
to answer the question.
u, I think
evidence
whatme
it is.
Mr. COH~. I will accept that for the moment. With respect to contacts with the CIA and Mr..Helms; as I recall; is that correct
Mr. D~A~. No, Mr. Walters.
Mr. Conm~. Mr. Walters, I am sorry. Did you seek to curtail the
scope of the CIA or to impress the CIA_ with’the need to curtail the
scope of the FBI investigation .~
Mr. D~A~. No, that wad not my assignment. My assignment was if
they could help raise bail and support and assistance of these people
through using their o~n covert funds. That was something I learned
subsequently, and very much subsequently.
It wasn’t until~ during the Senate hearings, that I learned of Vhe
substance of those conversations.

341
Mr. COHE~. Coming back to White House jargon, what does the
hrase "cut the loss" mean ~.
Mr. D~N. Cut the loss means to have the criminal problem fall at
he lowest possible level.
Mr. Co~. Are you familiar with the June 30, 1972s transcript
hates been published, the conversation between the President and Mr.
Mr. DF~N. Nor I am not.
.Mr. COHF~. But, that phrase, as used in your presence, was to miniaize the spread of the cancers is that a correct phraseology ?
Mr, DF~. The cancer phrase is One that I developed on the 21st.
Mr. COH~. That can stay in ?
Mr. DF~. It is not a pleasant term, b~ut it was:desc~pti~e and. to
mt the loss phrase was one that emerge~l very early on m a!scussmg
;he liability.
Mr. COHEN. I think that is all, I yield back the balance of my time.
The CHansoN. Ms. Jordan.
Ms. JOrDAn. Mr. Deans in your meetings .and conferences with the
Presidents would you say that the President was in charges or was he
cather nondirective ~
Mr. DF~. Wells of courses that calls for a concl_usion and my own
impression and I can only give my--I thought that the President
was in charge.
Ms. Jo~uA~. I have no further questions,
The CP~m~. Mr. Maraziti ?
Mr. M~r~zrr~. Thank you Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Dean, on March 21s 1973, you had a conversation with the President in which you said, do you recall this statements "The reason I
thought we ought to talk this morning~"
¯
Mr. DE~. ~I am sorry~ I can’t hear~ Congressman. I am having
trouble hearing.
The CH~m~. Mr. Maraziti, will you please use the mike ?
Mr. M~zrr~. I thought I was:
Mr. Deans I will begin again. On the March 21s 1973 transcript~ did
you recall this conversation with the President in which you said
Mr. S~AFFS~. Could we have the page ~ ~
Mr. DF~. Go ahead, sir.
Mr. MA~Azrr~. "Thereason that I thought we ought to talk this morning because in the conversa~io~ I ,had the impression .that y~u don.’t
know everything I kno~s and it mul~s it very diffi_ cult for you to ~ake
judgments that only you can make on some of theSe things."
And then he goes on; "in other words, I had to know why you feel
we shouldn’t unravel something, a.nd talk about we have a eanc.er w~hin." Is that the first time you mention the problem to the Premdent ?
Mr. DF~. No, sir.
Mr. M_~zxT~. When did you mention the problem before ?
Mr. DF~. Well, you have on the record the fact that I raised that
with him on the preceding evenings that I thought that he ought to
understand the implications of everything. There were other conversations. The conversation on the 27th where I tried to tell him I
had a problem.
Mr. M~r~zrr~. 27th of what?

Mr. DF~. Of February. And I think that the other tapes are going
to be the best evidence o~ some of the eonversations that I had
are onl~Mr. m~P~zrr~. Well, why would it be necessary for you to bring it
up if you t01d him before ~
Mr. DsA~. Well~ becauses based on the fact that there was now another demand on the White House and the fact~--Mr. MAP, AZrI~. Excuse me just a moment. You mentioned a term
White House. Well, will you-mention an individual or individuals. You
can’t make demands on a building.
Mr. DEA~. Yes~ I understand. The fact that there had been a demand sent to me threatening F, hrlichman, called to my attention
that I should call to the President’s attention that it was now time
to stop paying~ to stop covering up~ because we had not been acting
pr~o _~erly and I thou~jght it was time to go in and lay that out.
~ar. MA~AZITI. Well~ you were satisfied that the President did not
hdaVe_~.e
.for that reason you went into very explicit
etail in that".reformation
conversationand
s talking about. the facts ?
~Ir. DF~. I did not presume to know everything that his other advisors had told him. I felt that when I dealt with the President~ I gave,
you know, so and so~ and so and so. I went in and said here is what I am
going to tell you~ and that was my approach. ThatSs the way I raised
it the night before.
I made reference to the fact that Ehrlichman had been down to see
him. I didn’t make F.hrlichman was down to see you about Hunt. I said
before you make any further judgments, to look at the whole picture
and the implication of that picture, because I thought we had to talk
about crinn’nal liabilities or individuals in the White House and
wanted to get the President thinking in these terms.
"
:Mr. MAR~Z~. Well, you had the impression that he didn’t know
everything e. Those were. your words, were they not ~.
Mr. DF~. Wells ff you remembereds those ~ere the words of the
preceding eveningand I think you will see what I-was saying, and as
I testified before the Se~ate.
""
Mr. M~Z~T~. On the question of executive privilege~ is it your opinion that the President was not waiving executive privilege in your case
Mr. D~A~. When, sir?
Mr. MAm~zrrL Well, at March 31 or 21, 1973 ?
Mr. D~A~. Well, I think the President made a number of public
statements about whether Dean would or would not appear and he was
ready to test executive privile~ge in the courts on Dean at one time and,
in fact~
Mr. M~Az~T~. On April 15,1973-Mr. D~. On April 15.
Mr. M~P~zrrL Or 16th ~.
Mr. D~. 16th.
Mr. M.~P~ZXT~. Is it your opinion he would not waive executive privilege on your behalf ?
Mr. D~N. He told me I should not talk about-Mr. M~zrr~. Well, did he or didn’t he ?
Mr. D~. I think the transcript speaks for itself. He says you won’t
talk about those Presidential conversations.

Mr. MAP~zrr~. If I read to you, in the conversation of April 16,
1973, and ask you if you recall "The President, one other thing on
this privilege thing, nothin~ is privileged that involves wrongdoing."
Mr. S~. M~. Chairr~an,-could ]please have the page.~My ~ient may know it, but he needs effective assistance of counsel.
The C~AnV~AH. Would you identify the page, Mr. Maraziti ?
l~.r. MAP~zrr~. I am reading from the Presidential transcript on
page 802, the April 16, 1973, transcript,1 And it is only three or four
lines. I can read it slowly, and I think we can save time that way.
"One other thing--"
The CHAm~rAH. Well, the time of the gentleman has expired. I will
give the gentleman time to answer the question.: The witness will
answer the question.
Mr. DEAH. I don’t think the question was ever posed:
Mr. M~m~zrr~. Well, the question, Mr. Chairm ,an--thank you, Mr.
Chairman, was simply this, did he recall this statement and I was on
the verge of furnishing it when counsel properly asked you for a
reference. With your permission, Mr. Chairman, I will finish the
question.
.
Do you recall this statement by the President, ’~ane other thing
on this privilege thing, nothing is privileged that involves wrongdoing."
Mr. D~. that is ~orrect.
~J~le RESIDENT. On your l:~tl’t or the part of a~yone else. I am telling you now
that when you testify, if you do, to say that the President told you that. Would

you do that. Would you agree to do that?
Mr. D~N. Yes, sir.

Do you recall that ~.
Mr. DEAn. I recall that the President in that conversation said that,
as he did the preceding evening, that I wasn’t to talk about anything
that involved the President. He was talking about anything that
involved me, myself, that he didn’t consider to be executive privilege.
He was also talking, as I perceived it, as the public relations side of
this, and I told him I didn’t really, I didn’t plan to get into any
Presidential conversations and I dic]~t’t care what he said publicly
The CH~RMAH. The time of the gentleman has again expired. ~"
Mr. Thornton ?
Mr. Trtom~ro~. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Dean, I believe at one point during your testimony, you described yourself as a firefighter and referred a conversation with Mr.
Haldeman relating to a time when you had been called back from
Paris because of something happening. Is that correct ?
Mr. D~AH. That was the Kleindi~nst hearing with regard to his
confirmation, which I shorthanded as the ITT hearings.
Mr. THORNTON. With regard to that reference, were you given an
assignment, a task to perform in connection with that hearing ~.
Mr. DE~H. Well, when I came back, Mr. Colson had already taken
charge, and I was given some assignments to go to the Director of the
FBI and take the Dita Beard memo over, and get the lab to take a
testing on it to see whether it was a valid or invalid memorandum
and assignments of that n~ture. X was ~also asked to liaison with the
ITT people which I didn’t end up doing. Somebody else ended up
doing. I was also asked .to have somebody on my staff mon~tor the

hearings, which we did, and report back as to what was going on in the
hearings. We were, I would have to say, at best on the fringe. Mr.
]~hrlichman assigned one of the people in my ottt,~ to coll~t all of
the papers in the White House relating t~ ITT, and that wa~
and they were filed in my office. So, I can~, t~t!ly ~ay-| wa~ in
o.r had a task, but I was certainly involv~l l~|~sl|t#lly In thg
slons and in the problem.
Mr. T~OR~TO~. This a~i~ment was madt~ by Mr. Ehfliehma~t
Mr. Haldeman or both $
Mr. DsA~. It was made by Mr. Ehrlichman, but Mr. Coital wa~
really given the charge of the operation.
Mr. THOR~T0~. ~d I ~liew-Mr. D~. And Colson and I didn’t s~ eye to eye mt t~vo~’ythlag, and
so I can’t r~lly say I participated in it m any full
Mr. THORnTOn. With regard ~ the conversation you had with Mr.
Haldeman, I believe you t~tified he said that t~w~ry timt~ you lt~ft
co~t~ you had to come back or something like that~ 1 m~t not trying
to paraphrase or put or use your words~ but do you ~call such a comment berg made ~
Mr. D~N. Yes, I do.
Mr. ~o~. In what time did this conversation with Mr. Haldeman ~ke place ~
Mr. DZA~. This ~urred, ~ I r~all it, w~ made on the mo~ng of
~une 20,1972, when I first saw him. He had ~n ~ Florida. I had b~n
m the Far E~ and he made this comment crypti~lly and in a
humorous vein at that time.
Mr. THO~. And did you regard that as an ac~owled~ment or
as a direction that you should ~ome ~volved in t~ks in connection
with the problem which was then before you ~
Mr. DEA~. No. I ~ok it as a jab at my j u~et.
Mr. THOR~. Well, Mr. Dean, I want to ask you whether in conn~tion with your employment as cou~el ~ the Pr~ident, did that
job character remain basically the same throughoutyour tenure at the
~i~ House, or were there chang~ in the charac~r.
Mr. D~. The job chan~d. I sm~d out as a solo man and slowly
built fairly substantial staff. We did what we ~nsidered ~ we ran a
small 1.aw ~rm in the ~ite Hou~ and until this all happened we were
proud of what we had done. We thought we ~ve go~ advice, we
tu~ed off ~me crazy ~hemes and, of coup, all of that seems forgotten now. And I can only say that fo~unately no~dy else in my staff
has any involvement in this and I held it to myself and ca~ed it that
way so I think the rest of the ~aff can ~ proud ~ have worked there.
Mr. ~OR~X. Mr. Dean, I thank you for your ~stimony and I yield
back the balance of my time.
The CHA~A~. The committee will ~ce~ for 10 minu~s.
[Short r~es~]
The C~ZR~AX. The committ~ will come ~ order. And I ~ll ~gnize the .gentleman from Pennsylvania who r~e~ed his t~e, Mr.
Eil~rg.
Mr. ExLs~. Mr. Chairman, I would like ~ yield my time ~ the
gentlem~ from Michigan, Mr. Conyers.
The C~Am~A~. Mr. Conyem.

Mr. coNY~P,S, i thank the gentleman for yielding to me. Mr. Dean,
lid you at any time ever attempt to conceal the facts of Watergate
!rom the President of the United States ?
Mr. DEAN. No, sir. Whenever I was asked a question I answered the
iuestion. I think there were times that I didn’t walk in every time and
~olunteer everyth.ing .that might .be on my mind, ’but rather I was
’esponsive to any lncfmry he ever made.
Mr. CoNYE~s. Thank you. Did you ever attempt at any time to con;eal .any of the facts or identification of the parties involved in the
’,overup from the President ?
1Y[r. D~.AN. No, sir.

Mr. CoNrs~s. Was it your view that the President needed little or no
~dvising in this area ?
Mr. DEA~. Well, I felt strongly at a couple of points that I had to
,dvise him. I thought, one, I had to advise him of my own involvement
Tery early on when on the 27th of February, when I first started re)orting to him, he turned me around on that, that that was something
: shouldn’t, worry about. I felt I had to advise him that the coverup
night not hold up forever, and I recall doing that on two occasions,
~he end of the conversation of the 15th of Septem~ber. And again on the
mxt time I saw him, on the 27th of February.
Mr. Co~rERs. Excuse me, Mr. Chairman. Can we have order, please ~.
The CHAIRMAN. The committee will be in order.
Mr. DEAN. I thought that I had to advise him my reaction as to how
o handle ~he mst~er of Mr. I-Iu.n.t’s demand when that c~me in ~nd I
~as having direct communication with him that he should understand
e broadest implications of all of this before he made any judgments.
, I would say that I did feel at times that it was my duty to offer my

~

~ounsel.

Mr. CoNfERs. Thank you, sir. I have one further question. I think
,ou have previously testified that as far as you knew, Mr. Haldeman
~ever exceeded his authority in ~iving instructions or directions in
~is capacity in the White House. Does that apply to Mr. Ehrlichman
,rid yourself us well, sir?
Mr. DEAN. I can speak with regard to myself. I remember reading
~ reference in the press once that I had apparently--Mr. Kleindienst
.aid that I had used the President’s name all over the place. I did
mt do that until the President specifically told me to use his name
vith Mr. Kleindienst, and then quite regularly I was using the Presilent~ name. Before that--first of all I knew Mr. Kleindienst too
yell to be presumptious enough to go over there and tell him the Presilent said something when that wasn’t the fact. I have no--I can
rely speak for myself but I cannot recall doing anything I felt was
~xceeding my authority or the understanding of the directions I had
~een given by superiors.
Mr..CoN~s. Thank .You.
I don’t have any further questions.
The C~Arm~n~. Mr. Latta.
Mr. LATTA. Mr. De~n, I learned this afternoon that you became
~ware of this coveruu operation shortly after you came back from
~Ianila. is thst correct?
Mr. D~A~. That is correct.

Mr. LATTA. Well, then why on the ll|th of April I~ff~mo~
almost a year later did you r~md ~ the P~id~t ghtl~
might want ~ follow this and this is on pa~ I~ o~ th~
The ~SmE~T. But you remember when ~u carat In I ~ y~ ~$
question: "Is anybody on the W~te Hou~ ~ff tnvolv~ ~" $o11 told ~
Mr. D~. ~at’s r~ht. And I have no knowl~ ....

Now, how does that square with whatyou have just told mo
~. Dm~. It ~uares perfectly, Cong~man. We art~ talkin~ ¯
Mr. ~A. Explain how that ~uares.
Mr. ~. It ~uar~ ~ca~e the referen~ the~ is,~ pre-Juno 17.
~r. ~A. Where is the ~fe~n~
Mr. ~. Well, you would have to have been pa~y to the convemation ~ ~de~tand it, but I think if you ma~ it through you will
~ that th~ is a reference ~ pre. Ce~ainly that w~ my flint impr~sion when I read it and it was my recolI~tion of the convemation.
Mr. LA~A. NOW, did you make ~me testimony hem t~ay that on
the 25th of ~mh, 1973, that the P~ident turned you around on
qu~tion of paying H~t’s at~ey’s fees and the suppo~ payments
Mr. ~. Yes, sir.
Mr. ~n. Well, how do~ th~ square with your ~stimony that yo~
gave before the U.S. Sena~, and I ~ght refer you ~ page 1423, and
you said, and I quo~:
The money matter was left ve~ much hang at that meetS. Noting was
~solved.

Mr. D~. I thi~ I have been asked that question ~veral tim~
today.
Mr. ~A. Well, I am ~g it a~ becan~ I didn’t ~t the
answer once.
Mr. D~A~. Well, ~e a~wer is qui~ clear ~at the mferen~ ~ the
~ ~imony w~ ~ m~i~ of $1 ~on.~d the m~ of
money w~ w~ le~ ve~ mu~h h~. ~ far ~ the qu~ion
w~er the~ would ~ payment~ I~ t~ ~p~ion the,
not ~n~ the Pr~ident ~t that ~ld not ~ done; two, t~t he
h~ ~ad~ me t~t it w~ ~m~h~ that w~ ~g to ~ done but,
thr~ I had no res~nsibility for it.
~r. LA~A. NOW~ going back ~ your trip or your arrival from
Manila when you first learn~ about these demands for money~ you
were at that time co~sel ~ the Pr~ident. So ~ou t~tified here. Don’t
you th~k it would have b~n ~ppropria~ at that time~ ~ soon ~ you
found out a~ut that, to have ~ne right in to the President and repored that ~ him ~
~r. D~A~. Senator, I am sum you are ve~ ~amiliar-~r.LA~A. Don’t put me in the other ~dy.
Mr. DEA~. Excuse me. Con~sm~ I am sure you are familiar
with my Senate ~timony.
~r. LA~A. I have it ~fore me. I am sum.
~r. ~. ~d that que~ion ~me up on n~erous ~asions.
Talm~ge ~ked me, several p~ple ~ked me that ve~ question ~ to
well, why didn’t you just walk in~ the P~ident’s office. You just
didn’t do that. I went through Mr. Haldeman if I wa~t~ to ~e the
President and I wasn’t pre~ptious enough to do that. The other
See HJC ~ranscript p. 192.
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t~hing is T was asked, well, why didn’t you just open the door. And my
answer in the Senate would be as it would be today that, well, there are
a lot of Secret Service men standing around that office and you don’t
just go barging im
Mr. I~TTA. YOU could have gone to Mr. Haldeman and gotten in,
couldn’t you ?
’
¯
Mr. D~A~. Mr. Haldeman and I were talking about the very problem.
Mr. LATTA. And he said you couldn’t talk to the President on a matter
of this importance ?
Mr. D~A~. He was talking about how to deal with the problem, not
how to get the information to the President.
Mr. LATTA. I~OW, speaking about Mr. Haldeman~ you said in answer
to a query by the gentleman from Michigan that Mr. Haldeman never
exceeded his authority. Did you know everything Mr. Haldeman did
in the White House ?
Mr. I)F~. I think I qualified that answer.
Mr. L~TTA. How did you qualify it? I think you better qualify it.
Mr. D~A~. I didn’t know what Mr. Haldeman and--what Mr. Haldeman’s relationship was with the President, so I couldn’t say--I could
only in answer to the very broad question say I had no knowledge
that he ever had.
No one ever brought it to my attention.
Mr. LATT~. But you didn’t know everything that Mr. Haldeman did
in the White House, and as a consequence you don’t know for sure
whether he exceeded his authority or not ?
Mr. DEA~. That is correct.
Mr. LATTA. NOW, in answer to a question by Ms. Jordan~
Mr. D~.~. I don’t know that he did or did not is the answer.
Mr. L~Tr~. In answer to a very general question that the President.
was in charge or something to that effect you answered "yes." You
didn’t mean ~o leave the implication at the time of this break-in that he
was in charge of directing the break-in or at the time of the coverup
that he was in cl~rge of ,the coverup ?
Mr. DF~. That was not the question. Congressman.
Mr. LArrY. It was a general quest.ion, as I stated initially so we are
not including that in the very general question and you answer that
he was in charge ~ .
Mr. DEA~. I did not draw any specifics from that general quest.ion.
I was asked a general question and gave my answer.
The C~Am~A~. The time of the gentleman has expired. Ms. Holtzman.

Ms. HOLTZ~. Thank you~ Mr. Chairman. Mr. Dean. I would like
to refer your attention to a conversation you had with the President
and Mr. Haldeman on March 13, 1973, and especially pages 47 and 48
of our. committee transcript in which you had a discussion with Mr.
Haldeman a~bout the need to make Mr. Colson an unpaid consultant,
and there was some reference about drawin~ up a piece of paper that
woul’d sh~w .that he was a consultant us of March 10 ~nd backda~ing
that .piece of paper, is that correct ? ~
Mr. DF~A~. That is correct.
MS. HOLTZ]I~A:N, In substance. Now, to your information, was any
such piece of paper drawn up ?
See It~C Transcrluts. u~. 47-48.

Mr. D~A~. I believe it was.
Ms. HOLTZ~AI~. Can you tell me who did it and when to the be~t o$
your information ?
Mr. DF~A~. I can only tell you that if there is such a document or
was such a document there would have been a record of it. It was to
be something to be put in the personnel office or to be kept in Mr.
Kehrli’s office. Mr. Colson was very concerned that that be done and he
was concerned about the extent of his coverage.
Ms. HOLWZ~N. I don~t mean to interrupt~ Mr. Dean. I just want to
know if you have any information about who did draw up such a
piece of paper ?
" Mr. D~A~. No; I don~t.
Ms. HOLTZ~. Or the date of such ?
Mr. D~. No. It would have been about this time that it was done.
Ms. HOLTZ~. Thank you. I would like to refer your attention next
to a political matters memorandum that was sent [~.~, Mr. Strachau to
Mr. Haldeman on February 1~ 197’2. And on page tire of that .m.erao.~’andum there is a statement that "John i~n summarized and mtelligenced the e~aluation committe.~ report on tim den|onstratioas
planned for the Republican National Conw~ntion in San l)ie~." Do
you recall prre~)aring a memorandum for Mr. Ha.ldeman regaramg
summary of t~he intelligence evaluatiou cormmttee’s ropo~ on thence
planned demonstrations.
Mr. DF~. I recall one of the members of my staff~ Mr. David W_ilson, prepared such a document and that was a regular practice to do.
Ms. HOLTZ~A~. Now, ihe Intelligence Evaluation Committee was a
result of the Huston plan, is that correct ?
Mr. DEA~. Well, it was a first step in the Huston plan and that
is as far a step as it e~er went. ’And I am unaware of any illegal
activities by the Evaluation Committee.
Ms. HOLTZ~A~. Now, on this Intelligence Evaluation Committee
there were representatives of the CIA and the FBI, is that correct?
Mr. DF~. That is my understanding, yea
Ms. HOLTZ~A~. And did they engage in any other political activities like this, to.your knowledge, such as doingreports on planned
demonstrations for Republican Conventions~ Did they ever e~gage,
to your knowledge, any other political activities
Mr. D~.A~. When I, after, shortly after my meeting with Mr. Halde~
man in 1971, I called the head of the Evaluation Committee over to
my office and told him that we would like to hav~ the Evaluation
Committee be up on all types of demonstrations that might have any
impact on the campaign. And I think there were probably numerous
such documents and there would be a record of those documents that
were s~nt to our office.
Ms. HOLTZ~A~. And the campaign that you are referring to is the
campaign for the reelection of the President, President Nixon
Mr. DF~. For the re~lection of the President, that is correct.
Ms. HOLTZ~. And would such memorandum be in your files in
the White House regarding any suc_h political evaluations in connection with the President’s campaign ~
Mr. DF~. I don’t know what’s in my files today. I know Mr.
Wilson and before that Mr. Canlfield who received those documents
sent themall to the central files, I believe.

Ms. Ho~rz~A~. Did you customarily, when you received reports
from this Intelligence Evaluations Committee regarding any planned
demonstrations m connection with the President’s reelection camgn, did you as a practice forward such reports or summaries to
¯ Haldeman ~
Mr. DF~. Yes. If they seemed to merit his attention. There was a
decision made as to whether it was significant or not.
Ms. HOLTZ~A~. Thank Sou very much, Mr. Dean. I don’t have any
further questions, Mr. Chairman.
The C~A~. Mr. Owens.
Mr. Ow~s. Mr. Dean, I want to ask you an unusual type question,
perhaps for the hearing today. I have ~ bunch of question, otherwise
I will ask you.
"
But I would like to ask you whether there is any information, of
which you have first-hand knowledge, facts, data, which you think are
relevant to this committee’s consideration, and which you have not
revealed either to the Senate Select Committee or to us today ? Are there
other facts t.hat you think that ought to come before this impeachment
inquiry that have not been offered in response to questions, either before
the Ervin Committee or this one ?
Mr. DF~. Now that is a difficult question for me to answer, because
I have always had the concern that there are things in my ~nind that I
cannot recall. From time to time, I have had documents presented o~
thin~s said or read transcripts that have brought other things into my
minn.
Mr. OwEnS. But you have nothing in your mind, nothing in your
mind this evening ?
Mr. D~A~. No, sir.
Mr. OWENS. Of that nature .~
Mr. Dv.A~. No, sir. I do not.
Mr. OWENS. Mr. Chairman, would it be appropriate to extend to Mr.
Dean the option of offering an affidavit to this committee subsequently
if he should think of anything ?
Mr. Dv.~is. Mr. Chairman, I would certainly object ~o t’hat, at least
u~less we !~t every other wi~.ness we have had huve the s~me opportunity, I .think, ,avd the right to exanfine and cross-examine. ~w,
we ~re taking test’.n~.ony hem ~day. Now, ~he idea of allowing ~hese
witnesses to come in and file anything ex parte afterwards that
they~
Mr. Ow~s. I would rather not waste my time arguing. I am just
asking if it is appropriate.
The Crmn~tn~. Well, I think in light of the fact that the witness is
here and subject to questioning, it wbuld be improper for him to submit
statements ex parte.
Mr. Oww~s. OK~ I accept that.
To your knowledge as a member of the White House staff, were
you ever aware of anything, any significant fact or information which
Mr. Haldeman shiel~led from the President which, in your opinion,
did the President a disservice or should have gone to the President ?
Mr. DF~. I don’t believe I can testify to that, because I was not
always privy to
Mr. OWENS. I understand that. I said was there anything of your
knowledge that Mr. ttaldeman ever kept from the President which,

~I~

in your opinion, was a piec~ of information wh|~h ~h~ Pm|~n~
to have ? And I am not just ~lkin~ a~ut Wat~rgat~
Mr. Dm~. No.
Mr. O~s. I am ta~ing a~ut anything ~ your kaowl~
the ~owledge of the ~ Hou~ staff.
~. Dm~. To the contrary, I ha~ always had the imp~ion
my discussions with Mr. Ehr~c~an and Mr. ~ldeman ~th that
~ey were hfomhg h~ of th~ I w~ p~hg ~o~.
Mr. O~s. ~d you ~ow of no sp~c i~m. That w~ my qu~tion.
Mr. Dm~. ~ere is not~g~ my pm~nt r~ll~tion of t~t natu~,
no.

Mr. O~s. A~ right. I refer you ~ the ~it~ tra~ript of
~nve~tion of March 21 amount. At the end, ~ I mad the P~ident’s
~al ~t~ction~ them ~ms ~ have ~n a plan~the plan ~m~ to
have ~n h pa~ a~ at as~ Mr. ~ehdienst ~ ~ Jud~ Sirica
~ delay ~n~ncing of Mr. H~t, which w~ ~uled for 2’days lair.
Were you aware o~anyone ever following up on that ~
Mr..D~. No, sir. No, fir, I w~ not.
~. O~s. You ~ow of no ~n~ of Mr. Kl~indi~st or any
~nt~t ~tween Mr. Kleindienst and Judge Siri~ in that m~ard
Mr. Dm~. No.
Mr. O~s. Or of the President followi~ it up in any other way
Mr. ~. I have no ~owled~ of it.
Mr. Ow~s. Did anyone el~ ever ~11 you a~ut the paymen~perhaps you have ~t~ed ~ this, but did anyone el~ ever ~11 you about
the payment of $75,~0, other than just the mferen~ you made earlier
to Mr. Mi~hell’s reassuran~ the next mornhg ~
Mr. D~. No, sir. I didn’t lea~ of what the dollar amo~t w~
m~y, many, m~y months lair. ¯
Mr. Ow~s. Did you learn that it had.~n taken care offrom
sour~ other than reference to Mr. Mi~hell on the mo~ng of March
21~
Mr. Dm~. No; I ~d not.
Mr..O~Ns. ~t m~ refer you to Mr. Haldeman~s ~stimony
the Senate ~lect co~it~. It is page 2901, but I don’t ~ow which~
it is 7~ SSC, 2901. Mr. Haldeman deals with a ~nve~tion he h~with
you on March 26 by long-di~n~ phone. You were at Camp Da~d.
And he was rgferfing to the problem of blac~ail and h~ ~ysthis on
pa~ 2902 :
"Then there was a problem of b]ac~ail ~ the Whi~ ~ou~ directly.
He. m~ning you as I ~d i~"He said there were two ~stanc~
that. One~ Mrs. H~t called Col~n~s ~cretary and said somethi~
about a demand ~or money. The other was Hunt’s the priding week.
Pr~umably the pr~ed~g week to Murch 26~
Do you ~ow~ do you have detail as to what instan~ he is talking
a~ut~ Mm. ~unt~s conve~tion with Mr. Col~n~s ~cmta~
Mr~ ~. Yes; O~is either pre~ding--I am not sure whether it was
pre~di~ or simultaneous with or shortly a~er the convemation which
occu~ ,~pproxim~ly on Novem’ber 13~ 1972~ when Mr. ~o~on
ceiv~ a call ~rom Mr. Hunt~ and that call was ~corded by Mr. Colso~
in which he ~s ~ying that~ welI~ we ~ave gone along with this thing

long enough and the cheapest commodity is money, now let’s do some,
thing about it, and I am going to lay this memorandum on Parkinson’s desk on Monday, whatever it was~I am being very general in
my charucterization of it.About this time, in this time frame, Mrs. Hunt was calling Joan
Hall~ who is Mr. Colson~s secretary~ calling her at home, calling her at
the office, and the like. She asked Colson, he told her to come to me after
she explained to him what was going on, and I told her~ don’t take the
calls.
I went to O’Brien and asked Mr. O’Brien, I said, "This is absurd to
have these calls coming in here," and Mr. O’Brien proceeded to ge~ the
calls turned off.
Mr. Owmcs. Was money paid as a result of that ~
Mr. DEA~. Well~ it was not as a result of it. Well, it was a culmination of the conversation that Colson received directly and the increasing demands of Mrs. Hunt, and then ultimately in December, early
December, the money was paid.
Mr. Ow~xcs. By whom and how much .~
Mr. DF~. That was paid, that was the first bite of the apple, as the
term is referred to in my discussions with Mr. Haldenmn of the money
that was in his custody. Mr. Sloan took the money to Mr. LaRue and
Mr. LaRue made the arrangements.
Mr. Owmcs. Did you say.how much ~
’
Mr. D~AI~. I don’t know. It was between 40 and 70. I just don’t know
what the precise dollar amount was.
Mr. OWFaCS. Fine. Thank you.
The C~A~rAw. The time of the gentleman has expired.
Mr. Mezvinsky.
Mr. MEZVI~CSKY. Mr. Dean, you have testified with regard to the
activity regarding the use of IRS. Were you aware at the time when
you were asking for this information that this could be a violation
of a Federal statute, that it.could be a felony ~
¯ Mr. DF~. No sir, that was not in my conscience at the time.
Mr. MF~W~CSX~. Where did you get, in your mind, the authority to
ask for this information ? Did you feel that the authority came directly
from the President ?
Mr. D~. Not in the first instance, no; I didn~. I felt my--I felt
as a result of my meeting on September 15 that I had to go back and
talk to Johnnie ~Valters again and see if there could be something done.
Mr. MF~ZVI~SKY. Did you then feel that after September 15, your
authority came from the President ?
Mr. DE~. Yes, sir, I did.
Mr. MzzvI~cSX~. Now, you mentioned the :McGovern list and the
enemies’ list. Do you have any information as to any other individuals
that may not be claa~ified as enemies--namely, friends ? Mr. Rebozo ?
Are you familiar at all--did ~ou have anythi~ag to do with the activities with IRS re~arding Mr: R~bozo ?
Mr. D~A~. With re~ard to IRS, I do not recall having any dealings
in Mr. Rebozo~s behalf; no.
Mr. M~zvI~CSK~. With John Wayne ? With Billy Graham ?
Mr. DE~. Yes; I do. I recall re~uestin~ information that was
asked of me. I think there are exhibits that I submitted to the Senate.

man’s
thisinformation~
has ah~ady b~,|
I~ltit~#’~l~tt~t~
~ ,’~,’~ ~ ’~
By the office
time I that
got the
I gt~.~
I~l
Mr. ~zvI~s~. This" ~s" regarding’ Billy {t~ $ ....
~ ~ ~~
Mr. D~. Yes; and I thi~ John Wayn~ ai~t, J.~
~ *~ ~.

Mr. DEA~. I can’t presume that ~derstanding, I jtt~ tttthtt~ ~
Mr. ~zvi~sxY. Eow, the other m~r, you ntontiottml jtt~ Bt ~
ing~I just want to understand what knowledge ~otl h~vo,.
the signing of the President’s mx mtu~s. What role did you h~
all with that, Mr. ~an*
You just said you exited the p~ple in and he signed tht~
Do you have any infomation or ~ow]edge you can givu the
mit~ regarding the matter of the Pr~ident~s tax returtt~ attd t.ho
si~ing thereof ~
Mr. ~A~. No, sir; I would say I w~ the exiter in and the exi~r out
and not the preparer or the ¢u~odian of ~ny ~fo~ution that rel~d
~ them. That w~ done by Mr. DeMa.r~ in the K~b~h-DeM~rco
Mr. ~sxY. Re~rd~g the tax ~at~r that .h~ j~t ~. revealed t~y ~garding a news mpo~r for the Was~n 8tar-~w~
did you~ rearing that pa~icular use o~ IRS, u~in, you were involved
~ that~
’ :
Mr. D~AN. I don% ~ow what the referen~ is.
~r. ~sxY. I am sorry. Mr. ~oyle~ Jam~ Doyl~I mean Jam~
Po~.
Mr. D~. Polk ~
Mr. M~NSK~. Y~. Mr. Po~ and the u~ of IRS aRer ~ a~icle
that he wro~ regar~g Mr. Kalmbach. ~e you aware o~ ~h~t ~
Mr. D~N. I have a ~neral awaren~s. I ~i~ I turned tho~ d~umen~, eye,thing I ~ew about it~ over ~ the Sel~t Co~it~e. ~atever I ~ow w~ a reset of Mr. Canfield’s effo~ ~ that ~half and he
would be your best witne~.
Mr. ~Z~NSK~. OK. I have one last que~ion which is ~para~
the ~x.
¯
¯
We have Patrick Gmy’s ~ Wa~rga~ ~ony w~ch
~ that ~tw~n June 23 in 1972 ~d July 6 ~ 1972~ you ~e ~veml
one ~1~ ~ h~ ur~ng that the FBI not ~ew KetCh Dahlrg ~d M~uel Ogar~o. Can you ~11 the co~i~ i~ you made ~
phone ~s and if ~ why ~
.
Mr. ~. Well~ i don% dispu~ Mr. Gmy’s ~imony. I would
~ l~k s~ifi~lly at the ~ony ~ m~msh m~ ~ll~ion ~.
what he ~s m~e~ ~. I do ~ll ~nve~tio~ ~th Mr. Gray a~ut
~e problem. I ~ ~g ~ his o~ a~d ~ng ~ wh~t he
~i~ ~ do with them and ~u~ whe~er he ~um S~O~ ~o~ an~
~ o~ ~ na~ure~ which I think $ have already ~ifi~ ~ ~me
th~ t~n~.
Mr. M~sm~. Were you at all ~m~m~ ~ ~ wh~ ~uld ari~
~ Mr. Daht~ and Mr. O~io were in ~t brought ~ the at~n~ion of the FBI ~
Mr. D~. I w~ aware that ~hem w~ g~t e~arr~ment on the
fact of ~hlberg~ ~cau~ he was really ju~ ~mnting for ~ane An-

~
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dreas and this caused Mr. Stans great concern. It caused Mr. Mitchell
concern. I reported it to Mr. I-Ialdeman and Mr. Ehrlichman and they
seemed to have concern, and also some knowledge about it.
"
As far as t~e Ogarrio check, I only knew that--and that is sheer
speculation on my part, because they were not explicit with me--that it
was a corporate contribution and that Mr. Allen had an awful lot of
problems as a result of it and personally was going to have to cover for
it and things of this nature.
Mr. MF~Vn~SKY. And was it the worry that it could be traced to the
Committee to Reelect the President ? That is the obvious problemMr. I)~. Well, yes, yes; but I was also told that this money was
not money that had really involved the Watergate. It was not the
money tha~ Liddy had used.
Now, whether that. is true or false~ I don~ know to this day. I just
]mow what I was told.
~V[r. M~zv~s~y. I have no further questions.
The C~An~A~. The time of the gentleman has "expired.
Mr. M~zv~sK~. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
The CHAn~. M_r. Dean, I just have a couple of questions. Would
you kindly refer to the committee print of the transcripts of this hearing, to the September 15 transcript on page 15 ? This makes reference
to conversations that were between you and the President and ttaldeman and it has reference to the Patman hearings. I read through here,
and without imposing on the committee, because they have it before
them, a tremendous concern, and I think when I use the adjective
"tremendous," I think that it probably does not in any way, I think,
exaggerate that there is tremendous concern on the part of the President and ttaldeman and yourself concerning those hearings and the
developments of those hearings. And throughout, there are some
expressions by you as to developments and the possibilities of developments. What were your concerns ~
lVIr. DEA~. Well, I don’t think they were mine alone, because I had
conversations with Mr. Ha]deman about this, I had conversations
with Mr. Timmons, I had conversations with Mr. Stans, I had conversations with ~r. Mitchell, I had conversations with Mr.~Ehrlichman.
Their witness list looked like a very great threat if they got that was
one problem, the people they might call.
The second was their subpena power. If they could get their investigators out in the field, we were very concerned as to what they might
stumble into. This was another investigation that we were just concerned would get out of control and could possibly unravel what was
b~in~ tied into a fight little ball.
The CHAn~. Outside of what is in these transcripts or in this
transcript in particular~ were there any other conversations regarding actions that were to be taken or which were communicated to
you by any of the individuals involved in this particular conversation ?
Mr. Dv.~. Yes; there were. I had extended conversations with Mr.
Timmons where he was working on getting votes that would cut the
hearings off. His name was on the witness list which gave him an
incentive to even have a greater interest in the problem, tte~I had
a number of conversations with Mr. Mitchell. Mr. Mitchell was having
dealings with members of the New York delegation and was counting

noses there and had certain votes of ~uram~,. I had a fairly
nose count before the day they vot~d wlml,her to hold h~!lrillffl~
not and the White House knew that we had tunmd eno~lgh vol,~i
that we would have it under control.
Now, I am not saying~when I say this, l am not sayiag that, ~.h~
members were fully aware of why the White llouse was as
as we were.

The C~xz~L~. Well, the White House in particular, the individuals
who are named here. Let me read you some conversations.
On page 15.~
P~ESr~T. Well, the game has to be played awfully rough. I don’t know--Now,
you, you’ll follow through with--who will over there? Who~Timmons, or with
Ford, or~How’s it going to operate?
lC£~E~. I’ll talk to Bill. I think~eah.
DF~N. Dick Cook has been working.

Then on page 16, the President: ~
I think maybe that’s the thing to do [unintelligible]. This is, this is big, big
play. I’m getting into this thing. So that he--he’s got to know that it comes from
the top..
H~E~A~. ~eah.
PRES~NT. That’s what he’s got to know.
DE~. Right.
P~ESmENT. And if he [unintelligible] and we’re not going to---I can’t talk to
him myself--and that he’s got to get at this and screw this thing up while he can,
right?

Then down below:
PSES~e.~T. Right, just tell him that, tell, tell, tell Ehrlichman to get Brown in
and Ford in and then they can all work out something. But, they ought to get off
their asses and push it. No use to let Patman have a free ride here.
D~N. Well, we can, we can keep them well briefed on moves if they’ll, if they’ll
move when we provide them with the strategy. And we will have a raft of depositions going the other way soon. We will be hauling the, the O’Briens in and the
like, and uh, on our abuse of process suit.

Mr. D~. That latter part is a reference to something else. It goes
some into the civil suits a~ter that.
The C~P~. Outside of what is in here, did you have any further
conversations with regard to the Patman inquiry with the President
or with Haldeman?
Mr. Ds~. No, I had~well, with Haldeman and Ehrlichman. I had
conversations with Henry Petersen where Henry Petersen would write
a letter to the committee explaining the Delaney case.
The CHAra~AN. In an effort to close off the Patman hearings
Mr. DF~. To close off the Patman hearings; that is correct.
The C~m~. The timekeeper tells me my time is up.
Mr. D~.A~~. Excuse me. If I can completely answer the question.
Mr. Petersen tells me there was a legitimate argument why they
should not. And that fit right into the pattern if he would write that
letter, which he felt strongly about, that would help the cause of the
White House.
That was another subject.
The C~r~A~. Well, all the time has expired and the witness is
excused.
We want to thank you for coming here.
See H~C Transcript p. 15.

Mr. JE~R. l~Ir. Chairman, may I ask just a few questions ?
The C]~An~A~. Two questions.
Mr. J~N~R. I ask the committee and the witness to turn to page
192 of the tapes transcript. In the top paragraph, Mr. Dean, the third
sentence, reading "Apparently ~Iitchell has talked to Pappas" this is
you spealdng--’~and I called him last night--John asked me to call
him last night." Who is the John ? Who is the John to whom you are
referring there ?
Mr. DF~. That first John is John Ehrlichman asked me to call
Mitchell the preceding evening, on the 20th.
Mr. J~.~.m And that sentence goes on, "John asked me to call him
last night after our discussion."
Is that your discussion with Mr. Ehrlichman ?
Mr. D~A~. That is correct.
Mr. J~.~. "And after you’d met with John."
To whom are you referring with the use of the word "you’d",
y-o-u-’-d ?
Mr. DE~. That must be to Mr. Haldeman. I just can’t be certain. I
would like to read it ~n context. It is very difficult just to pick out that
sentence and get the feel of the conversation.
Mr. J~Em We are having tro~ble with the antecedents here of
pronouns. Would you look at it and explain the sentences, the clauses ?
Mr. D~.A~. I was addressing the President at this time, because I
remember addressing to him about the call to Mitchell and the, regarding the Grecians bearing gifts, so that would be the President ~ was
re~erring to, "you’d."
Mr. J~-Ea. The y-o-u-Ld, you were addressing that to the
President ?
Mr. D~. That is right.
Mr. J~.~F~. And the "you’d" refers to the President himself, is that
correct ~
Mr. D~A~. That is correct.
Mr. J~TER. And you are saying that the President met with John
Ehrlichman to see where that was ~ Is that what you are saying now ?
Mr. D~. That is what that sentence says, yes.
Mr. J~.~.P, And when you say, "And I~ I said~ have you talked to,
to Pappas", to whom are you referring there ~
Mr. DF~A~. Mr. Tom Pappas.
Mr. J~.~TEm 1~O, I~m sorry. To whom am you addressing that remark, is my question.
Mr. D~:~. "And I said have you" that is a reference to Mitchell
"talked to Pappas." He was at l~ome and Martha picked up the phone
so it was all in code. "Did you", in reference to Mitchell~ "~alk to the
Greek."
"And he said," reference to Mitchell, ~’Yes, I have", I being
Mitchell.
And I said, Dean, ’~Is the Greek bearing gifts." Pie, Mitchell~ said,
"Well, I want to call you tomorrow on that."
Mr. J~Ea. Did you ever have any conversation with ]~Ir. Mitchell
about the mater subsequently that next day or an~y~ day following as
to whether he had called Mr. Pappas to scgk funds.

Mr. D~. No, I didn’l,, b~.a~mo I)y thnl. Ih,.,0 II.,a~ r~,r~,rr~,!

h~ had ~veral previous (’o~lw~’sat.i(~l~ Ill~lll. M I’. I*.l~[m. Illi~l Ilia
~ty ~ a~ist in r~ising money, hllli rlmlly. ~lfl~,r II1~, 21hi, I~1" IIII, III1~11
]ng o~ the 99d~ the two ~leetiu~ wl. h~,d. I111 IIILV II~l!l,llll~,, I ~1t~i11’1

see Mr. Mi~hell for some time.
Mr. J~ I have no ~rther (lU(~StiOns, Mr. (~h,h’~,l~,.
Thank you.
The CHn~. Thank you.
Thank you ve~ much~ Mr. D~n.
The wime~ is excu~.
Mr. McCall. ~. Ch~an, I ~k ~animo~ con~nt tlmt
~ of the ~imony of John Dean III ~ ~1~.
[Ma~al unrelated m ~imony of ~tn~ dele~.]
~e CH~m~. Without obj~ion, it is so omen.
We will recem until 10 o’clock ~omorrow mo~ng.
[~ereupon~ at 8:35 p.m., the commit~ recessed to reconvene at 10
a.m.~ Friday~ July 12~ 1974.]

